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Our commitment to best practice reporting 
continues as we govern our report in accordance 
with the principles of the Global Reporting Initiative 
(GRI). This year, we have transitioned from GRI 
3.0 to GRI 4.0 with a focus on materiality, context, 
inclusiveness and completeness. 

In line with the new process of reporting, GRI no 
longer undertake a check of our content and as 
such we will explore seeking assurance for future 
reports. For our full disclosure of GRI indicators 
please visit our website

As part of our continuous improvement approach, 
we welcome feedback or suggestions you may have 
about this report. 

To o� er your comments or ask a question, please 
contact the Manager Business Performance and 
Sustainability by:

Phone:  138 138
Web:  www.mainroads.wa.gov.au
 and click on Contact Us
Mail:  Write to us at
 Main Roads, Western Australia, 
 PO Box 6202, East Perth WA 6892

This report provides an insight into our operational, fi nancial and 
business performance and showcases how in line with our Corporate 
Governance framework, we aim to optimise performance, regulate 
compliance and deliver value to our customers and stakeholders.

Year in review
See a snapshot of our performance and an overview of where to next.

Our leaders
Get an insight into the people leading Main Roads.

Our operational performance
Look at the services we provide the community through each of our 
Programs.

Our business activities
See our approach to the various support services we provide.

Governance
Understand our approach to the ethical, responsible and considered 
management of our people and our business.
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In accordance with Section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, we hereby submit for your 
information and presentation to Parliament the Annual Report of the Commissioner of Main Roads 
for the year ended 30 June 2014.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial 
Management Act 2006.

Steve Troughton
Managing Director of Main Roads
22 August 2014

Reece Waldock
Commissioner of Main Roads
22 August 2014

Online Annual Report
As only limited copies of the Annual Report are 

produced, you may access the report online on our 

website in the About Main Roads, Publication section. 

Statement of Compliance
To the Honourable Dean Nalder BBus, 
GradDip (AppFin&Inv) MLA

Minister for Transport; Finance

Graham Farmer Freeway Northbridge Tunnel
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Esperance 
Port Access 
Corridor

Point
Lewis 
Roundabout

NorthLink 
WA

2014
highlights

Improved access and 
connections will help position 
Esperance as a competitive 
player in the import/export 
market.

The fi rst intersection in WA to have 
roundabout metering – queue lengths 
have reduced by approximately 700 
metres.

Planning studies have been 
completed and a design concept 
is underway on the $1.12 billion 
project which will improve freight 
e�  ciency, capacity and amenity for 
residents and tourists.

ANNUAL REPORT

2014
4 M A I N  R O A D S  W E S T E R N  A U S T R A L I A

MainRoads2014-AnnualReport-FINAL.indd   4 16/09/2014   11:01:39 AM



Launched in 2013, 
the Program 
involves a wide 
range of projects 
designed to target 
known congestion 
hotspots across the 
Perth Metropolitan 
area to help Keep 
Perth Moving.

Drawing on a direct feed from Main Roads 
tra�  c and incident information, the new real 
time tra�  c information app was launched in 
January at our Tra�  c Operations Centre. 

Tra�  c 
Congestion 
Management 
Program 

Right
Move
Perth App 

Twitter
Our Perth_Tra�  c twitter 
account reached 20,000 
followers, the most of any 
State government agency.

2014
highlights
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We are one of the largest geographically 
spread road agencies in the world. Responsible 
for an area of more than 2.8 million square 
kilometres and managing assets valued at over 
$43 billion, we support the needs of all road 
users across the State by working closely with 
our Portfolio partners and Local Governments 
in planning, building and maintaining an 
integrated and e�  cient world class road 
transport network.

Region Area Covered 
(Thousand 

km2)

Population 
(Thousand)

State Roads
(km)

1 Gascoyne 135 10 995

2 Goldfi elds-Esperance 941 61 2,202

3 Great Southern 49 61 1,608

4 Kimberley 420 39 2,241

5 Metropolitan 5 1,876 849

6 Mid-West 286 57 2,657

7 Pilbara 505 66 2,738

8 South West 29 272 1,754

9 Wheatbelt North 100 52 2,004

10 Wheatbelt South 57 23 1,553

Total 2,527 2,517 18,601

About Us
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Our vision
Smart Roads, Safe Journeys is also our ethos and 
underpins everything we do.

Our purpose
Moving people and freight safely, reliably and 
e�  ciently on WA roads keeps us on track and 
accountable in delivering our services.

Our stakeholders
include every person who lives or does business 
in Western Australia. We consult a wide range of 
community groups, business and Government 
stakeholders to capture the interest of WA road users 
and help deliver services that meet the needs of the 
community.

Our values
form the foundation upon which Main Roads is built. 
They represent our culture, guide our behaviours 
and infl uence the decision-making process and our 
relationships with each other, our customers and 
partners.

Our sustainable approach
“Main Roads is committed to creating lasting 
benefi ts through an integrated consideration of the 
social, environmental and economic aspects in all 
we do…” – Main Roads Sustainability Policy 

We consider sustainability in all our decision-making. 
This ensures we manage, operate and develop 
a road transport system that meets the needs of 
today, without compromising the natural, human 
and fi nancial capital on which future generations 
will depend. Through the adoption of our own 
Sustainability Policy and Strategy we will improve 
and strengthen the way we meet community needs 
and manage, operate and develop our business and 
employees.

Keeping on track

We conduct an annual materiality analysis that draws 
from our corporate commitments, our key business 
and environmental risks, our corporate stakeholder 
engagement processes and media and ministerial 
topics. This year’s review of our overall materiality 
process incorporated additional stakeholder 
engagement and our key topics can be found in the 
Sustainability section of our website.

What’s next?

A Sustainability Performance Framework with 
associated plans and policies is under development.  
It will clarify our long-term priorities and has been 
generated from a gap analysis process based on sta�  
input from sustainability awareness workshops and 
external sustainability frameworks.  Further details can 
be found on our website.

Roads matter - taking pride in managing the road 
network for the benefi t of the community

Working together - enhancing relationships and 
teamwork

Excellence in customer service - understanding 
and providing what is important to our customers

Embracing challenge - anticipating and taking up 
challenges 

Professionalism - providing high levels of expertise in 
delivery our services.

Family - respecting and supporting our customers, the 
community and each other. 
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STATE

$1259.867

1

One of the many challenges a growing 
city faces is the e� ective management 
of tra�  c congestion, and Perth is no 
exception. There is no single solution 
to the tra�  c congestion challenge. It 
requires a multi-faceted approach that 
includes both traditional and new ways 
of thinking. 

In response to this challenge, the Tra�  c 
Congestion Management Program was launched 
by the Minister for Transport in 2013. 

The Program involves a wide range of projects 
designed to target known congestion hot spots 
across the Perth metropolitan area to help Keep 
Perth Moving. 

A number of projects have already been delivered 
with many others to be implemented over the next 
fi ve years. More information on the Program can be 
found on our website.  

Keep
Perth

Moving
TRAFFIC CONGESTION 

MANAGEMENT

PROGRAM
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Kwinana Freeway Merging Trial
New line markings at the Berrigan Drive, Beeliar Drive 
and Russell Road northbound on ramps are being 
trialled to see if they help make merging easier for 
road users and improve tra�  c fl ow on the Freeway.

Northbridge Tunnel and
Mitchell Freeway
An extra lane in the Tunnel in each direction and the 
widening of Mitchell Freeway northbound has seen 
an improvement in the reliability of travel times and  
increased capacity by an additional 15,000 vehicles 
accessing the Tunnel on average per day.

Graham Farmer Freeway
and East Parade
New line markings introduced at the on-ramp 
ensure vehicles merge before entering the freeway 
resulting in a signifi cant improvement in tra�  c fl ow 
and merging behaviour.

CBD Projects
Includes a range of improvement projects and trials 
including improved roadworks management and 
coordination, CCTV expansion, introduction of 
parallel walks, a dedicated CBD incident response 
service, and clearway management.

Point Lewis Roundabout
New tra�  c signals on the eastbound approach 
have helped decrease queue lengths at this busy 
intersection by approximately 700 metres.

Hay Street and Causeway Slip Lane
An additional left turning lane was introduced to 
improve capacity and allow for an even spread of 
tra�  c across both lanes. This low cost solution has 
reduced tra�  c queuing through the intersection at 
Hay Street, Braithwaite Road and Trinity Avenue by 
4.5%.

Canning Highway Traffi  c Signal 
Optimisation
Improvements to tra�  c signal timing phases at key 
intersections along the highway from Riseley Street 
to Henley Street has improved traffi  c fl ow, moving 
approximately 230 more vehicles during the peak 
period.

Roe Highway Off  Ramp Review
The review will investigate possible improvements 
to the Karel Avenue (westbound), Willeri Drive (east 
and westbound), Nicholson Road (westbound), and 
Orrong Road (northbound) o�  ramps.

South Street and Murdoch Drive
The upgrade has increased the capacity of the 
intersection, improved pedestrian and cycling 
facilities, and has provided safer access in and out 
of the Fiona Stanley Hospital and surrounding areas.

Kwinana Freeway Widening
Widening of the freeway southbound between 
Roe Highway and Armadale Road is expected to 
increase capacity and improve tra�  c fl ow.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

ANNUAL REPORT

2014
11M A I N  R O A D S  W E S T E R N  A U S T R A L I A

MainRoads2014-AnnualReport-FINAL.indd   11 16/09/2014   11:01:41 AM



Year In
review

PERFORMANCE

SCORECARD

Key performance indicators 
are a vital part of tracking and 
managing our critical business 
and agreed Government 
outcomes.

The scorecard shows how we are 
performing against each measure 
and that for the vast majority, we are 
achieving our goals. 

Full explanations on all the measures can 
be found on the corresponding page 
reference for each indicator. In addition, 
there are a range of other relevant 
business measures incorporated within 
the contents of the report.

2014 Target
2014 

Actual
Status Ref

Road Safety Program

% Community Satisfaction of road safety 90% 95%  98

Black Spot location indicator 10 10  98

% of contracts completed on time 90% 100%  98

% of contracts completed on budget 90% 94%  98

O�  ce of Road Safety Program

% E� ectiveness of road safety awareness campaigns 65% 0  98

% of ORS Projects completed on time 90% 83%  99

% of ORS Projects completed on budget 90% 95%  99

Road E�  ciency and Road System Management Programs

% Community Satisfaction 90% 94%  99

Road network permitted 
for use by heavy vehicles

B Double -27.5m % 96% 97%  99

Double RT -27.5m % 96% 97%  99

Double RT-36.5m % 78% 79%  99

Triple RT-53.5m % 44% 45%  99

% Network confi guration 

Roads 89% 90%  99

Bridges
Strength 87% 89%  99

Width 94% 94%  99

% of contracts completed on time 90% 89%  100

% of contracts completed on budget 90% 84%  100

Average $ cost of network management per million vehicle km travelled 4,256 4,983  100

We are achieving our goals

Desired results not achieved – taking action
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We are achieving our goals

Desired results not achieved – taking action




2014 Target

2014 
Actual

Status Ref

State Development Program

Average return on construction expenditure 3.3 5.4  100

% of contracts completed on time 90% 75%  100

% of contracts completed on budget 90% 100%  100

Road Maintenance Program

% Smooth Travel Exposure n/a n/a  101

% Community Satisfaction road maintenance 90% 90%  101

% Preventative maintenance indicator 84% 86%  101

Average $ cost of network maintenance per lane kilometre of road network 7,900 8,125  101

Community Access Program

% of the year that 100% of the Main Roads’ State road network is available 85% 96%  102

% Community satisfaction with cycleways and pedestrian facilities 90% 85%  102

% of contracts completed on time 90% 75%  102

% of contracts completed on budget 90% 50%  102
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Year in
review

FINANCE SUMMARY Our Finance Summary provides a preliminary 
insight into key elements of our fi nancial 
performance. An in depth look at our 2013-14 
Financial Statements is available from page 
103 to 140.

$43.6
Value

of assets

billion

$1.91
Funding received

billion

Road E�ciency
$527

Community Access
$54

EXPENDITURE BY PROGRAM

O�ce of Road Safety
$78

Road Network
Maintenance

$789

State Development
$301

($ MILLION)

$1994

Road Safety
$105

Road System
Management
$140

EMPLOYEE AGE PROFILE

50-59
Years Old

30%

60+
Years Old

17% <30
Years Old
15%

30-39
Years Old
17%

40-49
Years Old
21%

FUNDING SOURCES

State – Other
$100

Commonwealth
$266

Other Income
$289

($ MILLION)

State Government
$1260

$1915

EXPENDITURE BY TYPE

Infrastructure Assets
Retired / Replaced

$19

Capital
Expenditure

$978

Loan Repayment and
Finance Cost

$6

Employee Benefits and
Superannuation Expense
$69

($ MILLION)

Supplies and Services
$497

Depreciation Expense
and Amortisation
Expense
$256

Grants and Subsidies
$311

$2136
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1043
Full-Time Employees

(Equivalent
average) Year in

review
WORKFORCE PROFILE

Our Workforce Profi le showcases the diversity 
of our organisation. We focus on developing a 
highly skilled, professional and fl exible workforce 
that can adapt to meet changing priorities and 
contribute to portfolio and industry capability. 
For more information about our workforce see 
Developing Capabilities, page 68 to 72.30%

70%

FUNDING SOURCES

State – Other
$100.0

Commonwealth
$266.4

Other Income
$288.5

($ MILLION)

State Government
$1259.9

$1915

EXPENDITURE BY TYPE

Infrastructure Assets
retired / Replaced

$19.4

Capital
Expenditure

$977.7

Loan Repayment and
Finance Cost

$5.6

Employee Benefits and
Superannuation Expense
$69.3

($ MILLION)

Supplies and Services
$496.7

Depreciation Expense
and Amortisation
Expense
$255.9

Grants and Subsidies
$311.1

$2136

Road E�ciency
$422.5

Community Access
$53.8

EXPENDITURE BY PROGRAM

O�ce of Road Safety
$78.2

Road Network
Maintenance

$789.1

State Development
$300.7

($ MILLION)

$1995

Road Safety
$105.9

Road System
Management
$140.2

EMPLOYEE AGE PROFILE

50-59
Years Old

30%

60+
Years Old

17%
<30
Year Old
15%

30-39
Years Old
17%

40-49
Years Old
21%

REGIONALLY BASED WORKFORCE

South West
63

Wheatbelt North
27

Wheatbelt South
22

Gascoyne
24

Goldfields / 
Esperance
22

Great
Southern
34

Kimberley
34
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36

Pilbara
28
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Road transport fulfi ls a major role in our economy 
and society, involving a wide range of industries and 
services, which together, contribute almost 1.5% of 
Australia’s GDP rising to 4.9% when looking at the 
wider transport industry. E� ective transport systems 
contribute to economic prosperity, as well as provide 
benefi ts to the community that arise through access 
to a greater range of options for places to live, work, 
shop and take holidays.

The transport system is an integral part of the 
everyday lives of all Western Australians and in a 
State that is as large and diverse as ours, it is a critical 
component that makes it all work.  The vast distances 
and sparse population present complex challenges 
for productivity and sustained prosperity.  

Whether it is continuing to strengthen our economic 
success, assisting in improving the quality of life for 
all or seeking to create a strong foundation for those 
that come after us, the State road network has a vital 
role to play as part of a broader integrated transport 
system. 

In seeking to meet community expectations and 
deliver government outcomes there will always 
be challenges to overcome and opportunities to 
recognise and benefi t from.  The following provides 
a snapshot of some of these challenges and 
opportunities and looks at what we might be facing 
in the future.

Year in
review

CHALLENGES AND

OPPORTUNITIES

Now
Western Australia accounts 
for 41% of the nations total 
exports. This represents 
growth of almost 11% over 
the last fi ve years with 
a signifi cant proportion 
of that coming from the 
resources sector. 

By 2031 
The volume of regional 
based freight movements 
through our Ports will be 
around 2.5 times what it 
is today – State Regional 
Freight Transport 
Network Plan

Economic
The facts

Let’s compare
road task 
20 billion tonne per annum 
moved in 2010.

40 billion tonnes will be 
moved per annum by 2030

Coupled with the fact that close to 70% of all freight 
is actually distributed throughout the metropolitan 
area by light commercial vehicles, these statistics 
paint a picture that shows just how important the 
road network is to the growth and vitality of our State.

Our role
Over the next four years we will deliver $8 billion in 
services including:

• Over $3.4 billion of capital works
• Distribution of $761 million in grants to Local 

Government

We’ll be working with our Portfolio partners, Local 
Government and other agencies to deliver a range 
of projects across the State that will address export 
and freight, contribute to improved productivity and 
safety and tackle the impacts of congestion.

Long-term economic 
growth is closely linked to 
infrastructure choices and to 
the capacity to implement 
viable, fair and sustainable 
mobility. 
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Social
The facts

Population
WA still has the country’s 
fastest population growth 
at 2.9% despite dropping 
signfi cantly since 2012

Projections show our 
population could increase 
to 5.4 million by 2056 and 
that Perth could become 
home to over 75% of the 
State’s population by 2050.

Travel behaviour
The States vehicle fl eet has 
grown annually by 3.4% in 
the past 5 years, the fastest 
rate in Australia.

78% of people drive to work 
in Perth surpassing Sydney, 
Melbourne and Brisbane.

Projections show that 
vehicle kilometers travelled 
per year will continue to 
increase by 2% per annum.

Driver safety
The 2013 road toll dropped 
to 162, the lowest since 
o�  cial records started in 
1961 marking a signfi cant 
reduction in death and 
serious injury.

Our role
We will serve the needs of a growing population 
while addressing the impacts this will have on 
meeting the land use and access needs of individuals, 
the community and business. Furthermore, we 
remain committed to working with others to 
continue the journey to Towards Zero under the four 
pillars of Safe Road Use, Safe Roads and Roadsides, 
Safe Speeds and Safe Vehicles.

Private vehicles will continue to have an important 
role to play as part of our whole transport system. To 
address this, we’ll focus on maximising the number 
of people we move rather than the number of 

vehicles to reduce congestion, maintain accessibility 
and improve liveability for the whole community. 

The bottom line
We have a clear and important responsibility in 
contributing to the solutions that will address the 
complexities of a growing and evolving society.  
Our challenge will lie in providing services that will 
enable the community to make more informed travel 
decisions while also achieving better integration of 
transport modes to improve productivity, e�  ciency 
and safety.  

We’ve begun work on the Tra�  c 
Congestion Management Program 
(TCMP) in an e� ort to Keep Perth 
Moving. For more information about 
the TCMP visit our website. 
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Our natural 
environment
is subject to many 
pressures, including the loss 
and degradation of native 
vegetation which is seen as 
a long-term issue.

Climate change
is predicted to have 
a significant impact 
on transportation, 
affecting the way we 
plan, design, construct, 
operate and maintain our 
infrastructure.

Environmental
The facts

Our role
We are looking to make gains in biodiversity, 
promote the e�  cient use of natural resources and 
drive reductions in carbon-based emissions and the 
impact it has on communities, the economy and the 
environment. 

In doing so we’ll drive more consistent outcomes in 
land rehabilitation and roadside habitat preservation 
to ensure we continue to provide our services 
without comprising the natural environment on 
which we all depend.

The bottom line
Decisions made today related to the redesign and 
retrofi tting of existing infrastructure, or the location 
and design of new infrastructure, will a� ect how well 
our network is able to adapt to climate change into 
the future. 

To make sure we consider our environmental impact 
in all we do, we continue to develop our people to 
be more e� ective in fulfi lling their environmental 
responsibilities, creating a conscious workforce that 
focus on achieving sustainable outcomes.

We have adopted a Carbon 
Reduction Target that will form the 
focus for our Carbon Reduction Plan. 
We will seek to achieve a reduction 
of 5% of 2010 carbon emissions by 
2020 whilst striving to achieve a best 
target reduction of 15%. 
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How will we make all 
of this happen?

Our strategic plan – 2020
Released in August 2013, 2020 describes the 
strategic direction we’ll take over the next six years 
and represents our response to the challenges, and 
opportunities we encounter and the environment 
we work in.

It will aid in coordinating and engaging with our 
partners, stakeholders, customers and employees 
to improve our integrated approach to planning to 
ensure we capture and deliver on the needs of our 
diverse customer base.

Sustainability
Sustainability is a key strategic enabler within 2020 
along with Leadership, Innovation and Productivity. 
It’s essential in all our activities and forms one of 
the foundational building blocks underpinning 
achievement of the outcomes we are seeking.  

As part of meeting the challenge of embedding 
sustainable practices into our core business 
processes we have adopted the Infrastructure 
Sustainability Council of Australia IS rating tool 
for all projects greater than $100 million.  This 
approach is already driving a culture of change that 
we will build on across all our initiatives under the 
Transport portfolio.

Driver safety
As drivers, we are not infallible, and the best of us 
make mistakes and errors of judgments at times.  
However, using the roads should not come with a 
“toll’ where we expect death and serious injury; using 
the road should be a safe experience and we will 
continue to do everything we can through using the 
safe system approach to make this a reality.  

Congestion
Congestion is creating increased social, economic 
and environmental concerns that we are tackling at 
both an operational and strategic level.  Our 2020 
Strategy identifi es through the “Making technology 
work for the community” objective that we will 
optimise transport outcomes through best use of 
available and emerging technology.  In June this year 
we released a Draft Intelligent Transport Systems 
Master Plan for public comment to help guide our 
future approaches in this area.

Looking ahead
Whilst taking into account all the challenges and 
opportunities ahead, we will work with our stakeholders 
and partners to deliver integrated transport solutions, 
better road services and an improved travel experience 
for all Western Australians. 
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Our
leaders

COMMISSIONER’S

FOREWORD 

As our State continues to grow, the Government 
is challenged with meeting transport infrastructure 
demands in both metropolitan and regional areas 
within current funding arrangements.

The State Government is focused on managing the 
road network to ensure the greatest e�  ciencies 
are achieved in terms of capacity, connectivity and 
equity. Signifi cant funding has also been allocated to 
expand the road network where necessary.

The iconic Gateway WA project continues on 
time and on budget. With fi ve grade separated 
intersections, the project will improve safety and 
e�  ciency in one of the State’s most important 
transport hubs.

Coupled with the recently funded NorthLink project, 
Perth’s freight corridors will be seen as some of the 
most productive and e�  cient road freight systems in 
Australia. 

Perth’s population is growing at almost 3% annually, 
about twice the national average. 

The impact on our already car-dependant city can be 
seen on the road network in peak periods every day 
of the week. 

There is no single solution to congestion. However, 
Main Roads, along with Department of Transport and 
Public Transport Authority, is developing a suite of 
responses to the issue. 

It is clear the community demands more from 
transport services in terms of accurate and reliable 
tra�  c and traveller information, as well as an e�  cient 
and sustainable network. 

Innovative tools, such as social media, the Right 
Move Perth smartphone app and media partnerships 
all play a role in delivering real time information to 
Perth road users. 

As we strive to deliver a world class transport system 
in Western Australia, we must refer back to the long-
term planning goals in Directions 2031 and Beyond. 
The strategy aims to accommodate a population 
of 3.5 million in a compact and environmentally 
sustainable city. 

For this to be achieved, we must get the transport 
system right. It is essential that infrastructure planning 
is integrated with moving people and moving freight.

Reece Waldock
Commissioner of Main Roads

It is an interesting time to be involved in road 
transport in Western Australia. We have a widely 
dispersed road network, expansive grain and 
livestock industries, a growing freight task and 
some of the most remote areas in Australia. 
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Our
leaders

MANAGING DIRECTOR’S

REVIEW

My fi rst 18 months with Main Roads has been 
an enormous learning curve, fi lled with exciting 
projects and initiatives with the promise of many 
more to come. I’ve had the pleasure of travelling to 
each of our regional o�  ces to meet our dedicated 
employees and see the great work that is being done 
throughout the State. 

Major projects such as the Esperance Port Access 
Corridor, Fitzgerald River National Park Improvement 
and Gascoyne River Flood Reinstatement Works have 
been a huge success, improving e�  ciency and safety 
along some of our State’s most important regional 
corridors.

This year also saw the launch of our new 2020 
Strategic Framework. Underpinned by our vision of 
Smart Roads, Safe Journeys the strategy has been 
created to inspire leadership, innovation, sustainability 
and productivity in everything that we do to help us 
achieve our purpose of moving people and freight 
safely, reliably and e�  ciently on WA roads. 

What we’ve been up to…
We’ve accomplished a lot this year, delivering a 
number of signifi cant projects and continuing work 
on many others. Delivering $2.131 billion of road 
programs and services whilst achieving 97% 
expenditure against our budget provides another 
excellent outcome for the organisation. 

The past year has been one of progress. Servicing our customers 
remains at the core of our operations, making us constantly 
challenge how we do business and deliver value to the diverse 
travelling public. With more cars on the road than ever before we 
have come a long way from just building roads. Instead we focus 
on the e� ective management and operation of the network 
in the hope that together, we can reduce the impact of tra�  c 
congestion and provide safe, sustainable and reliable transport 
options for generations to come.
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Some of our most signifi cant accomplishments include:

• Great Eastern Highway Upgrade – Kooyong Road 
to Tonkin Highway being awarded Civil Contractors 
Federation National Earth Award in October 2013.  The 
project was delivered via an alliance nine months ahead 
of schedule and under budget whilst achieving an 
outstanding safety record.  

• The opening of the Wallwork Road Bridge over the BHPB 
Iron Ore Rail Line in Port Hedland - delivered on behalf 
of the Town of Port Hedland the bridge will reduce traffi  c 
congestion and improve safety in the area.

• The opening of Point Lewis Roundabout – the fi rst 
intersection in Western Australia to have roundabout 
metering. Further information about the project can be 
found on Page 31. 

• Completion of the fi rst stage of the Gateway WA 
project with the Abernethy Road and Tonkin Highway 
Interchange being opened to tra�  c in early 2014.

• The opening of the Esperance Port Access project in 
April 2014 which will support the expanding mining 
and agriculture industries of the region and position 
Esperance as a competitive player in the import/export 
market.

What we’ve achieved…
Our business and support activities continue to focus on 
e� ective environmental management, enhancing our 
relationships and developing and maintaining the safety, health 
and wellbeing of our people. It’s through these drivers that we 
aim to work smarter across the organisation to deliver on our 
strategic priorities and provide excellent service to the travelling 
public. 

Some of our key business achievements include:

• Being recognised as a fi nalist at the Premiers Awards in 
the Developing the Economy category for the creation of 
the Over-Size Over-Mass (OSOM) Unit. 

•  Reaching 20,000 followers for our Perth_Traffi  c Twitter 
account, the highest of any State Government agency 
surpassing the WA Police and Transperth.

• City East Alliance becoming the fi rst project in Australia to 
be recognised by the Infrastructure Sustainability Council 
of Australia with an As Built Infrastructure Sustainability 
rating of Commended.

• Winning the Engineering for Regional Communities 
category of the Engineers Australia 2013 Engineering 
Excellence Awards for the Eelup Roundabout Upgrade.

• The Fatal Crash Analysis Project receiving a High 
Commendation from the Injury Control Council of 
Western Australia in Innovation Excellence at the 2014 
Injury and Prevention and Safety Excellence Awards.
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Looking Ahead…
2013 saw Main Roads earmarked as the lead agency in 
the State Government’s action to ease congestion on WA 
roads. It’s a tough, multifaceted job that has seen us come 
together as an organisation to deliver our Tra�  c Congestion 
Management Program (TCMP) comprising innovative, 
practical and low cost solutions to improve the public’s driving 
experience and Keep Perth Moving.

Work also continues on Gateway WA with a range of projects 
being planned and progressed to alleviate congestion and 
provide improvements to traveller information. In addition 
to this, the high profi le Perth Freight Link project has been 
announced and will provide a safe and e�  cient freight link 
from Muchea to the Fremantle Port. This will be one of the 
largest projects ever undertaken by Main Roads. It presents 
signifi cant challenges that I’m sure we will meet to deliver great 
benefi ts to all Perth road users.

Our regional operating landscape continues to undergo 
signifi cant change. To better meet the needs of our growing 
State and deliver services in a sustainable way, we’ve reviewed 
our operating model and have amalgamated several of our 
regional o�  ces. Coming into e� ect on 1 July, the Wheatbelt 
North and South regions have been joined to form the 
Wheatbelt Region, and the Mid-West and Gascoyne are now 
Midwest-Gascoyne region. O�  the back of this change, we’ll 
continue to look at other opportunities to improve our delivery 
of services across Western Australia in line with changing 
expectations and needs.

As we move forward we share the challenge of operating 
in a lean economic environment that pushes us to consider 
smarter, more e�  cient ways of doing business to deliver value 
to all road users. It’s a challenge that we’ll tackle head on as 
custodians of the WA road network as we work together with 
our portfolio partners to provide exceptional customer service 
and manage both the opportunities and challenges that lie 
ahead.

Thank you…
I’d like to thank all of our employees who through a culture 
of hard work, collaboration and ingenuity have contributed to 
the positive progress we continue to make in the face of the 
challenges presented by our growing State.

I look forward to the year ahead as I serve the people of 
Western Australian with the support of everyone at Main Roads.

Steve Troughton
Managing Director

ANNUAL REPORT

2014
23M A I N  R O A D S  W E S T E R N  A U S T R A L I A

MainRoads2014-AnnualReport-FINAL.indd   23 16/09/2014   11:01:55 AM



Our
leaders
CORPORATE

EXECUTIVE 

Each member of the leadership team heads one of the corporate 
areas responsible for managing the business. This team provides 
the direction that ensures we provide safe, reliable and e�  cient 
road access to the community.

John Erceg
Executive Director,
Regional Services
BEng (Civil)

Length of Service – 31 years

John’s extensive experience in 
engineering and management 
enforces his leadership of road asset 
management, network operation 
and maintenance and capital 
delivery to our nine regional o�  ces 
throughout Western Australia.

Leo Coci
Executive Director,
Infrastructure Delivery
BEng (Hon), MBA

Length of Service: 36 years

Leo oversees the procurement of 
high value and complex road and 
bridge infrastructure to deliver some 
of our largest projects. He eff ectively 
manages project development 
and delivery in collaboration 
with stakeholders and industry 
participants.

Iain Cameron
Executive Director,
O�  ce of Road Safety
BEd, DipEd, GDHlthProm, MPH, GAICD

Length of service: 14 years 

Iain has cultivated a unique and 
diverse skill set through years 
of experience in education and 
public health. These have proven 
vital to his successful provision 
of exemplary policy and strategy 
advice to achieve improved 
coordination and community 
awareness of road safety in    
Western Australia. 

Steve Troughton
Managing Director
BEng (Hons), MBA

Steve’s experience in managing 
businesses across the world and 
extensive technical expertise in 
major infrastructure and property 
has been invaluable in his fi rst 18 
months as Managing Director. His 
fresh and practical approach to 
project delivery and management 
promises a productive year ahead.
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Peter Woronzow
Executive Director, Finance and 
Commercial Services
BA (Economics), GDPSM, CPA

Length of service: 34 years 

Peter’s extensive experience in 
accounting and management 
provides strong, strategic leadership 
in managing fi nancial, corporate and 
commercial solutions that support 
achieving Main Roads’ outcomes. As 
chair of the Business Improvement 
and Budget Committees, Peter is 
involved in ensuring the sustained 
prosperity of the organisation.

John Taya
Executive Director, 
Organisational Development
BCom, MIR

Length of Service: 38 years

John’s involvement in a number 
of national advisory councils 
and taskforces gives him a rich 
insight into the complexities and 
e� ective management of human 
resource and capital management 
as well as Cultural Corporate 
Governance, Innovation and internal 
communication. 

Des Snook
Executive Director,
Road Network Services
BEng (Civil)

Length of Service: 35 years

Des is responsible for key areas 
throughout Main Roads that provide 
high level strategic and operational 
service in Tra�  c Management, 
Road Safety (including Road 
Safety funding programs) and 
customer services. His extensive 
knowledge of the road network is 
a great asset in his management 
of the Metropolitan Region and 
Main Roads response to Tra�  c 
Congestion.

Doug Morgan
Executive Director, Planning
and Technical Services
BEng (Electrical), MBA

Length of service: 26 years

Doug is responsible for managing 
Main Roads contribution to 
sustainable, integrated transport 
through engineering, environmental 
and asset management. His 
expertise in both business and 
engineering underpins his 
directorate’s multifaceted approach 
to planning and development 
of services that support the 
organisation.
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Our
operational

performance

Our commitment to delivering valuable, reliable and sustainable services to the community is at the core of 
everything we do.

To keep us on track we adopt a program management approach – comprised of seven programs – that is based 
on four Government goals. 

This holistic approach to delivery drives our outcome based decision-making and is guided by key 
performance measures that not only help us achieve Government expectations but assist the Government, 
Main Roads and the community in determining the impact of the delivery of services within each program. 

The following graph and table provide an overview of our Programs and their relationship with the 
Government Goals and the services and outcomes we deliver in order to achieve them.

How We Achieve Government Goals 

Kwinana Freeway
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Government Goals Main Roads Outcomes Main Roads Program Page 
Ref.

Results Based Service Delivery

Providing a safe road environment Road Safety 28

Improved coordination and community awareness of road safety O�  ce of Road Safety 47

Reliable and e�  cient movement of people and goods
Road Management 51

Road E�  ciency 32

State Building – Major Projects Facilitate economic and regional development State Development 37

Stronger Focus on the Regions A well maintained road network Maintenance 41

Social and Environmental 
Responsibility

Improved community access and roadside amenity Community Access 44

Road E�ciency
$527

Community Access
$54

EXPENDITURE BY PROGRAM

O�ce of Road Safety
$78

Road Network
Maintenance

$789

State Development
$301

($ MILLION)

$1994

Road Safety
$105

Road System
Management
$140

EMPLOYEE AGE PROFILE

50-59
Years Old

30%

60+
Years Old

17% <30
Years Old
15%

30-39
Years Old
17%

40-49
Years Old
21%

FUNDING SOURCES

State – Other
$100

Commonwealth
$266

Other Income
$289

($ MILLION)

State Government
$1260

$1915

EXPENDITURE BY TYPE

Infrastructure Assets
Retired / Replaced

$19

Capital
Expenditure

$978

Loan Repayment and
Finance Cost

$6

Employee Benefits and
Superannuation Expense
$69

($ MILLION)

Supplies and Services
$497

Depreciation Expense
and Amortisation
Expense
$256

Grants and Subsidies
$311

$2136
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Road
Safety
PROGRAM

Results Based 
Service Delivery

Reduce the State's road 
fatalities to the lowest in 
Australia by minimising the 
road factors contributing to 
road trauma and reducing 
the serious crash injury rate.

Government Goal

Aim

Providing
a safe road
environment

2013

$1012012

$100

2014

$105

All State and National Black Spot projects 

Intersection improvements

Overtaking lanes

Rail Crossings

Bridge Safety Improvements

The program includes

kpi

K
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D

I
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A
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O
R

S

% Community Satisfaction of road safety 

% of contracts completed on time

% of contracts completed on budget

90% 95%

94%

100%90%

90%

2014
target

2014
actual Result







Program expenditure $m 
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Road
Safety
PROGRAM

Results Based 
Service Delivery

Reduce the State's road 
fatalities to the lowest in 
Australia by minimising the 
road factors contributing to 
road trauma and reducing 
the serious crash injury rate.

Government Goal

Aim

Providing
a safe road
environment
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2014
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Program expenditure $m 

Key projects ROAD SAFETY

Project
Total Project 

Cost
($ million)

2013-14 Cost
($ million)

Completion Date Description

Gascoyne Region

Onslow Road 0.4 0.4 January 2014 Install audio tactile line marking & raised pavement markers along Onslow Road

Goldfi elds-Esperance Region

Coolgardie Esperance Highway 2.5 2.5 April 2014 Construct  1m wide sealed shoulders and install an audible edge-line

Goldfi elds Highway 1.3 1.3 December 2013 Update culverts  and other associated roadworks

Great Southern Region

Chester Pass Road Widening 1.4 1.4 October 2013 Reconstruct, widen and seal shoulders over a 3.3 km long section south of Borden

South Coast Highway Widening 2.1 1.9 February 2014
Reconstruct, widen, and seal shoulders over a 1.4 km long section within the City of 
Albany

Kimberley Region

Victoria Highway Shoulder and Seal 
Widening

2.4 1.0 July 2014 Widen road to a 9m seal with 1m unsealed shoulders and audible edge-lines

Willare Shoulder  and Seal Widening 1.9 1.5 July 2014 Widen road to a 9m seal with 1m unsealed shoulders and audible edge-lines

Metropolitan Region

Armadale Road/Warton Road 8.8 7.4 July 2014
Upgrade  intersection with designated right and left turn lanes and install  tra�  c control 
signals

Mitchell Freeway (Hutton Street To Reid 
Highway)

2.6 2.5 February 2014 Install 11 sections of safety barriers along northbound and southbound carriageways

Electronic School Zone signs 38.5 3.0 June 2017 Install  electronic school zone signs

Mid West Region

Wubin-Mullewa Road (Perenjori to 
Morawa)

21.6 12.5 December 2014 Widen road to a two lane seal

Goldfi elds Highway (Wiluna to Meekatharra) 24.4 22.0 June 2014 Construct sealed sections
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Project
Total Project 

Cost
($ million)

2013-14 Cost
($ million)

Completion Date Description

Pilbara Region

Great Northern Highway/Newman Drive 
Intersection Upgrade

0.8 0.7 February 2014
Construct  a left turn lane from the Great Northern Highway into Newman townsite and 
widen  the Great Northern Highway

North West Coastal Highway (Fortescue to 
Great Northern Highway)

1.9 1.9 June 2014 Widen shoulders and seal and install audible edge-lines

Marble Bar Road 0.4 0.3 July 2013 Design and construct parking bay at Marble Road near Great Northern Highway

South West Region

Bussell Highway (Margaret River to 
Karridale)

2.1 2.1 June 2014 Seal shoulders to a width of 1.5m and install audible edge-lines

Caves Road (Cape Naturaliste Road 
Roundabouts)

4.1 4.1 January 2014 Construct  two roundabouts

Wheatbelt North Region

Great Eastern Highway (Lakes to Northam) 2.5 0.7 June 2014 Seal widening and safety improvements

York-Merredin Road 10.5 1.6 May 2014 Widen  the seal width to 9m with culvert extensions for future widening

Wheatbelt South Region

Collie Lake King Road (Wagin to Ballaying) 3.2 2.4 May 2014 Widen  seal  to 9m

Northam Cranbrook Road (Narrogin to 
Buchanan River)

4.8 4.8 April 2014 Widen  seal  to 9m

Looking ahead

• The State Black Spot Program will have funding of $10 million on State roads, and $10 
million on Local Roads.

• The Federal Black Spot Program will have $7 million.
• The Safer Roads and Bridge Improvements Program will have funding of $35 million.

Recognition

Injury Prevention and Safety Excellence Awards

• Highly Commended – Innovation Excellence in Fatal Crash Analysis – Road Network 
Services and O�  ce of Road Safety

• Winner – Partnership Excellence - South West Industry Road Safety Alliance 

Key projects ROAD SAFETY
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The Perth CBD is an intricate 
network supported by 
key arterial roads and 
intersections. The Point Lewis 
roundabout forms one of 
these important intersections 
so to make sure it operates 
to full capacity and allows 
safe travel across the city, an 
innovative tra�  c management 
approach needed to be taken.

Located just outside of the CBD and linking Mounts 
Bay Road, Kwinana Freeway South on-ramp and 
Riverside Drive, the Point Lewis roundabout is 
considered to be one of the worst bottlenecks in the 
City of Perth, experiencing heavy congestion during 
morning and  afternoon peaks.

To address congestion and safety issues and improve 
e�  ciency for public transport and city commuters, 
we installed specialised tra�  c signals at the 
roundabout.  Point Lewis is the fi rst intersection of its 
kind in Western Australia where this technology has 
been used. 

The signals installed on the Mounts Bay Road 
eastbound approach, and loop detectors on other 
roundabout legs, operate during peak times or when 
there is a signifi cant tra�  c build up. 

A communication program to educate the public 
about the new signals took place throughout the 
project and after its completion.

The program targeted key stakeholders, such as WA 
Police and road users, to ensure they understood and 
endorsed the new infrastructure. 

Some key benefi ts of the new roundabout include:

• Improved public transport effi  ciency along 
Mounts Bay Road 

• Prevention of traffi  c gridlock during peak 
periods

• A reduction in the crash rate and severity of 
crashes in the area 

To take a closer look at how the roundabout works, 
go to our website to see an interactive video of the 
signals in action.

Key outcomes
Signifi cant decrease of queue 

lengths, with reductions up to 

approximately 700 metres

Project value
$150 million

Date completed
November 2013

Point Lewis 
Roundabout

Point Lewis Roundabout
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Road
E�ciency

PROGRAM

Results Based 
Service Delivery

Improve the e	ciency, capacity 
and utilisation of the existing 
road network as a part of a total 
transport network.

Government Goal

Aim

Reliable
and e�cient
movement of
people and goods

2013

$4232012

$392

2014

$527

Road widening

Bridge strengthening

Retrofitting of Intelligent Transport
capabilities

Projects that deliver geometric
improvement

The program includes

kpi
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% Community Satisfaction 

% of contracts completed on time

% of contracts completed on budget

90% 94%

84%

89%90%

90%

2014
target

2014
actual Result







Program expenditure $m 
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Bridge strengthening

Retrofitting of Intelligent Transport
capabilities

Projects that deliver geometric
improvement

The program includes
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% Community Satisfaction 

% of contracts completed on time

% of contracts completed on budget

90% 94%

84%

89%90%

90%

2014
target

2014
actual Result







Program expenditure $m 

Key projects ROAD EFFICIENCY

Project Total Project 
Cost ($ million)

2013-14 Cost
($ million)

Completion
Date

Description

Gascoyne Region

Onslow Road Heavy Vehicle Rest Area 0.7 0.7 October 2013 Improve and extend Heavy Vehicle Rest Area 

Chevron Parking Bay, Onslow / North West 
Coastal Highway intersection

3.3 2.3 December 2013 Design and construct truck parking bay

Goldfi elds-Esperance Region

Great Eastern Highway (Bullabulling to 
Coolgardie West)

40.0 2.2 July 2015
Reconstruct,  overlay and widen a section of the Highway

Great Southern Region

Ravensthorpe Heavy Vehicle Route 
Upgrades

20.0 2.2 March 2015
Realign  South Coast Highway north of Ravensthorpe, Hopetoun Road intersection and 
town site

Metropolitan Region

NorthLink WA - Swan Valley Bypass section 850.0 29.3 2019
Construct  a new 37km high standard link from the intersection of the Reid and Tonkin 
Highways to Muchea 

Gateway WA - Perth Airport and Freight 
Access

1,004.0 336.0 2017
Upgrade  Tonkin Highway between Great Eastern Highway & Roe Highway, Leach 
Highway between Orrong Road & Perth Airport and associated improvements along 
Kewdale Road

Murdoch Drive - South Street Intersection 21.0 9.1 February 2014
Upgrade the intersection of Murdoch Drive and South Street to support the planned 
development of Murdoch Activity Centre (MAC) and the wider precinct

Mid West Region

Brand Highway 12.0 6.9 September 2014  Construct  a new bridge over Greenough River, including tie-ins

North West Coastal Highway(Widening 
Minilya to Barradale)

175.0 3.5 June 2016 Widen seal to 7m with 1m sealed shoulders. Strengthen pavement where required
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Project Total Project 
Cost ($ million)

2013-14 Cost
($ million)

Completion
Date

Description

Pilbara Region

Great Northern Highway 10.3 10.0 March 2014
Strengthen  four bridges:  TabbaTabba Creek, Beebingarra Creek, Petermarer Creek and 
Pardoo Creek

Wallwork Road Bridge (Port Hedland) 33.0 7.9 June 2014
Design and construct  the Wallwork Road Bridge in Port Hedland, over the BHPB  
Goldsworthy Railway and associated approaches between the North Circular Roundabout 
and the GNH/Link Road

South West Region

Coalfi elds Highway (Roelands Hill) 6.0 6.0 May 2014 Construct new climbing lane, widen and install barriers

Bunbury Port Access Road Truck Bay 3.5 3.5 June 2014 Construct truck breakdown facility on newly constructed Port Access Road

Wheatbelt North Region

Great Northern Highway Upgrade (Wubin 
to Muchea) 

387.0 0.5 2018
Upgrade intersection,  widen seal, reconstruct  and  realign  additional passing lanes

Great Northern Highway Upgrade (Batty 
Bog to Walebing)

70.0 2.5 December 2015
Reconstruct and/or realign 19km from Batty Bog Road to Walebing.

Wheatbelt South Region

Albany Highway 1.8 1.8 May 2014  Extend two existing short passing lanes to the new standard

York-Meriden Road 0.8 0.8 June 2014
Improve Bruce Rock Town Entrance associated with the Grain Freight Improvement 
Project 

Key projects ROAD EFFICIENCY

• Commence construction of a heavy vehicle bypass around Ravensthorpe.

• Continue improvements to the Marble Bar Road, including upgrades between 
Newman and Ripon Hills and a new bridge over the Fortescue River.

• Continue project development activities and commence construction of a grade 
separated interchange between Reid Highway and Malaga Drive.

• Continue project development activities and commence construction of 
interchanges on Tonkin Highway at Benara Road, Morley Drive and Collier Road.

Looking ahead
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Passenger air travel and 
road freight is expected to 
double over the next decade 
making the continuation 
of the Gateway WA Perth 
Airport and Freight Access 
Project an integral component 
of securing the economic 
prosperity of the State and the 
nation.

Work continues on the billion dollar Gateway WA 
project, focusing on the Kewdale, Forrestfi eld and 
Perth Airport precinct; an area considered critical 
to the e�  cient movement of people and goods in 
Western Australia. 

The project celebrated its fi rst key milestone in 2013 
with the opening of the Abernethy Road on-ramp 
which is providing immediate relief to motorists by 
reducing tra�  c congestion and travel time. 

Stage One of a Road Train Assembly Area (RTAA) is 
also open, improving e�  ciency for freight tra�  c, 
with Stage Two expected to be open towards the 
end of the project.

Furthermore, in line with works on the intersection 
upgrade of Leach Highway/Abernethy Road, the 
Gerry Archer oval realignment has been delivered 
with the reserve now open.

In another fi rst for Western Australia, Gateway WA 
will use a Single Point Urban Interchange (SPUI) 
design at two of the fi ve interchange locations. 
This design was chosen due to limited space 
within the road reserve and the ability to e�  ciently 
control large tra�  c volumes through a single set of 
tra�  c lights which will improve travel times at key 
transport hubs.

The project is expected to be completed ahead of 
schedule in mid-2016 and will construct:

• 11 road bridges
• 5 new grade separated interchanges
• 7 kilometres of noise/screen wall
• 21 kilometres of Principal shared path

Key outcomes
Improve and secure access to 

Perth Airport; provide su�  cient 

capacity to handle expected growth 

in transport demand; improve 

the e�  ciency of freight vehicles 

servicing nationally signifi cant 

intermodal freight terminals. 

Project value
$1 Billion

Status
In progress

Gateway WA 
Update

Gateway roadworks
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The Tra�  c Congestion 
Management Program (TCMP) 
involves a wide range of 
projects designed to target 
congestion hot spots across 
the Perth metropolitan 
area to help improve the 
e�  ciency and performance 
of our roads.  One of the 
fi rst projects to be rolled out 
as part of this initiative was 
the Canning Highway Signal 
Optimisation Trial.

Canning Highway was identifi ed as a key hot spot 
as part of the TCMP because of its importance as a 
public transport corridor and the linkages it has to 
the Kwinana Freeway and CBD. 

Over the course of several months, the operation 
and e�  ciency of a number of intersections across 
Canning Highway were reviewed including Riseley 
Street, Ardross Street, Reynolds Road, Sleat Road 
and Kintail Road. 

At the end of the review, a series of 
recommendations  was put forward to improve the 
performance of east bound lanes during morning 
peak including the reduction of tra�  c signal cycle 
times and improved coordination.

Through collaboration between various areas 
across Main Roads, the recommendations were 
implemented over a fi ve month trial period with 
great results. 

By the end of the trial, a six minute improvement 
in journey times was experienced by road users 
between Riseley Street and Henley Street and an 
additional 230 vehicles were able to travel through 
the area each hour during the morning peak. Even 
public transport recorded improved journey times 
during the trial and a reduction in queue lengths was 
evident at all intersections.

The improvements made to the tra�  c signals 
are now a permanent fi xture and have resulted in 
improved performance and increased throughput 
along this section of the highway. 

Key outcomes
Moving approximately 230 more 

vehicles per hour during peak 

periods 

Project value
$63,000

Date Implemented
October 2013

Congestion 
Hotspot 
Targeted

State
Development

PROGRAM

State Building - 
Major Projects

Expand the road network in accordance 
with State and Commonwealth transport 
and land use strategies that will facilitate 
the economic and regional development 
of the State

Government Goal

Aim

Facilitating
economic and
regional
development

2013

$2812012

$135

2014

$301

Most expansion, major infrastructure 
and bypass projects and is 
predominately made up of the most 
complex works we deliver.

The program includes

kpi

K
E

Y
 

P
E

R
F

O
R

M
A

N C E  I N
D

I
C

A
T

O
R

S

Average return on construction expenditure  

% of contracts completed on time

% of contracts completed on budget

3.3 5.4

100%

75%90%

90%

2014
target

2014
actual Result







Program expenditure $m 

Canning Highway and Kintail Road
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State
Development

PROGRAM

State Building - 
Major Projects

Expand the road network in accordance 
with State and Commonwealth transport 
and land use strategies that will facilitate 
the economic and regional development 
of the State

Government Goal

Aim

Facilitating
economic and
regional
development

2013

$2812012

$135

2014

$301

Most expansion, major infrastructure 
and bypass projects and is 
predominately made up of the most 
complex works we deliver.

The program includes
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Average return on construction expenditure  

% of contracts completed on time

% of contracts completed on budget

3.3 5.4

100%

75%90%

90%

2014
target

2014
actual Result
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Key projects STATE DEVELOPMENT

Project Total Project 
Cost

($ million)

2013-14
Cost

($ million)

Completion Date Description

Goldfi elds-Esperance Region

Esperance Port Access Corridor 120.0 44.2 June 2014
Replace two level crossings with grade separated crossings; construct a bridge linking 
Twilight Beach Road to the Esplanade, a railway tunnel under Harbour Road and a bridge 
connection between Harbour Road and Johns Street

Metropolitan Region

Graham Farmer Freeway  Tunnel 3rd Lane 
and Mitchell Freeway Widening

57.0 28.0 June 2014
Widen Graham Farmer Freeway to three lanes. Widen, resurface and reconfi gure Mitchell 
Freeway and construct a link road from the Loftus Street exit connecting Mitchell Freeway 
northbound left lane

Mitchell Freeway Extension (Burns Beach 
to Hester Avenue)

392.0 2.8 December 2017
Develop an ultimate concept, a project scope concept and undertake investigations and 
clearances (geotechnical, environmental and heritage)

Pilbara Region

Great Northern Highway Realignment (Port 
Hedland)

220.0 130.8 June 2014
Realign 8km of Great Northern Highway to the North and West of the Wedgefi eld 
Industrial Area. Construct a grade separated interchange, a low level road bridge over 
South West Creek and a road over rail bridge

• Construction and sealing of various sections of Goldfi elds Highway between Wiluna 
and Meekatharra.

• Commence project development for the Perth Freight Link Project which includes 
the extension of Roe Highway from Kwinana Freeway to Stock Road, the upgrade of 
Stock Road and upgrade of Leach Highway.

• Continue project development and commence construction to extend the Mitchell 
Freeway from Burns Beach Road to Hester Avenue.

• Continue project development activities associated with the Perth Darwin National 
Highway – Swan Valley Bypass project and commence construction.

Looking ahead
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The mining boom, growth in 
agricultural production and 
an increase in population is 
good news for the economy 
however it can have serious 
implications on road 
e�  ciency, safety and local 
amenities for some of our key 
regional areas.

The Esperance Port Access Corridor Project 
addressed these potential issues and improved 
safety for all road and rail users, including cyclists 
and pedestrians within the Township.  

O�  cially opened in April 2014, construction involved 
removing two level rail crossings, improving freight 
access into the Port and connecting two urban 
areas of Esperance by the construction of two 
new bridges over the corridor and a pedestrian 
underpass below Harbour Road and the railway.

The project has promoted local employment and 
growth of the local economy.  It involved more 
than 815,000 hours of work, generated a local 
spend of $25 million and will:

• Signifi cantly improve safety for all road and 
railway users, including cyclists and pedestrians 
by eliminating road and railway confl icts

• Enhance community access across the 
transport corridor through the construction of 
grade-separated crossings

• Provide infrastructure that supports the 
economic and regional development of the 
Town of Esperance and the Esperance Port 

• Reduce road freight costs
• Cater for an effi  cient and cost eff ective increase 

in the transport corridor’s capacity.

Key outcomes
Improve safety for road and railway 

users, enhance community access, 

increase transport corridor capacity. 

Project value
$120 million

Date completed
April 2014

Esperance 
Port Access 

Esperance Port Access Corridor
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Tra�  c on the Port to South 
Hedland link has grown by 
25% over the past three years 
and is currently servicing 
about 15,000 vehicles each 
day. This growth is creating 
increased confl ict between 
heavy haulage vehicles and 
local tra�  c and often causes 
delays at major intersections.

To cope with this demand and improve safety and 
e�  ciency on the local road network, the $262 
million Great Northern Highway Realignment project 
was undertaken. 

Completed in mid-2014, the realignment eliminates 
interactions between heavy commercial vehicles 
and light commuter tra�  c, improves access to the 
new port and harbour area and enhances tra�  c fl ow 
between Port and South Hedland.

The realignment of the highway around the busy 
Wedgefi eld industrial area included the construction 
of a new carriageway and major interchange, new 
access roads and bridges, the installation of various 
public art and mangrove regeneration.

The project is complemented by an Intelligent 
Transport System that will feature an early warning 
system for road train operators approaching a key 
intersection on the highway which will minimise the 
need for emergency braking by heavy vehicles.

The project used:

• 350,000 square metres of geo-synthetic 
material to stabilise foundations

• 10km of drainage pipes
• 800,000 litres of bitumen
• 960 tonnes of reinforcing steel
• More than 3000 square metres of

anti-gra�  ti coatings

Key outcomes
Eliminates interactions between 

heavy commercial vehicles and light 

commuter tra�  c; improve access to 

the Port; enhance tra�  c fl ow. 

Project value
$262 million

Status
Complete

Great 
Northern 
Highway 

realignment

Maintenance
PROGRAM

Stronger Focus on 
the Regions

Maintain the existing road and bridge 
network by maximising asset life and 
minimising whole of life costs.

Government Goal

Aim

Providing a
well maintained
road network

2013

$748

2012

$694

2014

$789
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% Community Satisfaction road maintenance

% Preventative maintenance indicator

Average $ cost of network maintenance
per lane kilometre of road network

90% 90%

8125

86%84%

7900

2014
target

2014
actual Result







Program expenditure $m 

Maintenance of:

All road, bridge and ancillary assets

Road verges and reserves with work 
including routine and periodic 
maintenance and reconstruction 
where the primary reason is due to 
pavement failure.

The program includes

Great North Highway Realignment
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Maintenance
PROGRAM

Stronger Focus on 
the Regions

Maintain the existing road and bridge 
network by maximising asset life and 
minimising whole of life costs.

Government Goal

Aim

Providing a
well maintained
road network

2013

$748

2012

$694

2014

$789
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% Community Satisfaction road maintenance

% Preventative maintenance indicator

Average $ cost of network maintenance
per lane kilometre of road network

90% 90%

8125

86%84%

7900

2014
target

2014
actual Result







Program expenditure $m 

Maintenance of:

All road, bridge and ancillary assets

Road verges and reserves with work 
including routine and periodic 
maintenance and reconstruction 
where the primary reason is due to 
pavement failure.

The program includes
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Key projects MAINTENANCE PROGRAM

Project Total Project 
Cost ($ million)

2013-14 Cost
($ million)

Completion
Date

Description

Goldfi elds-Esperance Region

Regional Project Maintenance 19.9 19.9 June 2014 Maintenance of network

Various State Roads 3.4 3.4 June 2014 Reseal and resurfacing works

Great Southern Region

Elleker Bridge Replacement 2.3 2.1 June 2014 Replace bridge over Elleker Creek on Elleker Grasmere Road 

Regional Project Maintenance 15.2 16.3 June 2014 Maintenance of network

Various State Roads 5.9 6.0 June 2014 Reseal and resurfacing works

Kimberley Region

Regional Project Maintenance 24.7 24.7 June 2014 Maintenance of network

Various State Roads 3.6 3.7 June 2014 Reseal and resurfacing works

Metropolitan Region

Regional Project Maintenance 44.0 44.7 June 2014 Maintenance of network

Various State Roads 12.1 11.8 June 2014 Reseal and resurfacing works

Mid-West-Gascoyne Region*

Regional Project Maintenance 45.0 46.2 June 2014 Maintenance of network

Various State Roads 6.2 6.2 June 2014 Reseal and resurfacing works

Pilbara Region

Regional Project Maintenance 28.8 29.1 June 2014 Maintenance of network

Various State Roads 2.4 2.4 June 2014 Reseal and resurfacing works

South West Region

Bussell Highway Rehabilitation 2.0 2.0 November 2013 Full width base course rehabilitation for various sections of the Highway.

Regional Project Maintenance 20.9 23.2 June 2014 Maintenance of network

Various State Roads 5.4 6.0 June 2014 Reseal and resurfacing works

Wheatbelt Region*

Regional Project Maintenance 37.2 38.3 June 2014 Maintenance of network

Various State Roads 13.2 13.1 June 2014 Reseal and resurfacing works

*Figures have been combined for various regions as they operate under one Integrated Service Arrangement (ISA) for maintenance works

• Maintenance of the State road network through the continuing operation of the 
Integrated Service Arrangements.

Looking aheadLooking ahead
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The development of the 
Maintenance Management 
Information System (MMIS) is 
a fi rst for Main Roads resulting 
in a streamlined, integrated 
system that helps capture, 
manage, deliver and monitor 
maintenance works across our 
road network. 

The system provides two interfaces based on 
the needs of the user – a desktop application for 
maintenance planners and maintenance and asset 
managers and a touch screen application used by 
fi eld crew undertaking a range of road maintenance 
activities.

The successful State wide roll out of MMIS has 
resulted in tangible benefi ts across the organisation 
including:

• A standardised corporate view of maintenance 
management information across the State

• Use of consistent State based Road 
Maintenance Intervention Protocols (RMIPs) and 
standardised lists of defects and treatments

• A sustainable system support knowledge base 
achieved through regionally based group of 
super users which makes the training of new 
people easier

• An ability to seamlessly integrate with other 
corporate systems

In addition MMIS supports:

• Eff ective management of the road asset 
through the identifi cation, prioritisation and 
planning of maintenance work

• Identifi cation of overdue resurfacing and 
rebuilding maintenance works 

• Accurate forecasting of when to do planned 
maintenance to minimise cost over the life of 
the road network 

• Improved and updated technical knowledge 
and skills to enable better road management

Used by over 300 road crew and o�  ce maintenance 
sta�  in the regions, MMIS is amongst the fi rst of 
several planned management systems that will help 
us deliver better services to the community. The 
upcoming CONNECT and SPARKS systems will 
work alongside MMIS to capture customer feedback 
about faults on the network in real time, helping 
us mobilise our services and fi x issues across our 
network quickly and safely with minimal disruption 
to road users.

Key outcomes
Provides an integrated, standardised 

view of maintenance management 

information across the State 

Improving 
Maintenance 
Management

Status
In progress

Maintenance Management Information System
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2013

$552012

$33

2014

$54

Remote access roads

Pedestrian and bicycle rider access

Improved access and mobility for those 
with disabilities

Integrated public transport initiatives

Improved amenities such as information 
bays, noise attenuation and landscaping

Provides infrastructure
including
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% of the year that 100% of the Main Roads’
State road network is available

% Community satisfaction with
cycleways and pedestrian facilities

% of contracts completed on budget

85% 96%

75%

85%90%

90%

2014
target

2014
actual Result







Program expenditure $m 

Community
Access
PROGRAM

Social and Environmental 
Responsibility

Improve personal mobility and access 
needs on the road network

Aim

Government Goal

Improving 
community 
access and 
roadside amenity
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2013

$552012

$33

2014

$54

Remote access roads

Pedestrian and bicycle rider access

Improved access and mobility for those 
with disabilities

Integrated public transport initiatives

Improved amenities such as information 
bays, noise attenuation and landscaping

Provides infrastructure
including
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Program expenditure $m 

Community
Access
PROGRAM

Social and Environmental 
Responsibility

Improve personal mobility and access 
needs on the road network

Aim

Government Goal

Improving 
community 
access and 
roadside amenity

Project Total Project 
Cost ($ million)

2013-14 Cost 
($ million)

Completion
Date

Description

Gascoyne Region

Carnarvon Horticultural Levees 50.0 29.9 July 2014
Construct levees to mitigate damage from fl ooding of the Gascoyne River in the 
Horticultural Area on behalf of the Department of Water

Kimberley Region

Barnett Capping
Gibb River Road 

0.6 0.6 July 2014
Construct 14 km of unsealed base course to existing gravel road formation. Improve 
existing unsealed wearing surface.

Metropolitan Region

New Perth Stadium - Swan River Foot 
Bridge

54.0 0.3 June 2017
Design and construct pedestrian bridge across the Swan River associated with the 
Stadium.

Principal Shared Paths 29.0 6.0 June 2017
Construct Principal Shared Paths under Western Australian Bicycle Network Plan on 
behalf of Department of Transport.

Mid West Region

Great Northern Highway 0.8 0.8 June 2014 Construct heavy vehicle parking bay, including adjoining 24 hour rest area.

• Continue undertaking various improvement works on the Gibb River Road including 
gravel re-sheeting and drainage improvements.

• Gravel re-sheeting and drainage improvements on Great Central Road between 
Laverton and Docker River.

• Continue sealing various sections of the Broome-Cape Leveque Road.

• Continue various upgrade works on remote access roads.

Looking ahead

Key projects COMMUNITY ACCESS
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The Western Australian 
Bicycle Network Plan (WABN) 
2014-2031, guides the 
expansion of metropolitan 
and regional cycling facilities 
to encourage commuters to 
put down their car keys and 
get on a bicycle.

Delivering infrastructure that will meet the growing 
demand for cycling is a key component of the 
WABN which outlines the importance of an 
expanded Principle Shared Path (PSP) network.

A PSP network is a system of interlinked, high quality 
share paths; generally located along freeways, 
highways and rail reserves. The network allows 
bicycle riders to travel signifi cant distances quickly, 
directly and with minimal disruptions.

The Kwinana Freeway is the fi rst section of our 
network to undergo a PSP expansion as part of the 
WABN Plan. Undertaken in two stages, work has 
been completed on Stage One with Stage Two to be 
reopened in late 2014.

Stage One: Thelma Street to Hardy Street

This section of the PSP is the most tra�  cked in WA. 
Utilised by over 3000 bike riders a day, use of the 
path is growing at over 7% per annum.

The long term life of the PSP was also ensured 
during the expansion with the reconstruction of the 
river wall near the Judd Street Bridge that repaired 
signifi cant erosion that had occurred over the years 
but also minimises river overfl ow in high tidal and 
severe weather conditions.

Stage Two: Hardy Street to the Narrows Bridge

Beginning in March 2014 Stage Two has taken 
longer than expected due to the discovery that the 
existing river wall was structurally unsound. This led 
to a full structural re-design with sheet piling used to 
create a safe and long term structure to support the 
PSP and adjacent freeway.

The expanded Kwinana Freeway PSP has improved 
mobility and safety for both pedestrians and bicycle 
riders, improved access for maintenance vehicles 
and minimised future PSP damage. 

Key outcomes
Improved safety and access for 

pedestrians and bicycle riders. 

Bicycle 
network 

expansion

Status
Stage One complete, Stage Two to 

reopen in late 2014

O�ce of
Road Safety

PROGRAM

Results based 
service delivery

Improve coordination and community 
awareness of road safety in Western 
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The activities of the O�ce of Road Safety 
and involves developing, coordinating, 
promoting and monitoring the States 
road safety strategy, Toward Zero.
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Road Trauma Trust Account

As the organisation supporting the Minister for 
Road Safety in the administration of the Road Safety 
Council Act (2002), the O�  ce of Road Safety (ORS) 
is responsible for managing the Road Trauma Trust 
Account (RTTA) to ensure value for money for 
road safety programs.  The RTTA receives 100% of 
speed and red light camera fi nes revenue with the 
funds then provided to agencies and organisations 
to implement priority safety projects consistent 
with the Government’s Towards Zero strategy.  The 
O�  ce monitors and reports on implementation 
and results. Together with the Road Safety Council, 
ORS promotes the Towards Zero principle of shared 
responsibility of road safety with the objective of 
signifi cantly reducing road trauma.

Towards Zero Safety Strategy

Towards Zero is the State’s road safety strategy 
endorsed by the Government.  The underlying 
philosophy of the strategy is that we do not accept 
that any human being should die or be seriously 
injured on our roads.  Realistically, we understand it 
is not practical to achieve zero fatalities on our roads 
by the year 2020, but we do not accept any death or 
serious injury as being inevitable.  

Using a Safe System approach, Towards Zero 
advocates for safe drivers in safe vehicles, travelling 
at safe speeds on safe roads.  If all cornerstones of 
the Towards Zero strategy are fully implemented, we 
have the potential to save 11,000 people from being 
killed or seriously injured between 2008 and 2020.  
That is a reduction of around 40% on the 2005 to 
2007 baseline.  For more information visit the ORS 
website -www.ors.wa.gov.au.

Road Safety Council

The Road Safety Council (RSC) is chaired by 
Professor Murray Lampard APM and includes senior 
representatives from the Departments of Transport, 
Planning, Education and Health, Main Roads, 

Western Australian Local Government Association, 
O�  ce of Road Safety, Insurance Commission of 
Western Australia, Western Australia Police and 
the Royal Automobile Club of Western Australia 
representing the State’s road users.  The Council 
serves to identify, recommend and monitor the 
e� ectiveness of measures to improve road safety 
to the Minister for Road Safety and coordinates the 
implementation of agreed initiatives.

Key Achievements
Leading Business and Project Planning to Reduce 
Road Trauma in WA

The implementation of a results orientated 
performance monitoring framework has continued 
throughout the year. There is now a dedicated 
Project Performance O�  cer tasked to improve 
processes around planning and reporting of projects, 
as well as ensuring that these projects are in line 
with the goals and objectives of Towards Zero.  The 
focus of this work and the key achievements are in 
line with recommendations from a review by the 
O�  ce of the Auditor General into the management 
of the Road Trauma Trust Account and include the 
implementation of an updated RSC Governance 
Charter and RSC Code of Conduct, as well as 
improved KPI reporting.  

Australian Fatal Road Crash Analysis

Innovative work has continued during 2013-14 to 
analyse fatal crashes that occurred on our network 
in 2012 and through forecasting, determine the 
number of fatal crashes that could be expected to be 
prevented by 2020 if treatments to State roads and 
anticipated safety improvements were implemented.   
This leading, innovative work developed with the 
generous assistance of the Trafi kverket, the Swedish 
Transport Agency found that emerging road safety 
problems will need to take account of future 
scenarios rather than just the historical crash trends.

The results indicate that up to 17 lives could be 
saved if anticipated initiatives are put in place and 
that, in most cases, factors other than extreme 
risk-taking were at play.  The greatest impact is on 
lives lost in single vehicle run-o�  road crashes, with 
continued investment in run-o�  road programs in 
regional areas. The level of aspiration under the 
State road safety strategy, Towards Zero, continues 
to be ambitious (i.e. an ultimate goal with a stretch 
performance target by 2020 to lift implementation 
above business as usual approaches).

Penalty Review

This year the WA Road Safety Minister the 
Honourable Liza Harvey MLA announced her 
intention to amend legislation to implement 
signifi cant changes to penalties for 115 road tra�  c 
o� ences under the WA Road Tra�  c Code 2000.  
While some amendments have occurred between 
2007 and 2011, in many cases the penalties had 
remained largely unchanged since 1997.

The review of penalties was based on research 
from the Centre for Accident Safety Research and 
included recommendations considered for local 
relevance by a Road Safety Council working group 
with further consideration given to community 
acceptability.  E� ective 26 September 2014, penalties 
will be increased for mobile phone o� ences, red 
light running, failure to give way (particularly to 
pedestrians) as well as o� ences relating to speeding, 
drink driving for novice drivers, non-use of restraints 
and motorcycle helmets.  A new o� ence has been 
created for deliberately altering or obscuring a 
number plate, an emerging trend that enables drivers 
to avoid speed camera detection and which features 
strongly in fuel drive o� s and organised crime.  The 
focus of these changes are on improving community 
safety, deterring illegal behaviours and reducing 
crash and injury risks.
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Stars on Cars Dealership Program

The Government committed to work in partnership 
with industry to promote the uptake of fi ve star 
safety (ANCAP) rated vehicles in the WA market.  The 
Minister for Road Safety Liza Harvey MLA obtained 
the support of three of the leading business leaders in 
the local vehicle industry.  The ORS then worked with 
the industry to develop a ‘Stars on Cars’ dealership 
program.  Commencing in June 2014 with nearly 
50 participating vehicle dealerships in the Perth 
metropolitan area, the program provides new vehicle 
dealerships with information and materials to promote 
ANCAP 5 star safety rated vehicles at the point of sale 
to purchasers.  These materials ensure consumers 
have better access to vital vehicle safety information 
when purchasing a new vehicle, and are made 
available at no cost to the dealership.  It is anticipated 
that this program will expand to more dealers across 
the metropolitan area and into the major regional 
dealerships in the 2014-15 fi nancial year.

Partnership Program

Improving and promoting road safety is a multi-
faceted task that requires a partnership approach. 
Last year ORS continued to work with various 
Government and commercial partners to promote 
road safety with the major areas of focus including:

• Regional Road Safety Industry Alliances - This 
involves supporting three existing Industry 
Alliances (located in the Pilbara, Southwest and 
the Mid-west regions) to deliver road safety 
initiatives at a regional level.  ORS are currently 
investigating interest and value in other Industry 
Alliances in the Goldfi elds Esperance region. 

• The International Drivers Initiative - From 
2014, major car rental companies were 
encouraged to display ‘Keep left’ information 
inside their hire vehicles and at their reception 
counters to remind international drivers to keep 
to the left hand side of the road in Australia.  

• The Workplace Road Safety Project - The 
previous manual system used by companies to 
create Road Safety Policies was transitioned to a 
web-based platform. Early feedback is positive.

Community Grants Program

In 2013 the Minister for Road Safety asked the ORS 
to administer the Road Safety Community Grants 
program.  Through this program, community groups 
are able to apply for grant funding for events or 
projects that met set criteria. Each application is 
assessed by a Community Grants Committee, 
led by the Road Safety Council Chair, and 
recommendations are forwarded to the Minister for 
Road Safety for approval.

The numbers:
Over the past year:

• 94 applications received
› 72 approved
› 7 not approved
› 15 pending 

Community Education Program

Budget allocations to community road safety 
education campaigns were reduced this year while 
the Government undertook a comprehensive review 
of the e� ectiveness of mass media for promoting 
road safety in Western Australia.  Once completed, 
the review will identify any gaps in the way mass 
media campaigns are developed, and also provide 
guidance and consistency with methodology and 
best practice from around Australia and the world.  

While awaiting this review, we continued with high 
priority safety campaigns to reduce speeding, drink 
driving and the promotion of safer vehicles.  

A campaign was also developed and scheduled to 
introduce the new o� ences (mobile phones and 
contravening red tra�  c signals) that would attract 
double demerits from the 2014 Easter long weekend.  
This was a fi rst for the ORS, in that all materials for 
this campaign were developed in-house, including 
the radio advertisement which was written and 
recorded by ORS sta� .

Looking Ahead
• Implement the outcome of the Government’s 

review of the road safety framework in WA.
• Implement the outcomes of the Government’s 

review of road safety mass media campaigns.
• Analyse crashes and monitor and report on 

progress to identify measures to further reduce 
serious trauma on WA roads

• Research and develop policy and programs that 
will further improve road safety outcomes on 
WA roads

• Implement agreed enhancements to road traffi  c 
penalties and to the way recidivist drink drivers 
are managed.

• Administer the Road Trauma Trust Account to 
ensure that funded projects address the priority 
crash problems on WA roads are e� ective and 
achieve value for money.

Recognition
Injury Control Council of WA

(ICCWA Awards)

• Winner – Partnership Excellence Award – 
South West Road Safety Industry Alliance 
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Alcohol is a factor in about 
one quarter of all fatal 
crashes and one in 10 serious 
injury crashes. With so many 
road users at risk, action 
needed to be taken.

In May 2014 the Minister for Road Safety, supported 
by the cross-agency Repeat Drink Driving Working 
Group, chaired by the O�  ce of Road Safety, 
introduced a Bill to establish legislation for an 
alcohol interlock scheme for Western Australia.

An alcohol interlock is a device which prevents 
a vehicle from being operated if a breath sample 
provided reads above a certain alcohol level. Major 
evaluation studies of o� ender programs have shown 
an average reduction of 64% in drink driving reo� ending 
while an alcohol interlock is fi tted.

The proposed scheme will target fi rst time high-
end and repeat drink drivers, restricting them to 
only drive a vehicle in which an approved alcohol 
interlock device has been installed.

Existing fi nes and periods of disqualifi cation 
continue to apply and those targeted will be subject 
to monthly monitoring and referral to alcohol 
treatment if found to be non-compliant.  

This is a signifi cant milestone and is testament to 
the work of many Western Australian road safety 
practitioners over an extended period.  The ORS is 
working closely with the Department of Transport 
which has lead responsibility for implementation.  

Debate on this legislation is expected in the second 
half of 2014, with implementation of the scheme 
anticipated in early 2016.

Key outcomes
Reduce the incidence of fatal 

crashes and serious injury crashes 

caused by high end and repeat 

drink drivers .

Introducing 
Alcohol 

Interlocks

Status
In progress
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Management
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associated with
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be allocated to a specific road project
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Tra�  c Operations Achievements
Our Tra�  c Operations Centre (TOC) is responsible 
for monitoring and managing the Perth Metropolitan 
road network and is the central contact point for real 
time tra�  c information across the state.  

We use Intelligent Transport Systems devices such as 
Variable Message Signs and Closed Circuit Television 
Cameras (CCTV) to ensure the e�  ciency of the road 
network during peak commuter travel times, special 
events and unplanned incidents.

The numbers:
We coordinate and manage:

• 940 sets of traffi  c signals
• 273 CCTV cameras 
• 65 cameras in the Northbridge tunnel
• 24 web dedicated cameras
• 25 Variable Message Signs  

Incident Response Service

Our Incident Response Service (IRS) deploys specially 
trained, mobile road crews on Perth’s freeways and 
CBD roads to provide quick clearance solutions and 
tra�  c control for road hazards such as breakdowns, 
crashes and spillages helping to restore normal 
tra�  c conditions as quickly as possible.

Over the past year the IRS have responded to a total 
of 1650 call-outs including 326 breakdowns and 
324 debris removals.

For further information about the service visit our website.

Road Safety Support Achievements
A range of detailed Road Safety procedures have 
been developed and other forms and policies have 
been updated to provide improved support and 
coordination across the State. These, along with a 
range of policies, guidelines and safety tools that 
may be of use to practitioners and the community 
are available on our website.

Crash Investigations

The numbers:
Over the past year:

• 127 preliminary fatal crash investigations 
undertaken.
› 27 comprehensive full reports completed. 

• 53 preliminary investigations of serious 
casualty crashes undertaken.
› 5 full reports completed .

Our Crash investigation Policy and Application 
guidelines have been reviewed and now include 
Close Out for actions and court appearances.  
Administration Guidelines are also under 
development which will improve knowledge and 
uniformity of reporting across Main Roads.

Tra�  c Management

A number of initiatives were rolled out during the 
year to improve the standard of tra�  c management 
across the State. One such initiative was an internal 
educational presentation developed and delivered to 
our regional o�  ces. The presentation was designed 
to increase knowledge of the Tra�  c Management 
Code of Practice and other tra�  c management 
initiatives and requirements. 

We have also developed a nationally recognised 
course in Truck/Trailer-Mounted Attenuator (TMA) 
Operation. 

TMAs are the truck mounted energy absorbing 
devices which are positioned behind road work 
crews to protect them from collisions by out of 
control vehicles. 

This course will help provide industry with the 
knowledge and skills to operate TMAs on public 
roads as part of a traffic management road crew, 
improving the safety of both road workers and 
road users. 

Recognition
WA Transport and Logistics Awards

• Winner – Young Professional of the Year – Maria Sarubin, 
Asset Manager Regional Services

• High Commendation – Young Professional of the Year – 
Kyran Thorpe, Delivery Manager Regional Services 

The Program includes activities of our:

• Tra�  c Operations Centre
• Road Safety Support
• Heavy Vehicle Services

• Planning and Technical Services
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Exercise “Eastern-Portal” 

In mid-2013 Main Roads led a multi-agency tactical 
desktop exercise comprised of representatives from 
WA Police, Fire and Emergency Services, St John 
Ambulance, Lend Lease and our operational and 
executive sta� .

Participants were given a rare opportunity to 
learn from the experiences of key note speaker 
Superintendent Glen Weir from Victoria Police who 
was involved in the 2007 Burnley Tunnel Disaster.  

The aim of the exercise was to test Main Roads 
preparedness in the event of a major incident in 
the Northbridge Tunnel as we converted to its new 
three lane confi guration. 

The Scenario Directing sta�  created the exercise 
in real-time and focused on features unique to our 
Tunnel including access and egress options, casualty 
scenarios and best practice recovery e� orts.  The 
setup of e� ective tra�  c management was a key 
element of the exercise with a focus on minimising 
the impact to the surrounding road network whilst 
safeguarding the emergency response performance. 

A post exercise analysis led to a number of key 
recommendations aimed at improving processes 
across all areas concerning incident management, 
resulting in improved interagency communications 
and new systems training for Lend Lease sta� .

Heavy Vehicles Achievements 
In recognition of the crucial role played by the 
freight and logistics industry in supporting and 
encouraging the WA economy, Heavy Vehicle 
Services (HVS) was established as a separate 
directorate within Main Roads in 2014.

Vehicles over 19m long, 4.3m high, 2.5m wide 
or over 42.5 tonnes gross mass are classed as 
Restricted Access Vehicles (RAVs).  Heavy Vehicle 
Services (HVS) regulates RAV access to the 

States road network via a system of notices and 
permits. HVS is at the forefront of developing 
and implementing measures aimed at improving 
e�  ciency, road safety, community amenity and the 
preservation of road infrastructure.

The following are some of the initiatives progressed 
by HVS over the past 12 months.

Over-Size, Over-Mass Unit

The Over-Size, Over-Mass (OSOM) Unit provides 
the heavy vehicle industry with a centralised point 
of contact to process permit applications and 
approvals required to conduct over-size, over-
mass movements.  Designed around the needs of 
industry, the Unit facilitates approvals for a wide 
variety and volume of OSOM movements, providing 
industry with the confi dence to commit to planned 
ventures, securing jobs and supporting the growth 
of the Western Australian economy.

The Unit’s cost-recovery business model provides 
operators with fi scal certainty and the ability to 
budget e� ectively, as well as relieving taxpayers of 
the requirement to underwrite services provided to 
commercial industry.

The OSOM Unit has been providing far-reaching 
benefi ts by:

• Centralising the process of obtaining an over-
size load permit, booking a tra�  c escort and 
obtaining referral to power utilities for power 
line clearance

• Providing traffi  c escort  wardens who are 
fl exibly deployed according to demand

• Providing industry with a single point of contact 
for heavy vehicle enquiries, extended hours of 
service and fi rst point of contact issue resolution 
through the creation of the Heavy Vehicle 
Helpdesk (138 HVO)

• Undergrounding overhead power lines, 
removing the need for line-lifting services to 
accommodate high loads.  

Heavy Vehicle Safety Program

The number of incidents involving heavy vehicles 
has brought into focus a need to develop further 
heavy vehicle road safety initiatives. 

In response, we have identifi ed a three tier Heavy 
Vehicle Safety Program aimed at contributing 
towards the State’s Towards Zero strategy.

These are:

• Public Awareness – Improving the 
understanding on the general motoring public 
when interacting with heavy vehicles on the 
road network. A postcard campaign aimed at 
the general road users reinforced the need to 
adopt safe driving behaviours when interacting 
with heavy vehicles was undertaken in 2013 to 
kick o�  the program.

• Compliance –Increasing the number 
of targeting roadblocks and conducting 
information sessions regarding the Chain of 
Responsibility (CoR) legislation and fatigue.

• Industry Education, Research and 
Technology - Undertaking industry research 
and investigating emerging technologies that 
address driver/operator safety issues.

Compliance

We are responsible for monitoring and improving 
heavy vehicle compliance outcomes of road safety 
and infrastructure protection, minimising the 
impact of road transport on the community, and 
reducing unfair competitive advantage through non-
compliance.  

In line with our responsibility, our Transport 
Inspectors provided support to WA Police for 
Austrans, the national heavy vehicle enforcement 
campaign, which took place throughout Western 
Australia from 12 May to 8 June 2014.
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This multi-jurisdictional approach by enforcement 
agencies included Worksafe, Comcare Department 
of Mines and Petroleum, Transport and Fisheries to 
target heavy vehicles for road breaches including, 
mass, dimension, load restraint, permit breaches, 
speeding, unroadworthy vehicles and unlicensed 
drivers, vehicles and drug or drink driving o� ences.

Industry Reform 

We participate in various national reform initiatives 
which will play a major role in shaping the transport 
industry of the future.  These include:

• Performance Based Standards (PBS) – The 
standards will focus on how well a vehicle 
behaves on the road, rather than focussing 
purely on their length or mass. It allows industry 
additional opportunities to innovate, resulting 
in improved productivity for a given freight task, 
safer performance and the least possible e� ects 
on roads and bridges. 

• Intelligent Access Program (IAP) – The 
program will promote a move towards self-
regulation, giving operators’ enhanced access 
to the road network in return for the monitoring 
of their compliance with access conditions 
using in-vehicle communications technology.

Pilot Accreditation 

Regulatory arrangements for the accreditation of 
pilots is currently split across three government 
agencies and training providers. This fragmented 
multi-agency approach causes confusion to Pilots 
and the broader transport industry and community. 
We are working towards becoming the sole agency 
responsible for a new pilot accreditation scheme, 
which will include a regulatory framework to 
incorporate all relevant legislation, regulations and 
administrative requirements for pilots in Western 
Australia.  The new scheme will endeavour to 
reduce the regulatory and administrative red tape 
that currently exists with the multi-agency system. 

Harvest Mass Management Scheme

A Harvest Mass Management Scheme (HMMS) has 
operated in Western Australia since the 2009 harvest 
season to provide fl exibility in the movement of 
grain direct from paddock to receival facilities.  The 
scheme was developed to encourage transport 
operators to load grain to normal levels, but allows 
an extra mass concession of up to 10% to cater 
for the variability of loading.  The HMMS was 
initially operated on a trial basis with post-harvest 
performance reviews, which resulted in refi nements 
being made to the business rules to discourage 
some loading practices not in accord with the intent 
of the scheme.  As an outcome of the review, the 
Minister approved the permanent adoption of the 
HMMS.  The annual review of loading data following 
the 2013 harvest has confi rmed the State’s farming 
community’s strong support for the scheme, with 
continuing high levels of compliance.

Accredited Mass Management Scheme 

We are at the forefront of developing an extra 
mass management scheme, replacing the existing 
20-year-old framework which is in need of reform.

Recommended by the Ministerial Heavy Vehicle 
Advisory Panel, the new Accredited Mass 
Management Scheme (AMMS) will be rolled out in 
two stages.  Stage One involves the amalgamation 
of the Certifi ed Mass Management Scheme and the 
Concessional Loading Bulk Products Scheme and 
development of a new Accreditation Module.  Stage 
Two will consolidate and include more industry-
specifi c mass schemes, including the Livestock 
Concessional Loading Scheme and the Import and 
Export Container Scheme.

Underpinning the proposed arrangements will be 
a new Mass Management module aligned with WA 
Heavy Vehicle Accreditation (WAHVA).  Currently, 
WAHVA comprises maintenance and fatigue 
management modules.  Prescribing standards 
for ensuring and demonstrating compliance with 
mass and loading requirements are included in the 
provisions of the Road Tra�  c (Vehicles) Act 2012.

Planning and Technical 
Achievements 
Bridge Management System (BMS) 

The creation of the innovative Bridge Management 
System (BMS) signals a signifi cant improvement in 
the way we manage and maintain road bridges.

First released in September 2011, the BMS is made 
up of a series of modules that assist our Regions and 
bridge sta�  to undertake asset management in an 
more e� ective, e�  cient and transparent manner.

The work undertaken in enhancing the system over 
the last twelve months included:

• Completion of a Program Management Module 
• Upgraded Bridge Enquiry Module 
• Photo management
• Improvements in the Heavy Vehicles Module 

ANNUAL REPORT

2014
54 M A I N  R O A D S  W E S T E R N  A U S T R A L I A

MainRoads2014-AnnualReport-FINAL.indd   54 16/09/2014   11:03:31 AM



NorthLink 

The Perth-Darwin National Highway (PDNH) is an 
important national route connecting Perth with the 
north west of Western Australia and the Northern 
Territory. In the coming years, urban growth and 
other developments in the north east corridor of 
the Perth metropolitan area and beyond is forecast 
to increase tra�  c congestion and reduce social 
amenity and the serviceability of the existing 
national highway route. As a result, the need to plan 
for a new road between Reid Highway and Muchea 
was identifi ed and detailed planning was initiated in 
the late 1990s. 

We recently completed the planning for a key 
section of the PDNH, previously referred to as the 
Swan Valley Bypass and more recently as NorthLink. 
Planning was undertaken in two sections which 
included:

• The Northern Section (Maralla Road Bullsbrook 
to Muchea) - This involved  an alignment 
defi nition planning study, development of a 
preferred ultimate planning design concept 
and defi nition of an associated reservation in 
consultation with key stakeholders. Since the 
completion of the planning study, we have 
provided technical support for the Metropolitan 
Region Scheme (MRS) amendment process to 
include the required road reservation for this 
section of the highway

• The Southern Section (Reid Highway to Maralla 
Road) –A strategic road network review was 
completed. It concluded that a more direct 
connection of the PDNH with Tonkin Highway 
would provide signifi cant benefi ts. Following the 
review, a major alignment defi nition planning 
study devised an ultimate planning design 
concept and defi ned the reservation. 

More information about NorthLink can be found on 
our website.

New Multi-Modal transport model – ROM24. 

Transportation decision-makers often confront 
di�  cult questions and must make informed choices. 
How will our regional and local transportation 
system perform 30 years into the future? What 
policies or investments could infl uence this 
performance? 

Strategic transport models support decision-making 
by forecasting how a city’s travel demand will adjust 
in response to land use changes, investments in 
network infrastructure or policy decisions.

ROM24 is the latest development to the strategic 
transport model known as ROM which has operated 
since the 1970s.  Major enhancements incorporated 
into ROM24 include:

• Mode choice modelling providing a new 
capability to model travel demand share across 
the fi ve major transport modes: car driver, car 
passenger, walking, cycling and public transport.

• Improved tra�  c assignment that incorporates 
an innovative tra�  c assignment algorithm 
to more accurately model the impact of 
congestion on our road network 

• True shape networks that integrate with 
our GIS systems to provide a true shape 
representation of our road network   

These enhancements will signifi cantly improve 
our modelling capability to help us forecast 
performance and demand to guide our decision 
making in the future.

Innovative Ramp Solutions

Traversing the busy Graham Farmer Freeway can 
sometimes prove challenging for even the most 
experienced driver. To make the journey safer and 
easier for road users, we designed and constructed 
an innovative ramp arrangement involving a new 
on-ramp from the Northbridge tunnel to the 
northbound Mitchell Freeway. 

The new ramp arrangement enables exiting tra�  c 
to be in the left-hand lane resulting in the ability 
to avoid a dangerous and disruptive weave across 
multiple lanes of tra�  c.  During the afternoon peak 
period approximately 25% of tra�  c exiting the 
Graham Farmer Freeway utilises either the Vincent 
Street or Powis Street exits.

The lateral thinking, low-cost innovation has led to a 
number of benefi ts for motorists including:

• Simplifi ed exiting - eliminating the weave 
between the Graham Farmer Freeway entry to 
Mitchell Freeway and the Vincent Street exit.  
Vehicles no longer need to “force” their way 
across multiple lanes of tra�  c.

• Improved safety – by eliminating the need to 
change lanes, the potential for side-swipe and 
rear end crashes is signifi cantly reduced

Looking Ahead
• Develop a process to identify the most suitable 

intersection treatment to use during road 
projects.

• Trial the use of telematics technology to 
monitor and enhance heavy vehicle access to 
the State’s road network.

• Implement an internationally recognised Road 
Safety Management system to ensure optimal 
road safety outcomes are achieved.

• Investigate the possible implementation of All 
Lane Running on Kwinana Freeway northbound 
from Canning Highway to Narrows Bridge.

• Trial the use of pedestrian countdown timers at 
tra�  c signals (PCaTS). For further information 
about the trial, visit our website. 

• Develop an eff ective timing review and 
auditing programme for tra�  c signals to relieve 
congestion.
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Regulating access to WA’s 
road network for Restricted 
Access Vehicles (RAVs) 
requires striking a balance 
between the development 
and maintenance of RAV 
networks, road safety, 
infrastructure protection 
and the productivity of the 
transport industry.  

Suitable Road Train Assembly Areas (RTAAs) are 
provided at the end points of RAV networks, to 
enable transport operators to break-down their 
vehicle combinations to an appropriate dimension 
in order to continue travelling on the public road 
network.  Without an RTAA in a strategic location, 
transport operators without access to a local 
depot would need to break-down their vehicle 
combinations on the road side, posing safety issues 
for them and other road users.

In mid-2014, we opened our latest Road Train 
Assembly Area on Willinge Drive, Picton, 
approximately 420 metres north of the Bunbury 
Outer Ring Road roundabout.

The works involved the construction of 20 road 
train assembly bays, access and circulating roads, 
miscellaneous parking, lighting and fencing.  The 
new RTAA enables the 36.5 metre road train network 
to be extended to allow these vehicle combinations 
to enter and exit the Greater Bunbury area. 

Access to vehicles up to 36.5m in length is now 
available from Perth to the new RTAA via Roe 
Highway, Kwinana Freeway and Forrest Highway.  
All roads in the Bunbury Region with interim 36.5m 
access have been added to the appropriate RAV 
network.

The Bunbury RTAA was jointly funded by the 
Commonwealth and State on an 80:20 basis using 
some project savings from the recently joint funded 
Bunbury Port Access Project.

Focus
Access, productivity improvements, 

meeting the needs of the freight 

and logistics industry.

Latest road 
train assembly 

area boosts 
freight industry 

productivity

Status
Complete

Road Train Assembly Area
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We rely on a variety of strong support services to ensure that the 
delivery of our projects and ongoing operations and management 
of the road network are undertaken in a conscious, considered and 
integrated way.

To achieve this, we promote an agency-wide focus on the management of environmental 
practices, the cultivation of strong, reciprocal relationships with our customers and 
stakeholders and the ongoing development, safety, health and wellbeing of our employees.

Our
business
activities

Environmenal 
Management

Page 58

Developing
Capabilities

Page 68

Safety, Health
and Wellbeing

Page 73

Enhancing
Relationships

Page 63
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Environmental 
Management 

Protect the environmental values of road reserves, minimise 
impacts on the natural environment, reduce energy 
consumption and waste and conserve natural resources

to managing our road operations is to ensure we have an informed and 
committed workforce guided by policies and systems that recognise that 
what we do has the potential to negatively impact on Western Australia’s 
unique environment.

Aim

Our Approach 

2012 2013 2014

GRI Achievements B (GRI Checked) B (GRI Checked) G4 Core

Scope 1 and 2 Emissions  (t CO
2
) 28,368 27,949 27,274

Electricity Usage (MJ) 112,238,856 109,300,643 113,991,430

Fuel and Gas Usage (MJ) 41,623,216 49,594,750 47,708,108

Vegetation Clearing (ha) 111.6 256.4 354.1

Revegetation (ha) 116.1 239.2 292.9

Land acquired for
environmental o� sets 

$1,661 m Nothing settled $12,541 m

153 (ha) Nothing settled 2,424 (ha)

Committed 
to responsible 
environmental 
stewardship
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Our road network often adjoins natural areas and in 
some locations the road verge itself hosts remnant 
vegetation with high environmental values. 

We recognise that the management of the State 
road network involves a range of activities that 
have the potential to negatively impact on Western 
Australia unique environment. 

This inspires us to contribute to conservation of 
the State’s natural assets through avoiding impact 
where possible and by rehabilitating and enhancing 
a� ected areas.

How we stay on track and 
accountable

∞  Establishes principles of environmental 
protection, impact minimisation and 
conservation of natural resources.

The policy is implemented thorughout the 
organisation through management systems and 
processes.

∞  Addresses all business activity that has 
environmental aspects and risks

The system defi nes responsibilities, competencies, 
procedures and standards, procedures and standards, 
auditing and review.

∞  Implement a systems-based approach to 
environmental management

∞  Seek full compliance with all statutory 
environmental requirements

∞  Maintain or improve the biodiversity values of 
roadsides

∞  Minimise the impacts of noise associated with 
the road network

∞  Protect Aboriginal heritage values of road 
reserves

∞  Minimise the environmental impacts of 
materials used in road construction

∞  Maximise the e�  ciency of resources used by 
Main Roads

∞  Minimise impacts of roads on water quality

Key Achievements 
Transport Portfolio Sustainability Policy

With the creation of the Transport Portfolio the 
opportunity exists to collaborate with our portfolio 
colleagues to create a consistent, integrated approach 
to sustainability through the development of a Transport 
Portfolio Sustainability Policy.

Building on the draft policy developed during a 
stakeholder workshop hosted by Roads Australia, 
the Transport Portfolio Sustainability Policy has been 
progressed through a working group comprised of 
representatives from the Department of Transport, 
Public Transport Authority and Main Roads. The 
Policy has been approved by the Transport Portfolio 
Governance Council and is anticipated to be released in 
2014-15.

Aboriginal Heritage

We recognise Western Australia’s rich heritage of 
Aboriginal culture and our planning and development 
processes include identifying heritage sites and avoiding 
them wherever possible. Consultation with Aboriginal 
community representatives is an important step in 
understanding the extent and signifi cance of heritage 
localities, particularly when they have not yet been 
thoroughly recorded. We held four formal meetings this 
year and increased our specialists’ in-house capability 
with the appointment of a Principal Heritage Offi  cer.

Recognition
Waste Authority Infi nity Awards
• Winner – Certifi cate of Recognition for 

Landscaping and Rehabilitation – Alan Grist, 
Project/Contract Manager Regional Services 

2013 Civil Contractors Federation WA Earth 

Awards and National Earth Awards
• Winner – Category 5 – City East Alliance

Our Corporate
Environmental Policy

Our Environmental 
Management System

Our Environmental 
Objectives
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Environmental Management of Road Projects

Our revised State-wide native vegetation clearing permit 
requires compliance with a large number of conditions 
and complex processes. To make sure we address all 
elements we have: 

All projects are subject to an environmental impact 
assessment. Screening and preliminary assessment 
identifi es where more detailed fi eld studies are required 
and when impacts are likely to be signifi cant. 

The following table details the number of road projects 
and assessment level in the past three years.

Level of Environmental 
Assessment

2011 2012 2013

Number of road projects 
subjected to environmental 
screening

83 114 164

Number of road projects 
for which environmental 
impact assessment was 
conducted

44 82 97

Number of road projects 
referred for possible 
assessment under State or 
Commonwealth legislation

2 10 13

Number of road projects 
assessed under State or 
Commonwealth legislation

1 1 2

All data is based on calendar year 1 January – 31 
December

There were six instances of non-compliance reported 
this year, all related to the clearing of native vegetation. 
There were no penalties or fi nancial sanctions relating 
to the breaches and each of the non-compliances are 
being addressed through compliance improvement 
actions

Environmental 
Compliance

2011 2012 2013

Number of instances 
of environmental non-
compliance reported

4 3 6

All data is based on fi nancial year 1 July – 30 June

Carbon Reduction Plan-Climate Change 
Adaptation and Mitigation

We have developed a Carbon Reduction Plan and 
Target (5-15% reduction of 2010 levels by 2020) 
for our Scope One and Two emissions and have 
progressed a Climate Change Adaptation Plan.  
Details of various initiatives and achievements that 
reduce our emissions and energy consumption can 
be found on our website under the Climate Change 
section.  

Energy Usage and Greenhouse Gas

Scope 1 or 2 and 3 Year

GHG Type (t CO
2
) 2012 2013 2014

Fuel 2,914 3,196 3,345

Street and Tra�  c Lights 23,400 23,031 21,830

Buildings 5,378 4,993 4,561

Air Travel 513 422 318

Maintenance Fuel Use NA NA 9,038

O� sets -4,535 -1,792 -4,501

Total 27,670 29,850 34,591

Scope 1 or 2 and 3 Year

GHG Category (t CO
2
) 2012 2013 2014

Scope 1 2,803 3,052 3,209

Scope 2 25,566 24,896 24,065

Sub Total 28,368 27,949 27,274

Scope 3 3,836 3,693 11,819*

O� sets -4,535 -1,792 -4,501

Total 27,670 29,850 25,553

*Note: Maintenance Fuel Usage is a Scope 3 emission 
and a reporting regime has commenced during 2013-14.

The level of emissions is on target to achieve our 
2020 goal.  A total for our scope one and two 
emissions was to not exceed 30,817t CO

2 
which 

was achieved with our calculated emission levels of 
27,274 t CO

2.
 The ongoing positive result is due to 

initiatives rolled out as part of the Carbon Reduction 
Plan and the continued roll out of LED tra�  c signal 
lighting on the road network which now sees over 
80% of the network upgraded. Our focus for future 
reductions is from our street lighting.

Established a central review process 
which has a particular focus on 
compliance with the requirements 
of our state wide clearing permits

Commissioned an independent review 
of the main elements of our corporate 
Environmental Management System 
which identified areas for better 
alignment with business processes and 
consolidation of procedures.

Ensured all of our environmental 
specialists completed a five day 
auditing certification course, tailored 
to our specific operational business 
needs, reaffirming our commitment to 
continual improvement.

Bolstered capability through the 
appointment of a Principal Environment 
Officer Operations and two 
environmental graduates
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Sustainability Assessment in Projects 
and Operations
We’ve adopted the Infrastructure Sustainability (IS) 
rating tool, Australia’s only comprehensive rating 
system for evaluating sustainability across design, 
construction and operation of infrastructure, for our 
highest value major projects. All major infrastructure 
projects with a value over $20 million will utilise the 
IS framework as part of project development and 
evaluation. This commitment will also see at least 
two major projects undergo formal verifi cation and 
evaluation under the Infrastructure Sustainability 
Council of Australia’s rating scheme each year. 
Projects currently registered for formal verifi cation 
under IS include Gateway WA and NorthLink WA.

Resources for Road Building
Materials 

Our main objective in resource conservation is to 
minimise the environmental impacts of materials 
used in road construction. We encourage our project 
partners to recycle and reuse materials and use 
recycled and ‘environmentally labelled’ materials in all 
their activities. 

When obtaining road building materials we 
endeavour to avoid clearing natural vegetation, 
particularly high value vegetation. On-site materials 
unsuitable for use in road construction is used, 
as appropriate, for rehabilitating areas where road 
building materials have been obtained from.  

We conduct research into the use of waste materials 
such as recycled construction and demolition waste in 
construction practice, current research activities include:

∞ In-house monitoring and evaluation of pavement 
trials, such as recycled pavements tested on 
Forest Highway

∞ Western Australian Pavement Asset Research 
Centre  project into improving the performance 
of recycled asphalt mixes

∞ A joint Main Roads and Waste Authority project 
evaluating opportunities to increase the use 
of construction and demolition waste in road 
construction

∞ Exploring improving crushed recycled concrete 
blends with Curtin University 

Materials Extracted 

Indicator 2011 2012 2013

Imported road construction materials 

Sand (000s t) 735.1 482.4 881.2

Gravel (000s t) 1,161.0 1,013.0 1,187.3

Crushed rock
(000s t)

254.0 2.4 75.8

Limestone (000s t) 143.7 173.4 25.1

Aggregate (000s t) 47.6 26.3 23.0

Asphalt (000s t) 83.1 51.6 59.0

Other (000s t) 386.7 169.3 4,015.6

Kerbing, barriers, bridges and culverts

Concrete (cubic 
metres)

10,876 26,809.2 22,162.9

Other (000s t) 1.5 0.5 14.5

All data is based on calendar year 1 January – 31 
December

Resources Recycled

Indicator 2011 2012 2013

Waste materials to landfi ll

Kerbing (m) 3640 9779 11884

Pavement/footpath 
(m2)

3445 9041 5887

Existing seal (m2) 215,265 227,160 109,514

Unsuitable material 
(m3)

77,944 9,683 12,686

Other (m3) 8,943 767 1,928

Recycled materials

Total (000s t) 74.1 59.1 140.7

All data is based on calendar year 1 January – 31 
December

Water

Water is a precious resource and our State continues 
to experience the e� ects of a drying climate. To 
make sure we do our part in conserving water we 
encourage practices that reduce our impact on 
water sources including improving water e�  ciency 
and overall water use, utilising recycled water and 
avoiding the use of potable water. By prioritising the 
use of non-potable water over scheme water during 
construction we aim to ease the burden of water 
scarcity within the communities we work in. 

Property Management 

Our commitment to commissioning sustainable, 
environmentally friendly construction continued 
in this year with the completion of the Wedgefi eld 
Laboratory. 

The building incorporates solar passive design, 
insulated roof sheet, double skin insulated walls, 
e�  cient lighting, heating and cooling systems 
and a variety of other water and energy saving 
measures. These design considerations will result 
in future e�  ciencies that will reduce the cost and 
environmental impact in operating this building over 
its lifecycle.

Planning for projects at Northam (Wheatbelt 
Regional O�  ce) and the refurbishment of Don 
Aitken Centre levels 3, 4 and 6 has also commenced. 
These projects will adopt new and improved Green 
Star environmental standards prior to mandatory 
application of these standards by Building 
Management & Works, a division of the Department 
of Finance.

Working with our portfolio colleagues, we continue 
to improve environmental outcomes across the State 
through initiatives such as:

∞  Electrical infrastructure surveys 
∞  Replacement of existing equipment with more 

environmentally e�  cient models and
∞  Continued adoption of 6 star rated residential 

development to regional areas.
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• Develop an eff ective timing review and 
auditing programme for tra�  c signals to relieve 
congestion.

The western ringtail possum, 
found only in the southwest 
corner of WA, is currently 
listed as Endangered and 
consideration is now being 
given to amend its status to 
Critically Endangered.

Habitat loss and fragmentation along with road 
mortality are impacts faced by the ringtail possum 
and other wildlife across our road network. 
Preventing and reversing these impacts is becoming 
more important as the rates of wildlife extinction 
and urban development soar worldwide.

To make sure we do our part to preserve this 
precious native species, we constructed possum 
rope bridges over the recently completed Stage One 
of the Bunbury Outer Ring Road and over Caves 
Road near Busselton.

Installed in 2013, the rope bridges mitigate 
severance impacts of the new road, connecting 
fauna habitat and reducing possum fatalities 
especially in known trouble spots on Caves Road 
adjacent to the Locke Nature Reserve in Busselton.

Continued monitoring of the rope bridges is 
being undertaken through an agreement with the 
University of Western Australia to determine their 
e�  cacy in mitigating the severance impacts of roads 
on arboreal fauna.

The bridges may provide critical information as 
to whether tree-dwelling animals like the western 
ringtail possums can be successfully re-connected 
when separated by roads. The study will show 
whether rope bridges truly prevent and reverse 
the impacts of roads on possums and a better 
understanding of the ways to minimise road 
construction impacts on wildlife in general.

Possum 
Bridge

Key outcomes
Severance impacts of Bunbury Outer Ring 

Road will be mitigated and possum fatalities 

on Caves Road reduced

Status
Complete

Next step
Studies into the e� ectiveness of the bridge will 

o� er us a better understanding of the ways 

to minimise road construction impacts on 

arboreal wildlife.  

Western Ringtail Possum
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To make roads work for all road users in Western Australia by 
creating and sustaining an open, supportive and responsive 
organisation.

• Building strong relationships with our stakeholders that foster a 
collaborative approach

• Developing internal relationships that transcend regions, directorates 
and business units

• Aligning, coordinating and cooperating towards shared, transport 
outcomes

• Demonstrating a proactive, whole of government approach

Aim

We achieve this by:

2012 2013 2014

% of our commitment to customer service delivery 94% 93% 95%

% satisfi ed with our overall performance 95% 94% 94%

Enhancing
Relationships  

Building
Strategic
Relationships
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Key Achievements 
Customer Profi ling and Segmentation

There are more cars on the road than ever before and 
in the face of increased pressure on our network we 
need to make sure road users are kept informed about 
their journey in instant, accurate, easy-to-understand 
and accessible ways.  

To deliver this service we need to understand our 
customers and adapt to improve the way those 
requirements are met.  Customer profi ling and 
segmentation is one way that will assist us to achieve 
this and last year we commenced research aimed at 
developing a comprehensive road user profi le.  

This was our fi rst step towards full customer profi ling 
and segmentation.  We analysed, demographics, 
traits, values and lifestyles to better understand 
how customers interact with our network, their 
transport choices and their behaviour. The road user 
profi les identifi ed from this research will assist in the 
development of initiatives specifi c to the needs of 
di� ering road users.

CONNECT – a Customer Relationship Management 
System

CONNECT is a new system that align and streamline 
business processes between our customer operations 
and other business areas. By integrating with other 
corporate systems it will provide a more holistic view of 
issues that our customers are experiencing, and guide 
our response to faults on the network. The fi rst phase of 
the system is focussed on improving our fault reporting 
processes with the teams who respond to and fi x 
hazards and faults on our network. 

Community Perception Survey

The Community Perception Survey (CPS) has 
been conducted annually since 1994 to track our 
performance on a range of issues such as road safety, 
cycling and pedestrian facilities and maintenance of the 
road network.  

This year we conducted the survey in April, the 
following are the headline results:

Satisfaction with: 2012 2013 2014

Our overall 
performance

95% 94% 94%

Road Safety 92% 94% 95%

Provision of cycle ways 
& pedestrian facilities

76% 83% 90%

Road maintenance 90% 84% 93%

The survey identifi ed that key priority areas for:

∞ Metropolitan road users are tra�  c congestion, 
fi xing hazards and faults quickly, constructing new 
roads and providing extra lanes to existing roads

∞ Regional road users are safety resulting in a 
greater demand for safer road edges and more 
space and opportunity for overtaking.

User Satisfaction Index

The Austroads USI is a single number rating out of 
fi ve that indicates the extent to which road users are 
satisfi ed with the wider road network in Australia and 
New Zealand.

Measured every three years the Austroads USI looks at 
the wider road network system including local roads 
and elements that contribute to its e�  ciency such as 
the public transport system.

This year, we coordinated the Survey which saw WA 
identifi ed as one of the strongest performing member 
agencies, ranking 2nd highest overall on the Overall 
Performance KPI and 1st overall in terms of Member 
Agency Performance. The table below shows how 
we’ve performed in the past three surveys against the 
other States and Territories. 

Year ACT NSW NT NZ

2007 3.74 2.96 3.60 3.33

2010 3.66 2.89 3.44 3.48

2013 3.91 3.34 3.86 3.67

Year QLD SA TAS VIC WA

2007 3.12 3.11 3.21 3.38 3.36

2010 3.11 3.18 3.17 3.33 3.48

2013 3.25 3.34 3.39 3.32 3.72

Customer Information Centre

Through our Customer Information Centre (CIC), 
we provide a 24 hour seven days a week information 
service to the community using a range of tools 
catering for diverse customer needs across the State.

The CIC plays an important role in state-wide incident 
management providing timely and pertinent information 
to the public and stakeholders. Cyclones, bushfi res, 
storms and major incidents kept the CIC team busy this 
year assisting communities and road users in a� ected 
areas across the State.
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In December 2013 the CIC telephony system was 
upgraded to provide a more streamlined service to 
customers. As part of the upgrade, we introduced an 
Interactive Voice Response (IVR) menu to expedite 
information gathering for callers that allows them to 
choose from a number of di� erent options to direct 
their call more e�  ciently. 

 The numbers:

Customer 
Contact 
Statistics 2012 2013 2014 Variance

Telephone 
calls 208,140 150,234 117,105 -33,129

Email 
enquiries 16,014 18,104 21,118 +3,014

Perth Twitter 
followers 3,670 10,516 25,466 +14,950

WA Roads 
Twitter 
followers 748 2,750 4,570 +1,820

The introduction of a number of self service options 
for customers has infl uenced the drop in call volumes. 
People can now fi nd the information they are looking 
for via our website, social media channels and 
associated online services including the Right Move 
Perth app and Get the Bigger Picture website.

Customer Feedback

There are a number of ways customers can provide us 
with feedback and these can be found on our website. 
All calls and emails are analysed monthly to identify 
why people contact us. The results of all of this analysis 
are used to improve information and services for 
customers by targeted improvements in online services, 
process improvements and the elimination of barriers to 
customer outcomes.

To ensure all employees have the appropriate skills 
in capturing and actioning customer feedback, a 
‘customer service’ section is included for all new 
employees during their induction. This complements 
our online training in complaints handling and the 
deliverables in the customer service charter.

Our Business Improvement Committee meets quarterly 
to monitor improvements in customer outcomes 
as a result of targeted activities around high trending 
complaints and the actions taken to eliminate or reduce 
these complaints.

The following table displays the type of feedback we’ve 
received:

Feedback Type 2012 2013 2014

Complaint 1,783 2,789 2,912

Customer Request 336 456 1,712

Compliment 154 218 273

Business Improvement 100 55 38

Total Feedback 2,373 3,518 4,935

The following table displays the top fi ve areas of 
complaints:

Category of 
complaint

2012 
(%)

2013 
(%)

2014 
(%)

Tra�  c Signals 12 10 19

Tra�  c Congestion 10 9 9

Road Works 9 9 8

Safety Issues 6 7 8

Tra�  c Management 6 7 5

For more information on our Complaints Handling 
Process, please refer to our Governance section on 
page 88.

Customer Charter Index

The Customer Charter Index incorporates a range 
of measures across the organisation which align to 
deliver our commitments to customers.  We report our 
performance against these measures quarterly on our 
website.

As we develop new services for customers, further 
measures will be added to the CCI to accurately refl ect 
our performance against our growing commitments.

The overall result is 95.4% against a target of 100%.

Social Media 

We’re constantly looking at better ways to 
communicate with our customers and realise that 
to keep in touch with the diverse travelling public we 
need to integrate our more traditional communication 
mediums with social media channels. To guide this 
integration we have developed a Social Media strategy 
that will drive the delivery of clear and consistent 
messages to our customers and increase public 
awareness of our services to improve customer 
engagement. Our fi rst forays into the social media 
space have been successful and other channels are 
currently being explored.

Twitter

Twitter continues to be a highly successful method of 
communication for the delivery of incident and tra�  c 
information on our road network. We have a following, 
which to our knowledge is unmatched by any other 
road agency in Australia. 

The numbers:
• Perth_Traffi  c  - 25,466 followers
• WA Roads - 4,570 followers
• Average Tweets per month - 860  

Environmental 
Compliance

2011 2012 2013

Number of instances 
of environmental non-
compliance reported

4 3 6

All data is based on fi nancial year 1 July – 30 June
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YouTube

To help our customers gain a greater understanding and 
awareness of signifi cant changes to our services and 
network, we now have a You Tube channel. As at the 
end of June 2014, there were 14 videos viewed just over 
21,000 times. This is a new channel of communication 
that we will continue to explore.

Online Tra�  c Cameras

Our online tra�  c cameras deliver video streams from 
our Tra�  c Operations Centre to TV stations for the 
use in their news broadcasts.  Initially there will only be 
4 streams out of a selection of 6 camera feeds from 
our tra�  c camera network.  This will be expanded to 
include all camera feeds in the Perth metropolitan area 
where the cameras are directly connected to our fi bre 
network.

Customer Service Advisory Council

Established in 2006, the Customer Service Advisory 
Council has supported our improvement in service 
delivery and challenged us to extend and broaden 
our thinking in our operations, projects and strategic 
planning. The Council challenges our various business 
areas to improve customer outcomes.

During the year, the Council provided feedback and 
direction on:

∞ Improvements to our Stakeholder Satisfaction 
Survey

∞ The Tra�  c Congestion Management Program 
Communications

∞ The development of our Social Media Strategy
∞ Issues and communication needs surrounding the 

Elizabeth Quay project

The Council is independently chaired by Edd Black, 
Principal of Huntingdale Primary School and has 
community and industry members representing our 
diverse road users.

Advisory Groups 

To ensure that our operations are open, accountable, 
fair and fl exible, we collaborate with a wide range of 
customers and stakeholders who provide essential 
input to operational aspects of our business.  The table 
below lists the various advisory groups that we have and 
frequency of our meetings with them. 

Advisory Group

Meeting 
Frequency per 

Annum

Customer Service Advisory Council 4

Cycling and Pedestrian Advisory 
Group 3

Disability Advisory Group 12

Western Australian Road 
Construction and Maintenance 
Industry Advisory Group 4

State Road Funds to Local 
Government Advisory Committee 3

Tra�  c Management for Works on 
Roads Advisory Group 4

Tra�  c Management for Events 
Advisory Group 4

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 

Objective: Achieve the State Government’s vision for 
a better quality of life for all Western Australians

Main Roads Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 
(DAIP) was launched in 2012 for the fi ve year period 
to 2016. The DAIP has been produced in recognition 
that people with disabilities, their families and carers 
have the same rights to access our services and 
employment opportunities as any other member of 
the community. 

The Plan adds further emphasis to the signifi cant 
progress that we have already made in addressing 
the needs of people with disabilities since its 
inception in 1995. 

The DAIP provides a framework that outlines a suite 
of implementation strategies designed to enable us 
to achieve the following seven outcomes during the 
5 year lifetime of the plan. 

∞ Outcome 1: Have the same opportunity as 
other people to access the services of, and any 
events organised by Main Roads.

∞ Outcome 2: Have the same opportunity as 
other people to access the buildings and other 
facilities of Main Roads.

∞ Outcome 3: Should receive information from 
Main Roads in a format that will enable them 
to access the information as readily as other 
people are able to access it.

∞ Outcome 4: Should receive the same level and 
quality of service from the sta�  of Main Roads 
as other people receive.

∞ Outcome 5: Have the same opportunities 
as other people to make complaints to Main 
Roads.

∞ Outcome 6: Have the same opportunities 
as other people to participate in any public 
consultation by Main Roads.

∞ Outcome 7: Have the same opportunities as 
other people to access employment at Main 
Roads.

Progress on reaching these outcomes is reported to 
the Disability Services Commission every year in July. 
For further information on all the desired outcomes 
and progress on the DAIP visit our website.

Looking Ahead
∞ Work toward releasing a new and refreshed 

Customer Service Strategy.
∞ Improve the Customer Service Charter and 

align to the Customer Service Strategy.
∞ Develop a Good Neighbour Policy.
∞ Revise the traveller amenities and rest area 

brochure.
∞ Develop a Customer Communication Channel 

Strategy.
∞ Embed a variety of social media channels into 

regular communication.
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To help road users get from 
point A to point B as e�  ciently 
and safely as possible, we’ve 
been working on a number 
of initiatives that inform 
and improve the road user 
experience.

Key outcomes
Safer, more e�  cient travel for road 

users through the ability to plan 

their journeyImproving 
Traveller 

Information

Next steps
A second phase of the Right Move 

Perth app is currently underway, 

providing more features and more 

targeted information 

Twitter

As congestion increases, there is a greater need 
for reliable and real time traveller information. 
Implemented in 2009, our Twitter accounts are 
still a channel of choice for road users to fi nd the 
information they need to plan their journey.

Perth_Tra�  c has seen a steady increase in followers 
since its inception with nearly 8,500 additional 
followers just this year with our regional account, 
WA_Roads, amassing close to 5,000 followers and 
growing.

Right Move Perth

We have been working closely with other State 
transport agencies to develop a mobile application 
that provides integrated, real time tra�  c information 
to help Perth metropolitan road users plan their 
journey. 

The Right Move Perth smartphone app provides real 
time information regarding congestion, roadworks, 
crashes, tra�  c signal faults, public transport 
disruptions, major events, project information and 
weather warnings. 

The consistent take-up of our Twitter service and the 
Right Move Perth application shows, not only that 
the thirst for real time journey planning information 
is out there – but that road users are more and more 
turning to technology to fi nd the information that 
they need.

The numbers
• Right Move Perth has had over 27,000 

downloads since launching in January 
2014 

• Perth Traffi  c twitter has over 20,000 
followers, the most of any State 
Government agency

Right Move Perth App
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Developing 
Capabilities

We work towards maintaining a highly skilled, professional and 
fl exible workforce that can adapt to meet changing priorities and 
contribute to portfolio and industry capability.

• Building capability through partnerships
• Capturing, sharing and building knowledge and innovation
• Use eff ective workforce planning to deliver the right capability 
• Developing competencies to meet our future capability needs and
• Developing an engaged workforce and high performance culture

2012 2013 2014

Full Time Equivalent (Average) 1,002 1,039 1,043

Women in Leadership Level 5 & Specifi ed Callings 
Level 2 and above) 101 109 114

Total Employee Retention Rate 92% 95% 92%

Aim

We achieve this by:

Ensuring
our future
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Recognition
Australian HR Awards
• Finalist - Employer of Choice for Public 

Sector Award
• Finalist - Best HR Strategic Plan Award

Australian Institute of Management
• Finalist - WA Employer of the Year award

IPAA Achievement Awards

• Finalist - Murdoch University Leader of 
the Year Working in State or Federal 
Government  – John Taya, Executive 
Director Organisational Development 
Directorate

WA Department of Training and Workforce 

Development Awards
• Finalist - Employer of the Year 2013 Award

Promoting Diversity and Equal 
Opportunity 
We strive to create a rich, diverse workforce. There is 
strong emphasis on promoting equality to ensure our 
workplace is free from harassment and discrimination 
and that all employees have equal access to training, 
progression and promotion. 

Recognising that our workforce is comprised of 
varied perspectives, viewpoints and backgrounds our 
Diversity Committee continues to focus on Women 
in Management, Equal Employment Opportunity, 
Disability Access and Inclusion and the deployment 
of our Reconciliation Action Plan.  

The following is an update on some key 
achievements in this area:

Women in Leadership 

We believe women have a vital role to play in the 
leadership of our organisation and in 2013-14 we 
continued our focus on improving our female 
representation at senior levels.

The Diversity Committee continued to support the 
implementation of our ‘Women in Management’ 
(WiM) Action Plan which targets attracting, retaining 
and developing women within the organisation, 
particularly in the technical and professional areas 
and encouraging women to apply for acting, 
developmental and promotional opportunities. 
This year, the WiM Action Plan was refreshed to 
include a focus on identifying workplace, cultural 
and attitudinal barriers and unconscious bias against 
women progressing into senior roles.  

The numbers

2012 2013 2014

Women in the 
workforce 29.6% 29% 29.7%

Women in Level 5 
positions (permanent 
employees) 28.8% 29.4% 28.1%

Women in Level 6 
positions and above 
(permanent employees) 13.4% 12.9% 15.4%

Women in acting 
opportunities 32% 34% 33%

Continuing our e� orts with our WiM Action Plan, we:

∞ Provided professional development 
opportunities for our women through various 
leadership development programs

∞  Continued our Professional Women’s Speakers 
Series, inviting successful professional women 
to speak about their ‘Road to Success’. Over the 
past 12 months, we had three senior women 
in the road construction industry and the 
Deputy Director General of the Department of 
Transport, Ms Sue McCarrey, as guest speakers

∞  Completed the second mentoring program in 
our Heavy Vehicles Services and Road Network 
Services, targeting female employees, with 27 
partnerships using senior managers in Main 
Roads and the Department of Transport as 
mentors;

∞  Promoted fl exible working arrangements in job 
advertisements and encouraged women and 
people with diverse backgrounds to apply

∞  Provided more women with acting and 
promotional opportunities, and involvement in 
and management of high profi le project work 
including 2020 strategic projects.  
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Reconciliation Action Plan and Indigenous 
Employment

Our Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) can be found 
on both our website and Reconciliation Australia’s 
website.

A central component of the RAP is our cultural 
awareness training program ‘Engaging and Partnering 
with Indigenous people’. Metropolitan sta� , including 
our Corporate Executive, have continued their 
training throughout the year with the program to be 
rolled out to the regions over the next 18 months.

The Diversity Committee is also progressing 
development of a welcome to country and 
acknowledgement of country statement awareness 
program for sta�  to refer to when organising events 
where either an acknowledgement of or welcome to 
country should be conducted. 

NAIDOC Week

We recognise the importance of engaging our sta�  
in National Aborigines and Islanders Day Observance 
Committee (NAIDOC) Week activities throughout the 
State. This year to commemorate NAIDOC week, a 
celebration was held for all metropolitan based sta� .  
The regions were invited to join by video-link and to 
organise their own events. Guest speaks from our 
supply partners at Brierty and Gateway WA spoke 
about their culture, practices and achievements 
concluding with a  presentation from Aboriginal Elder 
Jim Maher on bush tucker before tastings and a bush 
tucker themed morning tea were provided.  

The ROADS Foundation

The ROADS Foundation is an independent not for-
profi t organisation that focuses on creating training 
and employment opportunities for young people in 
the civil construction sector. The foundation advocates 
for young people from regional areas and marginalised 
backgrounds – promoting sustainability of the civil 
construction workforce through development 
opportunities for regional, disadvantaged and 
Aboriginal people in Western Australia.

Over the past 12 months there has been signifi cant 
change and development in the foundation driven by 
changes in the Board and the implementation of a 
new strategic plan and operating model. The biggest 
development was the introduction of a Community 
Engagement Program which sees greater association 
and interaction with regional communities as 
well as the promotion of civil construction career 
opportunities within schools and community groups 
across WA.

Family Day

Family Day promotes a healthy work-life balance 
while recognising contributions to the organisation. 
Each directorate and region puts together a 
display for visiting family and friends outlining 
past achievements and current projects as well as 
new and upcoming projects and events. The day 
demonstrates the critical role our families play in our 
success and the value we place on this.  As well as 
having displays from our directorates, we also seek 
involvement from the community.  

Giving back to the Community

Throughout the year we’ve supported a number of 
charities including the Starlight Children’s Foundation 
Australia, SIDS and Cancer Council WA. This 
complements other initiatives including our ‘Roads 
to Giving’ program which enables sta�  to donate to 
selected charities throughout the year. 

Each year we conduct Cancer Council’s Biggest 
Morning Tea at the Don Aitken Centre and our 
various regional o�  ces. This year the event raised 
$2,300 for the Cancer Council.  

Blood donation drives are also held across Main 
Roads through the Red Cross.  To date, employees 
have given blood 30 times this year resulting in the 
saving of 90 lives.  We have 93 employees currently 
on the blood donation list.

Attraction and Retention
Workforce Planning Process

Our comprehensive workforce planning program 
revolves around the annual ‘Workforce Planning 
Cycle’. It helps us formulate a fi ve-year forecast that 
promotes sustaining our capability into the future by 
focusing on:

∞ Profi le  of the current workforce
∞ Succession management
∞ Knowledge management
∞ Future resource needs
∞ Environmental factors
∞ Development employees

Through the cycle, we’ve developed a functional 
and innovative approach to workforce planning 
which attracts a high level of participation from 
Senior Branch Managers and supports forecasting 
for the future, knowledge management, capability 
development and development employee programs 
in line with our strategic direction.

Recruitment

A freeze on Government spending was in place 
during 2013-14 causing a slight drop in the number 
of positions advertised. Over the past 12 months we 
advertised 82 vacancies, receiving 1,532 applications. 

2012 2013 2014

Positions Advertised 128 91 82

Applications Received 1,898 1,653 1,532

Average Applications 
per Advertised Position 14.8 18.1 18.7
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Developing Capabilities
Development Employee Leadership

We promote the development of our next 
generation workforce through our Development 
Employee Leadership Program. The program targets 
development employees in engineering, technical 
and business streams and is designed to fast-track 
future leaders and specialists through ongoing formal 
training, coaching and mentoring, rotations and on-
the-job learning.  

Executive and Senior Manager Development 

Thirty eight senior leaders across the organisation 
have been involved in two new leadership programs 
designed to provide the tools to meet the leadership 
needs of the 2020 strategy. This year’s Leadership for 
Change Program involved fi ve facilitated workshops 
while the Leadership Enhancement Program is 
delivered in partnership with Curtin Executive 
Education. The program includes fi ve leaders 
from one of our portfolio partners, enhancing our 
relationship with the Department of Transport.

Lunch and Learn Seminars

Our Learning and Development Branch continued 
to deliver the highly successful ‘Lunch and Learn’ 
series this year. Designed to enhance leadership and 
creativity, these short and dynamic workshops target 
key competencies with our Leadership Competency 
Framework. 

The highly practical sessions provide employees with 
useful tips and tools that can be applied immediately 
within their roles. The session content is based on 
competencies that have been identifi ed as gaps in 
the Individual Performance Agreement Process, 
and participants who have identifi ed competencies 
relevant to the session are invited to attend. 

TechXchange 

Running since 2005, this one-hour, monthly forum 
provides an opportunity for technical experts to 
share their knowledge and experience with other 
employees and technical partners. 

The sessions are designed to benefi t all sta�  and 
stakeholders looking to improve their technical skills 
and network with our technical gurus.

On average, each session attracts 90 people with 
some Special TechXChange presentations attracting 
and audience in excess of 300 people.

Competency Development

The numbers:
∞ Close to 50% of our workforce has 

fewer than 10 years’ work experience 
with Main Roads

∞ 47%% of our workforce are over 50       
years of age 

∞ 31% are already over retirement age 

These fi gures highlight just how critical it is to 
expedite the competency development of our 
younger employees who will be our workforce of the 
future.

The Competency Development System was 
integrated into the new online Employee 
Development System and the new Individual 
Performance Agreements. This competency-based 
approach promotes targeted development of 
relevant leadership and technical competencies of 
each employee through Individual Performance 
Agreements.  

The system focuses on both operational needs and 
the career development needs of our employees. 
It supports our workforce planning, succession 
planning, knowledge management and learning and 
development strategies. 

Training on the new online Individual Performance 
Agreement process, including competency 
development, was conducted across the organisation 
and regions during 2013.  

Innovation
We strive to create and foster and environment 
where innovative thinking is encouraged, recognised 
and rewarded. To aid that we have adopted a 
more integrated, systematic way of fostering and 
implementing new and exciting initiatives that help us 
achieve our corporate goals including promoting our 
innovation research and development program.

This year, Senior Design Engineer Bruce Snook was 
recognised for his contribution to innovation by 
receiving the 2013 Managing Director’s Excellence 
Award for Innovation. Bruce oversaw the design of 
an on-ramp to Mitchell Freeway from the Graham 
Farmer Freeway’s Loftus Street exit. This new design 
provided a safe solution for those vehicles travelling 
from Graham Farmer Freeway who needed to 
enter the Mitchell Freeway. To read more about 
this project, please refer to the Road Management 
section, page 55.

Looking Ahead
∞ Developing the capacity of our people to 

demonstrate innovative leadership and 
management practices.

∞ Optimising productivity by accurately measuring 
the value of our people and creating an 
environment that fosters innovation.

∞ Building strategic relationships to contribute to 
our strategic planning.

∞ Developing initiatives and strategies to guide our 
corporate direction.
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• Develop an eff ective timing review and 
auditing programme for tra�  c signals to relieve 
congestion.

Our organisational landscape 
is changing. Cultivating a 
workforce with the right 
skills to meet our needs and 
create cultural change is a 
challenge, but it’s one that 
we have started to meet with 
the new Online Employee 
Development System.

The new online Employee Development System 
was launched in July 2013 to replace the existing 
suite of paper-based development and performance 
management tools. Since its launch over 90% of 
sta�  engaged with the new system representing the 
highest rate ever for the Individual Development 
Process.

The system integrates various tools that play a 
critical role in identifying and bridging skill gaps. 
It helps to align development and performance 
objectives with organisational needs to allow more 
effi  cient generation of data for Human Capital 
Management. 

To transition to the new system, sta�  were provided 
with extensive support. Metropolitan and regional 
training information sessions were provided, 

supported by a comprehensive intranet page 
including customised video tutorials and a variety of 
guides, checklists and other supporting documents.  
In addition, telephone and face-to-face support has 
been provided to assist with individual queries.

The data generated by the new process and system 
has been used to drive our development activities. 
This data is provided to the business on a weekly 
basis, providing transparent, localised information 
on development needs that allow individual 
business units to respond.  It has also been a key 
driver in designing the content of our corporate 
development programs, enabling highly targeted 
programs that enhance our return on investment in 
training and development.  

Key outcomes
Improved employee development through 

easier identifi cation of development needs

Date implemented
July 2013

Online 
Employee 

Development 
System
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Safety,
Health and 
Wellbeing

Consistently
leading safe
outcomes

Preserve the safety, health and wellbeing of our people to 
ensure the success and sustainability of our business. 

Consistently Leading Safe Outcomes

‘Think Safe – Work Safe – Home Safe – Drive Safe – Live Safe’. 
This illustrates the emphasis we place on behavioural safety, safe work 
practices and ongoing health and lifestyle education to support the 
wellbeing of our people within the workplace in their homes and in the 
wider community.

Aim

Our Vision

Our Ethos

2013
Actual

2014
Target

2014
Actual

Fatalities 0 0 0

Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate 2
0 or 10% 
reduction 7.6

Incidence Rate 0.4
0 or 10% 
reduction 1.2

Severity Rate 0.1
0 or 10% 
reduction 0.2

1. Frequency rate is (the number of LTI/Ds over the previous 12 months)*1,000,000 divided by 
the number of hours worked during that 12 month period.

2. Incidence rate is (the number of LTI/Ds divided by the number of employees)*100.
3. Severity rate is (the number of LTI/Ds that resulted in 60 days or more lost divided by the 

total number of LTI/Ds)*100.
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Key Achievements
Safety, Health and Wellbeing Strategy

Our three-year Safety, Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
is being rolled out across the organisation. It guides 
us towards a more mature safety culture where 
complacency is continually challenged, supporting 
our commitment to providing a safe and healthy 
work environment for our people.

Management Systems

We have employed a multi-layered committee 
structure across the organisation to ensure that 
we are aware of our risks and can manage them 
e� ectively.  These committees comprise executives, 
senior management, employees and elected safety 
and health representatives.

Our management plans are based on corporate 
initiatives, local issues and consultation and are 
communicated to the organisation, along with 
emerging SHW matters and upcoming events, 
through a communique published on our intranet.

We take the position that safety is everyone’s 
responsibility and as such encourage a proactive 
safety culture through participation. All corporate 
policies and procedures are reviewed and 
made available to sta�  for comment. In some 
circumstances working groups have been established 
to consult sta�  from all areas of the organisation. 
Initiatives and feedback from the working groups are 
referred directly to the Corporate SHW Committee 
for consideration.

Event Reporting System

We have a very diverse operational workforce 
comprised of employees as well as sta�  from a range 
of contractors that undertake work on our behalf.  
Keeping this in mind, the assurance of safety, health 
and wellbeing for these workers and the preservation 
of the environment must always be top of mind while 
we undertake work on infrastructure covering the 
State.

A new online Event Reporting System will provide 
transparency around the hazards we face. It will also 
improve the fl ow of information across our business 
and will in turn allow for better decision-making and 
actions concerning critical SHW aspects.

This system will be used by both Main Roads 
and our contractors for the primary fl ow of 
information including hazards, controls, inspections, 
investigations, risk assessments, health tests and 
numerous registers. The system is scheduled for 
completion in November 2014 with rollout beginning 
in January 2015.

Performance Insight

We work towards ensuring the safety of our sta�  
by taking a proactive approach to measuring SHW 
performance.  

We’ve looked at the way we measure the safety, 
health and wellbeing of our business and have 
made a range of changes to our key performance 
indicators (KPIs) to better address the challenges of 
maintaining a safe work environment. 

Changes include:

• Integrating additional lead indicators 
• Developing appropriate benchmarks to better 

gauge performance (from an external and internal 
perspective) 

• Providing the business with tools to guide and 
clarify the integration of KPIs into all levels of the 
organisation.

The reporting process has been signifi cantly 
streamlined and more structured data capturing 
process has also been implemented. These changes 
have improved the e�  ciency of the reporting process 
and allow more reliable and accurate data to be 
captured and presented to our Executive.

Corporate SHW Management Systems Training

Formally known as ‘OSH for Line Managers’, this 
is a one day intensive training course customised 
for Main Roads. The course contains fi ve modules 
including Safety Law; Safety Management 
Systems; Hazard Management; Incident and Injury 
Management; and Safety Leadership, Culture, 
Communication and Consultation. 

The objectives of the course are to make line 
managers aware of their legal responsibilities and 
potential exposures to legal risk that could impact on 
us. The course also aims to provide managers with 
SHW management skills to enable them to manage 
SHW systems in their area and eff ectively carry out 
their SHW activities. The Corporate SHW Committee 
insists that all Managers complete this course and 
undergo refresher training every fi ve years.
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Industry Working Group 

The Industry Working Group created in 2014 is 
comprised of our employees and contractors and 
provides the opportunity to collaborate on current 
and future SHW industry initiatives and issues. It 
o� ers a platform for knowledge sharing between 
the organisations to achieve greater alignment 
and continual improvement of each other’s Safety 
Management Systems.

Business Partnering

We are committed to providing the appropriate 
support and guidance to our external and internal 
stakeholders. To facilitate this, a matrix management 
structure is employed where a resource (business 
partner) is integrated into the appropriate areas of the 
organisation.

Business partners implement corporate SHW systems 
and processes and coach and mentor others to 
build technical and leadership capability to support 
strategic SHW business objectives.

Third Party and Work Safe Plan Certifi cation

Our Occupational Safety and Health Management 
System (OSHMS) was assessed and recommended 
for re-certifi cation to Australian Standard 4801 in 
June 2014. Corporately, we proudly maintain our 
WorkSafe Plan – Gold Certifi cation.

Taking Proactive Safety, Health and Wellbeing 
Preventative Measures

We take a proactive approach to helping our people 
manage their health and wellbeing and as such we 
continue to expand upon our health and wellbeing 
program inclusions.

Current initiatives that we o� er as part of the program 
include 1 on 1 health and fi tness consultation, healthy 
heart checks, fi tness programs and blood pressure 
screenings.

Our Corporate Health and Wellbeing Calendar 
gives employees the opportunity to participate 
in community charity events such as the 
City to Surf, Freeway Bike Hike, Great Bike 
Ride, HBF Run for a Reason and various State 
Government endorsed Corporate Cup activities. 
The Corporate Calendar also notes dates for 
National Awareness campaigns such as R U 
OK Day, Biggest Morning Tea and Stroke Week. 
We encourage sta�  to take part in organised 
activities to raise funds for such charities or to 
participate in presentations or activities that will 
assist in raising awareness and promoting healthy 
behaviours or interventions. 

In addition to the resource centre for accessing 
health and wellbeing information, we continue 
our commitment to providing a confi dential 
Employee Assistance Program. This is an 
organisation-funded counselling service which 
provides support to employees who may be 
experiencing problems, a� ecting their job 
performance or personal lives.

Flu vaccinations, skin cancer screenings and 
Healthy Heart checks were once again off ered 
to employees, with a total of 728 participating 
across all three programs. We also aim to 
educate sta�  on current health topics through 
presentations, regular screenings and one-on-
one consultations.

Lost Time Injuries 

Lost Time Injury/Day (LTI/D) is defi ned as an injury 
or disease that results in the a� ected employee 
being unable to work for one full shift or longer. The 
following graphs show our performance and that of 
our contractors during the year:

The numbers:
• Main Roads - 15 LTI/D sustained, resulting in 

a Lost Time Injury/Disease Frequency Rate 
(LTIFR) of 7.6 serious injuries sustained per 
million hours worked

•  Contractors - 25 LTI/D sustained resulting in 
their LTIFR of 4.5 serious injuries sustained per 
million hours worked 
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Although our ultimate goal is for zero harm, we have 
had an increase in the number of lost time injuries 
this year.

The majority of serious incidents involved vehicles, 
equipment, and manual tasks/ergonomics. In the 
next year, we will again be focusing our attention on 
minimising the likelihood of these risks recurring. A 
breakdown of our incidents by type is outlined below.

Summary of all incidents by type and severity

Incident 
Types

Lost 
Time 

Injuries

Non 
Lost 
Time 

Injuries

Near 
Miss 

Incidents
Total

Vehicle 0 1 13 14

Equipment 1 7 13 21

Ergonomics/
Manual Tasks

7 9 13 26

Other 3 4 5 12

Slips, Trips 
and Falls

3 8 2 13

Human 
Factors

0 1 6 7

Bites/Stings 0 2 0 2

Environment 0 2 1 3

Health 1 0 1 2

System 
Failure

0 0 1 1

Total 15 34 55 104

Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management

We are committed to maintaining the safety, health 
and wellbeing of all employees and in achieving this 
we adopt a proactive and supportive approach to 
injury management. 

The numbers:
• 20 workers compensation claims received
• 9 fi nalised
• 1 pending
• 1 declined

83% of our injured workers returned to their pre-injury 
role and volume of hours within 13 weeks and 17% 
returned between 13 and 26 weeks of sustaining their 
injury. The graph below illustrates the total number 
of lodged claims in this fi nancial year compared to 
previous years.

Looking Ahead
∞ Review the Safety, Health & Wellbeing 

Management System in alignment with the 
impending Workplace Safety and Health Laws 
(WA).

∞ Roll out an electronic hazard and incident 
reporting management systems for employees 
and contractors.

∞ Continue to build the maturity of Main Roads’ 
safety culture around personal responsibility. 

∞ Create a safety cultural program.
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Any innovation involves 
an element of risk, and 
appropriately managing that 
risk without stifl ing new ideas 
is a common challenge for the 
public sector.

Key outcomes
Reduced risk and improved safety 

for Gateway WA workers around 

large machinery

Innovation at 
Gateway WA

Inspired by
‘city stop’ technology used in 

new cars

Any construction project carries with it inherent risks 
for workers.  One such risk is working around mobile 
plants especially when undertaking asphalt activity. 
Previous attempts to mitigate this risk involved the 
use of a personal alert device that informed plant 
operators when a person got too close to a machine. 
However it was found that the slow processing of 
information allowed people to get dangerously close 
to a machine before an alert sounded. So a better 
way was needed to manage the risk.

After research, testing and consultation, it was 
decided that full machine intervention, triggered 
by proximity sensors to identify when an object or 
person was too close to a machine, was the most 
e� ective solution. Similar technology has been used 
in new cars through the ‘city stop’ feature where 
potential collisions are avoided through automatic 
braking triggered by sensors in the vehicle.

This technology had not been used with large 
machines by anyone in the construction industry. 
It was generated, developed and trialled in 
collaboration with the Gateway WA team to reduce 
risks and improve safety in this critical area. Following 
its completion in 2014, the trial will be assessed to 
determine if we will implement this approach on 
other sites.

The trial is a prime example of how the process for 
selecting and implementing innovation projects 
connects with our new Safety, Health and Wellbeing 
Change Management procedure to streamline and 
promote innovative ways of improving safety across 
all our projects. 
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Governance

Corporate Governance is about 
exercising fairness, transparency 
and accountability. It is more than 
just showing commitment to ‘doing 
the right thing’, good governance 
is a strong indicator of overall 
management capability and quality.

We report against the Good Governance 
Guide developed by the Public Sector 
Commission and observe nine key ASX 
Corporate Governance Principles. In doing 
so we foster a culture at Main Roads that 
values ethical behaviour, integrity and respect 
– helping us achieve sustainable excellence 
in the way we perform and create value.

We continue to refi ne our Governance 
framework within these guidelines and 
use other best practice standards to adopt 
a continuous improvement approach to 
governance.

Our Governance 
Principles

Principle 1
Government and Public 

Sector Relationship

Principle 3
Organisational

Structure

Principle 4
Operations

Principle 5 
Ethics and Integrity

Principle 8 
Communication

Principle 9 
Risk Management

Principle 6
People

Principle 7
Finance

Principle 2
Management and

Oversight
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Principle 1: Government and Public 
Sector Relationship

Our Governance Model

Our corporate governance system is how we direct 
and manage our business activities to optimise 
performance, achieve regulatory compliance and 
deliver value for customers.  We ensure our core 
corporate governance system and processes are 
aligned with values-driven management.  The 
framework enables us to govern with integrity, 
accountability and transparency.  Our Governance 
Model and Organisational Structure can be found 
on page 93 and shows the relationships between 
our Minister, Commissioner, Managing Director and 
members of Corporate Executive. 

Performance Agreement

The Managing Director has a performance agreement 
with the Commissioner while other members of 
Corporate Executive have Individual Performance 
Agreements with the Managing Director. 

Empowering Legislation

Main Roads Act

The Main Roads Act 1930, as last amended in 1996, 
establishes the Commissioner of Main Roads as a 
corporate body and sets out the powers and duties of 
the o�  ce.

The Commissioner of Main Roads administers the 
Main Roads Act and the accompanying Regulations 
and is accountable to the Minister for Transport.

The O�  ce of Road Safety Empowering Legislation

The Road Safety Council Act 2002 is the enabling 
legislation for the O�  ce of Road Safety. 

Governance is supported with the Road Safety 
Council Governance Charter, the Road Safety 
Council Code of Conduct and the O�  ce of Road 
Safety Role Statement approved by the Minister.

Other Empowering Legislation

∞ The Land Administration Act 1997 provides 
powers for the resumption of land 

∞ Section 84 of the Road Tra�  c Act 1974 provides a 
right of recovery for road damage 

∞ Regulation 297 of the Road Tra�  c Code 2000 
provides the Commissioner with the power to 
erect road signs and tra�  c signals, and install road 
marking 

∞ Part 4 of the Road Tra�  c (Vehicle Standards) 
Regulations 2002 provides the Commissioner 
with the authority to issue permits for restricted 
access vehicles that exceed certain mass and 
dimension limits, as defi ned in the Regulations.

We have processes and controls in place to ensure 
that we comply with other State and Commonwealth 
legislation and regulations which impact on our activities.

Ministerial Directives

There were no directives issued by the Minister for 
Transport under Section 19B of the Main Roads Act 
1930 during the year. 

Principle 2 & 3: Management and 
Oversight and Organisational 
Structure

Strategic Plan 

In August 2013 we released our new Strategic Plan 
known as 2020.  Our 2020 Strategy describes the 
strategic direction that we will take over the next six 
years and represents our response to the challenges, 
opportunities and environment that we work in. 
Our integrated approach to planning is based on 
input from partners, stakeholders, customers and 
employees and is coordinated through our Strategic 
Plan.  Importantly 2020 is also integrated with the 
Government’s goals and vision for the public sector 
in providing services to the community.

In developing our new plan we have used scenario 
planning to capture a variety of economic, social, 
political and technological trends that have the 
potential to impact on our business.  We have 
created a new Vision and, Purpose and identifi ed fi ve 
areas of focus to guide us in the coming years.  

Further information on our Strategic Plan is available 
on our website.  We discuss how our Corporate 
Business Plan keeps track and measures our 
performance in alignment with our Strategic Plan in 
Principle 4, page 98.

Delegation of Authority

Our Delegation of Authority Manual exists to clearly 
defi ne the administrative responsibilities of o�  cers 
and give them su�  cient authority to carry out their 
day-to-day tasks.  The Delegation of Authority is in 
accordance with the Main Roads Act 1930 and the 
principle of public administration set out in Section 
7(d) of the Public Sector Management Act 1994. 
Employees are aware that delegation limits are 
specifi ed in the Delegation of Authority Manual and 
that they must not be exceeded.

Recognition
2013 Australasian Reporting Awards
• Gold Award – 2013 Annual Report
• Winner ‘Online Reporting Awards, Public Sector – 2013 

Annual Report
• Finalist ‘Sustainability Reporting Award, Public Sector – 2013 

Annual Report
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Corporate Executive’s Objectives:

Set clear strategic direction to deliver government 
priorities, meet our purpose and achieve defi ned 
performance goals. 

Corporate Executive’s Role:

• Assist in discharging the Managing Director’s 
responsibilities and to operate as an advisory body 
to the Managing Director

• Achieve the best outcomes from key decisions, 
develop executive commitment to key organisational 
priorities and model Main Roads’ values and 
behaviours to the organisation

• Set strategy, oversight, decision-making 
and leadership and manage organisational 
performance to ensure capability to deliver road 
user services 

• Provide a forum to raise issues of corporate 
relevance and seek the feedback and input from 
peers

• Be proactive, orientated to the long term and 
outcomes focused.

Standing Committees

• Management Review and Audit
• Corporate Development
• Business Improvement
• Budget
• Safety, Health and Wellbeing

The following is a summary of the membership and 
achievements for each committee.

Steve Troughton
Managing Director

Iain Cameron
O�  ce of Road Safety
• Corporate Executive Meetings 

attended: 12

Leo Coci
Infrastructure Delivery
• Corporate Executive Meetings 

attended: 12

John Erceg
Regional Services
• Corporate Executive Meetings 

attended: 11

Doug Morgan
Planning and Technical Services
• Corporate Executive Meetings 

attended: 9

Steve Potter
Executive Services
• Corporate Executive Meetings 

attended: 11

Des Snook
Road Network Services
• Corporate Executive Meetings 

attended: 10

John Taya
Organisational Development
• Corporate Executive Meetings 

attended: 12

Peter Woronzow
Finance and Commercial Services
• Corporate Executive Meetings 

attended: 10

Corporate Executive

MINISTER FOR TRANSPORT; FINANCE
COMMISSIONER OF MAIN ROADS

CORPORATE EXECUTIVE

ANNUAL REPORT

2014
80 M A I N  R O A D S  W E S T E R N  A U S T R A L I A

MainRoads2014-AnnualReport-FINAL.indd   80 16/09/2014   11:03:50 AM



Standing Committees Role and Achievements

Corporate Development Committee
Meetings Held: 7

Membership (Attendance) Role Achievements

Executive Members:
John Taya (Chair) – 6
John Erceg –3
Des Snook – 3
Leo Coci – 6
Peter Woronzow – 1
Doug Morgan – 4
There are 2 other non – executive standing 
members in this committee

• Guides corporate development, including prioritisation of 
Learning and Development initiatives and seeking Budget 
Committee approval for funding of the Learning & Development 
Investment Plan.

• Provides leadership and direction on the formulation of the 2020 
Strategic Plan.

• Fosters and provides leadership on innovative research and 
development initiatives.

• Considers recommendations from the Development Employee 
Committee on permanent placements of Development Employees.

• Implementation of a new online Employee Development System.
• Established new Leadership for Change Program and the 

Leadership Enhancement Program. 
• Reviewed and revised corporate Innovation System, fully integrated 

with Change Management processes.
• Conducted a range of Innovation projects as part of the 

Development Employee Leadership Program.

Business Improvement Committee
Meetings Held: 3

Membership (Attendance) Role Achievements

Executive Members:
Peter Woronzow (Chair) – 3
John Erceg – 1
John Taya – 0
Doug Morgan – 0 
There are 3 other non-executive standing 
members in this committee

• Ensure that business processes and systems are e� ective.
• Promotes e�  cient use of resources.
• Supports sound Corporate Governance.

• Review development of the 2014-2018 Corporate Business Plan.
• Assessment against Global Reporting Initiative and transition to G4.
• Review and endorsed improvements arising from customer 

feedback and complaints analysis.
• Oversight of the Third Party Certifi ed Integrated Management System.
• Review the development of a Transport Portfolio Sustainability 

Strategy.

Management Review and Audit Committee
Meetings Held: 3

Membership (Attendance) Role Achievements

Executive Members:
Steve Troughton (Chair) – 3
Peter Woronzow - 3
Doug Morgan - 2

• Considers the audits and reviews performed by the Management 
Review and Audit Branch.

• Ensures audits and reviews are conducted in accordance with the 
Annual Audit Plan.

• Reviews and approves the Annual Audit Plan.

• ISA Monthly Claims & data Analytics Review.
• Review of Procurement.
• Review of Decommissioning of Shared Services.
• Delivery of the annual strategic Audit Plan.
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Standing Committees Role and Achievements (Cont.)
Budget Committee
Meetings Held: 12

Membership (Attendance) Role Achievements

Executive Members:
Peter Woronzow (Chair) – 10
Steve Troughton - 10
John Erceg – 7
Des Snook – 7
Leo Coci – 11
Doug Morgan – 7
John Taya - 9

• Decision-making body for Investment Planning, Program 
Development and Delivery

• Ensures the best use of funds to achieve strategic outcomes.

• Monitoring and actioning budgetary and fi nancial matters including 
program strategies and structures to deliver outcomes linked with 
Government objectives.

• Provision of strategic direction for project development funding 
and activities.

• Supervision of managed transfer of assets between State and Local 
Government.

• Approval of the fi nal four-year and 10-year program submissions to 
Department of Treasury.

Safety, Health and Wellbeing Committee
Meetings Held: 11

Membership (Attendance) Role Achievements

Executive Members:
Doug Morgan (Chair) – 9
John Erceg – 6
Des Snook – 1
Leo Coci – 9
Peter Woronzow – 2
John Taya – 9
Iain Cameron – 1
There are 10 other non-executive standing 
members in this committee.

• Presides over all safety, health and wellbeing issues from high level 
strategy through to review of individual incidents

• Acts as a primary Occupational Safety and Health channel and 
reports on full-time and contracted employees to Corporate 
Executive.

• Maintaining AS/NZ 4801 Safety Management Systems certifi cation 
and corporate certifi cation to WorkSafe Gold.

• Implementation of the Safety, Health and Wellbeing Three Year 
Strategy.

• Implementation of the Safety, Health and Wellbeing Event 
Reporting System.

• Development of the Safety, Health and Wellbeing Industry Working 
Group.
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Principle 4: Operations
Corporate Business Plan 2014-2018

We produce a Corporate Business Plan aligned to 
our strategic direction and Government goals and 
objectives.  It forms the basis for all Directorate and 
Branch Business Plans and will ensure that planning, 
delivery, maintenance and operational activities are 
aligned with corporate direction and priorities.  This 
approach is built on meeting our strategic and future 
needs and achieving a greater integration of strategic, 
workforce, operational and fi nancial planning.

The Business Planning process defi nes how we go 
about our business and identifi es our annual corporate 
initiatives and actions within a context of a four year 
timeframe.  The Business Planning model (right) shows 
the relationship between internal business management 
processes and how they interact with our drivers to 
achieve our Program Outcomes and Government Goals. 

Progress against achievements in the Corporate 
Business Plan are monitored, reviewed and evaluated 
which is an important element in the entire process.  We 
have in place a range of initiatives to review our progress 
in achieving our stated aims occurring on a monthly, 
quarterly, bi-annually and annually.  Reporting varies 
from scorecard and dashboard style information and 
analysis through to quarterly sta�  communiques. 

Financial Targets: Actuals Compared to Budget  

The following table provides a comparison of the 
fi nancial targets and outcomes against criteria included 
in the Resource Agreement between the Commissioner 
of Main Roads, Minister for Transport and the Treasurer.

 2013-14 
Target(1)

$000

2013-14
Actual
$000

Variation(2) 
$000

Total Cost of 
Services 2,199,008 2,131,105 67,903

Net Cost of 
Services 1,462,266 1,576,226 (113,960)

Total Equity 43,067,768 43,259,455 (191,687)

Net increase / 
(decrease) in 
cash held (106.965) (94,162) (12,803)

(1) As specifi ed in the latest budgets statements 
relating to estimates for 2013-14.

(2) Explanations of variations: 

a. The variation in relation to Total Cost of 
Services is mainly due to unspent State funds 
on the following projects: Great Eastern 
Highway (Kooyong Rd to Tonkin Hwy), South 
Coast Highway (Ravensthorpe), Lloyd St – Rail 
Underpass, Mitchell Freeway third lane (Hepburn 
to Hodges), and Great Eastern Highway & Roe 
Highway Interchange. 

b The variation in Net Cost of Services is due to the 
change in payment method of Commonwealth 
grants under the Nation Building program from 
a monthly claim approach to a milestone claim 
arrangement, deferred handover of infrastructure 
assets from private bodies - Ashburton North 
Strategic Industrial Area Access Road (Stage 3), 
and recognition of notional revenue relating 
to assets not previously recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Position.

Drivers
∞ Strategic Plan
∞ Goverment Reuirements
∞ Customer Stakeholders and Employees
∞ Government and Risk Management

Sustainability
Leadership, Innovation and Culture

Network
Operations

DeliveryPlanning Maintenance

Environment

Customers and Relationships

Human Resources

Knowledge and Information

Business Management and Improvement

Outcomes
∞  A safe road environment
∞  Reliable and e�  cient movement of people and 

goods
∞  Improved community access and roadside 

amenity
∞  Facilitate economic and regional development
∞  A well maintained road network.

GUIDING PRINCIPLES

NETWORK MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES

SUPPORTING FUNCTIONS
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c The variation in relation to Total Equity relates 
mainly to revaluation increases in the value of 
Land Under Roads required under Accounting 
Standards to prevailing market based fair values. 

d The Net decrease in cash held being higher 
than budgeted is a result of additional funds 
received under Western Australian Natural 
Disaster Relief and Recovery Arrangements for 
opening and restoration of assets damaged by 
declared Natural Disasters.

Further explanations are also contained at Note 42 of 
the Financial Statements.

Integrated Management System

We use a systematic approach to improving business 
performance based on quality management principles.  
Our Integrated Management System brings together 
our third-party certifi ed processes into a single 
structure.  During the year we undertook a full audit of 
our Management System confi rming that we continue 
to comply with the requirements of International and 
Australian Standards and thereby maintaining our 
existing certifi cation through to 2016.  Continuous 
improvement is the cornerstone of all our management 
processes and procedures.

Current Certifi cation

Standard Processes

Quality Management 
System AS/NZS ISO 
9001:2008 

Project Management, 
Contract Management, 
Supply, Corporate

Environmental Management 
System AS/NZS ISO 
14001:2004

Environmental

Safety, Health and Wellbeing 
Management System AS/
NZS 4801:2001

Safety, Health and 
Wellbeing

We are keeping a close watch on the development of 
new International Standards for Road Safety and Asset 
Management and during 2014 -15 we will be exploring 
the feasibility of embedding these into our business 
practices as part of our Integrated Management System. 

Principle 5: Ethics and Integrity
Our Values and Code of Conduct

We have a well-established Code of Conduct and set of 
leadership principles that guide the way we work.  The 
Code of Conduct and leadership principles establish our 
responsibilities and standards of workplace behaviour. 
The Code builds upon the fundamental principles 
contained in the Public Sector Management Act 1994 
and the Public Sector Commission, Commissioner’s 
Instruction No.7 – Code of Ethics which binds all 
Western Australian public sector employees.  All of our 
employees are responsible for their own conduct and 
for their interactions with our customers, stakeholders, 
the community and with each other.  

Our Code of Conduct is based on Main Roads Values 
and the Code of Ethics key principles: 

∞ Personal Integrity – We act with care and diligence 
and make decisions that are honest, fair, impartial and 
timely, and consider all relevant information. 

∞ Relationships with Others – We treat people with 
respect, courtesy and sensitivity and recognise their 
interests, rights, safety and welfare. 

∞ Accountability – We use the resources of the State in 
a responsible and accountable manner. This results in 
the e�  cient, e� ective and appropriate use of human, 
natural, fi nancial and physical resources, property and 
information.  

Ethical and Responsible Decision-Making

To support ethical and responsible decision-making, 
Corporate Executive is supplied with appropriate and 
timely information before meetings.  This information 
consists of Status Reports for each Directorate, a Safety, 
Health & Wellbeing Status Report, fi nancial management 
information and Quarterly Standing Reports for each 
sub-committee.

Each Directorate has its own business plan, which is 
linked to the Corporate Business Plan and Main Roads’ 
Strategic Plan. This ensures that all activities across Main 
Roads are coordinated and aligned with our strategy.

Risk identifi cation and management data are reported 
quarterly and organisational performance information 
is provided in a monthly KPI Scorecard. Additionally, a 
quarterly Productivity Dashboard and a Human Capital 

Dashboard are produced to provide information on the 
status of key initiatives and a snapshot of Main Roads 
workforce.

The Managing Director enters into a performance 
agreement with the Commissioner, and each member 
of Corporate Executive has an Individual Performance 
Agreement with the Managing Director, ensuring 
individual responsibility and accountability.

An Accountability and Ethical Decision-Making course 
for all employees successfully raised awareness to 
the importance of such issues in all decision-making 
processes. This has been further supplemented by more 
training for all employees in how to mitigate risk against 
fraud and corruption.

Corruption Prevention

We have strategies in place to prevent the 
misappropriation of funds and inappropriate use of 
public property that include a comprehensive Annual 
Audit Plan that provides a balanced mix of fi nancial, 
operational and information technology audits.  In 
addition, Risk Management is considered an integral part 
of the annual business planning. Risks are managed and 
monitored at all levels.  

We have also deployed a Fraud and Corruption Control 
Plan and a Fraud and Corruption Policy, which together 
clearly set out the relevant policies and obligations for 
all employees with respect to preventing, mitigating and 
reporting instances of fraud and corruption within Main 
Roads. These documents are available to all employees 
via the iRoads intranet site.

Confl icts of Interest

Our Code of Conduct requires all employees to ensure 
our personal, fi nancial and political interests do not 
confl ict with our performance or ability to perform in an 
impartial manner. Where a confl ict of interests occurs, it 
should always be resolved in favour of the public interest 
rather than personal interest.   

We also have a Procurement Confl ict of Interest Policy 
and Register, maintained by the Manager Supply and 
Transport.
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We consider a situation to reflect conflicts of interest 
when: 

∞ Decisions are biased as a result of outside activities 
or private employment

∞ Outside activities result in a less than satisfactory 
work performance or cause breaches of 
standards such as those relating to occupational 
safety and health

∞ Information gained from o�  cial employment is 
used for private gain

∞ Government resources are used for private gain
∞ Government time is used to pursue private 

interests

Each Corporate Executive member is required to 
sign a representation memorandum addressed to the 
Managing Director which includes a section on personal 
interests in Main Roads’ contracts.  The Chief Finance 
O�  cer, Managing Director and Accountable Authority 
then sign a Management Representation letter to the 
Auditor General addressing various categories including 
Internal Controls and Risk Management.

Other than normal contracts of employment of service, 
no senior o�  cers, fi rms of which senior o�  cers are 
members or entities in which senior o�  cers have 
substantial interests, had any interests in existing or 
proposed contracts with Main Roads during the fi nancial 
year. 

Acceptance of Gifts and Benefi ts

Our Procurement, Confl ict of Interest and Gifts and 
Benefi ts Policy states that “Main Roads employees must 
not be infl uenced or perceived to be infl uenced by the 
receipt of gifts or benefi ts.”  All employees who decide 
to receive a gift or benefi t must register a description of 
the gift, its value, name of donor, name of recipient and 
reason for accepting or declining the gift.  The Gift and 
Benefi ts Register is maintained and reviewed by Manager 
Legal and Insurance Services. 

Misconduct and Inappropriate Behaviour

All employees are expected to abide by the following: 

∞ Public Sector Code of Ethics
∞ Main Roads Code of Conduct
∞ Section 7 and 9 Public Sector Management Act
∞ Main Roads Values
∞ Corruption and Crime Procedures and Guidelines

When a complaint or a report of alleged inappropriate 
behaviour or misconduct is received, management is 
required to take action through internal processes.  An 
initial review of the information or complaint is done 
to gain greater appreciation of the nature and severity 
of the alleged behaviour. The outcome of this review 
guides decision-making on how to determine the most 
appropriate follow up action which may include:  

∞ Discipline 
∞ Grievance resolution
∞ Performance management
∞ Corruption and Crime Commission Procedures
∞ Improvement actions

These processes may necessitate a review or 
investigation into the behaviour to enable a fair and 
equitable decision to be made on the outcomes.

Misconduct as defi ned by the Corruption and 
Crime Commission is required to be reported to the 
Commission. Management actions for matters related to 
misconduct require a more thorough review and more 
formal processes when examining the alleged behaviour.

Ethical Procurement 

Our procurement policies and procedures comply 
with the requirements of the State Supply Commission 
and are certifi ed to AS/NZS 9001:2008.  Policies are 
documented in the Procurement Management Manual 
and all tendering and contract administration procedures 
are documented in the Tendering and Contract 
Administration Manual.  An ongoing compliance 
program is in place to ensure that these policies and 
procedures are implemented.  

A Tender Committee, consisting of two experienced 
senior o�  cers from our organisation and two senior 
external Government o�  cials provide additional 
assurance that procurement actions comply with 
policies and standards for high risk, potentially 
contentious procurements.  In addition, we submit all 
Procurement Plans and Tender Recommendations for 
Goods and Services arrangements over $5 million for 
review and endorsement by the WA Government’s State 
Tender Review Committee.

Sustainable Procurement and Buy Local

The State Supply Commission Policy on sustainable 
procurement requires us to demonstrate that we have 
considered sustainability in our procurement of goods 
and services.  We have gone beyond the requirements 
of this policy to refl ect this in not only our processes 
for procuring goods and services but also in procuring 
works.  In addition, we apply the Buy Local Policy where 
we consider and give preference to local providers in our 
purchases as the benefi ts to industry development and 
employment are recognised.  Buy Local Policy clauses 
are also included in all our tender documents and tender 
assessments.  

Reporting for Buy Local is extracted from information 
contained within the Department of Finance’s ‘Tenders 
WA’ website.  Data is not yet available for the current 
year.

Awarded to businesses located within the ‘prescribed 
distance’ of a regional delivery point as defi ned in the 
Buy Local Policy

2011 2012 2013

M R M R M R

n/a 60% n/a 41% n/a 71%

Awarded to a ‘local business’ as defi ned in the Buy Local 
Policy (Target 80%)

2011 2012 2013

M R M R M R

98% 93% 90% 90% 96% 100%

M: Metro   R: Regional
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Procurement Grievances

We have a procedure in place for dealing with 
procurement grievances which is referenced in all 
tender documents and a copy is accessible from 
our website.  The procedure has been endorsed 
by the Western Australian Road Construction and 
Maintenance Industry Advisory Group and provides for 
a customer-focused, fair, structured and relationship-
based approach to reviewing grievances lodged by 
contractors.  During the year one grievance was 
received and this has been closed out.  The grievance 
did not highlight any common areas of concern.  The 
low number of grievances, which represented less 
than 1% of all contracts awarded, is consistent with 
previous years and indicates that our procurement 
processes continue to be fair and equitable. The table 
below lists our major suppliers/contractors and their 
award value over the past year. 

Major Suppliers/
Contractors

2013-14 Awards 
Value (GST excl)

McConnell Dowell 
Constructors Pty Ltd $53.0 million

Transmax Pty Ltd $11.0 million

MACA Civil Pty Ltd (Safelinks 
Midwest Alliance) $31.8 million

Decmil / OHL JV $9.3 million

Empired Limited $30.2 million

Downer EDI Works Pty Ltd $6.6 million

Lend Lease Corporate Services  $28.9 million

Brierty Limited $72.2 million

Ertech Pty Ltd $25.0 million

Principle 6: People 
Further information on People can be found in the 
Developing Capabilities section, page 68 to 72.

Our Recruitment Practices

This year we moved the management of the selection 
and recruitment process back in house, removing the 
need for external human resource consultants. The 
shift in process came from our focus on delivering 
value to the community. Returning the selection 
function in-house has resulted in savings of $151,000.

We are moving towards a business partnering 
approach for OD services with the rest of the 
organisation. Ultimately this will provide an 
opportunity to build relationships across the 
organisation, enhance strategic alignment, increase 
manager engagement with selection and aid in the 
retention of internal knowledge and expertise in 
selection processes and our work force.

Equal Employment Opportunity Management Plan 
2011-2015

We consider diversity to be respecting, recognising 
and utilising the many di� erent backgrounds, skills, 
talents and perspectives of our workforce. The Equal 
Employment Opportunity (EEO) Management Plan 
is developed in accordance with Part IX of the Equal 
Opportunity Act 1984 and is aligned to the O�  ce of 
Equal Employment Opportunity’s outcome standards 
framework:

∞ The organisation values EEO/diversity and the 
work environment is freed from racial and sexual 
harassment.

∞ Workplaces are free from employment practices 
that are biased or discriminate unlawfully against 
employees or potential employees.

∞ Employment programs and practices recognise 
and include strategies for EEO groups to achieve 
workforce diversity.

∞ We continued to focus on improving development 
and promotional opportunities for women through 
our Women in Management Strategy and Action 
Plan.  For more information, please refer to the 
Developing Capabilities section, page 69. 

We have implemented a new framework which 
enhances our Indigenous traineeship opportunities 
across the organisation.  Through partnerships with the 
ROADS Foundation and a streamlined approach, we are 
able to provide tailored traineeships on an ongoing basis. 
The Equity Index table below shows how we track areas 
of diversity.

Equity Index

Areas of 
Diversity

2012 2013 2014

R I R I R I

Women 29.8% 54.8 29.1% 54.9 29.8% 59.8

Culturally 
Diverse 
Background 9.8% 114.3 17.5% 92.1 17.4% 91.5

People with 
Disabilities 1.8% 80.3 3.6% 85.1 3.2% 97.5

Indigenous 
Australians 0.9% 17.1 1.8% 35.7 1.8% 40.7

R: Representations    I: Index

Individual Performance Agreement

The Individual Performance Agreement (IPA) process 
helps employees to identify their performance 
objectives, competencies for development and 
developmental needs for the coming year.  The process 
is designed to provide a framework in which employees 
can discuss their technical capabilities ensuring 
the organisation has the right skills, knowledge and 
expertise to provide a sustainable workforce that meet 
organisational needs. 

At a corporate level, the Human Capital data collected 
from the IPAs is used to identify and manage skill gaps 
across the organisation.  Together with workforce 
planning data, the information is used to develop 
corporate programs and short training courses. 

Our new online Employee Development System was 
launched in July 2013. Supporting the IPA process, a 
record 90% of Main Roads sta�  engaged with the new 
system, representing the highest rate ever achieved at 
Main Roads.  

For more information about the online Employee 
Development System please refer to Developing 
Capabilities, page 72.

ANNUAL REPORT

2014
86 M A I N  R O A D S  W E S T E R N  A U S T R A L I A

MainRoads2014-AnnualReport-FINAL.indd   86 16/09/2014   11:03:51 AM



Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical 
Codes

Compliance issues that arose during the year regarding 
the Public Sector Standards included lodgement of 
two breach claims against recruitment, selection and 
appointment processes and one against the Grievance 
Standard, all which were subsequently dismissed.

Every year we take steps to enhance processes to 
ensure compliance including:

∞ Providing information about Public Sector 
Standards and Codes of Conduct on our intranet 
and including this information in induction material

∞ Correspondence to applicants for recruitment, 
selection and appointment processes with details 
on how to access the Public Sector Standards

∞ Ongoing training provided to recruitment and 
selection panel members to ensure compliance 
with relevant Public Sector Standards

∞ Providing an experienced independent person for all 
recruitment and selection panels

∞ Providing a network of Grievance O�  cers across 
the State

∞ Reviewing and auditing all recruitment, selection 
and appointment processes both permanent and 
temporary, to ensure compliance with Public 
Sector Standards.

Principle 7: Finance 
Reporting to the Department of Treasury 

There is a requirement to provide monthly, quarterly 
and annual information to the Department of Treasury, 
which is subject to audit by the O�  ce of the Auditor 
General.  This also serves as an independent check on 
the integrity of fi nancial reporting.

Accounting and Financial Management Policies 

A comprehensive Financial Management Manual 
containing accounting and fi nancial management 
policies and procedures is maintained together with 
Control Self-Assessment Checklists.  

These documents communicate accountability for 
procedures within various responsibility areas and 
enhance the level of internal control.  The Manual 
and Checklists enable management as well as internal 
and external auditors to monitor compliance with 
established procedures and, together with the Financial 
Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions, 
are available online to all employees.

Capital Works

All disclosures in relation to capital works are included 
in the Financial Statements. Our Strategic Asset 
Management Plan, produced annually through our third 
party certifi ed Asset Management/Investment Planning 
processes, details our 10-year investment needs 
and drivers.  The Strategic Asset Plan adheres to WA 
Treasury’s Strategic Asset Management Framework.  

We assess projects for funding based on their economic, 
environment and social impacts.  Each capital project 
follows the national Austroads project evaluation 
methodology where a Benefi t Cost Ratio (BCR) must be 
conducted.  This incorporates quantifi able economic 
data and is supplemented by simplifi ed economic, 
environmental and social assessments.  

The BCR records information on the benefi ts of a 
project on travel time savings, vehicle operating costs 
and smoother travel, safety, and maintenance.  Other 
benefi ts and costs are considered via a multi-criteria 
analysis.    Capital works fi nancial progress is reported to 
the Budget Committee on a monthly basis.  

Internal Audit

A comprehensive system of internal controls is in 
place to ensure that there is an appropriate division of 
responsibilities to safeguard the assets and fi nancial 
interests of the organisation. The Management Review 
and Audit Branch is responsible for managing our 
internal audit function, providing independent, objective 
assurance and consulting activities.  

The Branch is designed to add value, improve 
operations, and bring a systematic, disciplined approach 
to evaluate and improve the e� ectiveness of risk 
management, operational controls and governance 
processes.  

The Management Review and Audit Charter establishes 
the responsibility of the Management Review and Audit 
function and sets out to ensure it performs e� ectively in 
the organisation. 

For approved areas of review where the branch 
does not possess all the necessary experience/skills, 
additional ‘in-house’ or external consultants are utilised. 

The function of the Management Review and Audit 
Branch provides the Managing Director of Main Roads 
and the Corporate Executive with: 

∞ Objective constructive and independent assessments 
of the extent to which

› Financial, human, intellectual and physical 
resources are managed with due regard to 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness and

› Accountability relationships are reasonably 
served

∞ Assurances as to the reliability of accounting 
and fi nancial management information and the 
protection of assets and resources under control

∞ Assessment of the organisation’s compliance with 
legislation and relevant policies and procedures

∞ Assessment of audit reports issued by the O�  ce of 
the Auditor General and the relevance and possible 
impact on Main Roads

∞ Independent and confi dential advice on remedial 
action to improve operational e� ectiveness, 
e�  ciency and economy

∞ Progress reports regarding remedial action taken by 
line management

The Branch reports quarterly to the Management Review 
and Audit Committee and maintains a regular review of 
audit plans, reports and working papers. 

ANNUAL REPORT

2014
87M A I N  R O A D S  W E S T E R N  A U S T R A L I A

MainRoads2014-AnnualReport-FINAL.indd   87 16/09/2014   11:03:51 AM



Statutory Audit

The annual independent external audit on controls, 
compliance and assurance is carried out by the Auditor 
General of Western Australia, in accordance with the 
Auditor General Act 2006.  The Auditor General’s 
opinion is addressed to both Houses of the Parliament 
of Western Australia and his o�  ce audits our fi nancial 
statements, controls and key performance indicators. 
These audits provide an independent opinion on 
whether Main Road’s fi nancial statements are true 
and fair and are in accordance with the Australian 
Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions. 

Management Reporting 

Financial reports are tabled monthly and quarterly at the 
Budget Committee comprising all Executive Directors 
and chaired by the Chief Finance O�  cer.  Key fi nancial 
highlights are reported monthly to Corporate Executive 
along with progress against Key Financial Performance 
Indicators.  In addition regions and branches conduct 
monthly reviews over their fi nances with fi nancial reports 
presented at Directorate Management meetings. 

Pricing Policies of Services Provided

The supply of goods and services we undertake 
represents works and services carried out for other 
public sector and private bodies on a cost recovery 
basis. Further details are available in the Notes to the 
Financial Statements.

Principle 8: Communication
Internal Communications Plan

Our plan called Enhancing Internal Communication and 
Engagement was reviewed in April 2014 with the aim of 
improving communication throughout the organisation.  
This work was designed to engage employees via 
a consultative process rather than simply providing 
information.

Since the introduction of the plan, communications 
training has been run for sta�  that have identifi ed 
communication and performance management 
competencies in their Individual Performance 
Agreements. 

So far 119 employees have undertaken “Getting the Best 
out of Your Communication” workshops, which use 
HBDI profi ling to create insight into participant’s personal 
communication and decision-making styles. They are 
then taught how to communicate with those who think 
the same as them and those who think di� erently. 

We have also developed communication plans for 
important corporate initiatives such as our ‘Main 
Roads 2020 Strategic Plan’, Individual Performance 
Agreements, Leadership for Change Program and the 
Safety Strategy.  The relevant communication strategy, 
“2020 Communications Plan” includes various actions 
to raise awareness and understanding of our strategic 
direction.  These actions utilise our intranet site, 
branding, articles, participation from key stakeholders, 
and provision of two-way feedback opportunities to 
enhance internal communications. 

We have conducted an internal branding review to 
redesign and update our employer brand marketing. 
New branding concepts have been used for our online 
job advertisements and for the promotion of our 
Development Employee programs both online and at 
careers expos. 

Social Media Guidelines 

We recognise that social media is evolving as a dynamic 
and e� ective way to communicate with internal and 
external stakeholders and customers.

We have an established set of Social Media Guidelines to 
raise our employees’ awareness of their responsibilities 
when using social media whether in a professional or 
private capacity.  

The guidelines assist employees in identifying 
opportunities where social media can improve 
communication for specifi c events and campaigns.  

Complaints Handling Process

We are committed to an accessible, fair and equitable 
complaints handling process that aligns our procedures 
with the Australian Standard for Complaints Handling 
(AS ISO 10002 – 2006).  Information regarding the 
Policy is also readily available on our external website.  
The Corporate standard for response to complaints is 
10 working days.  Information regarding our process 
is provided to all employees through our intranet and 
during the induction process. 

A monthly assurance check of this process is conducted 
via a complaints handling survey.  This survey assesses 
our customers’ experience with their complaints process 
and how the complaint was handled.  Last year, 64% of 
people interviewed indicated that they were satisfi ed 
with how their complaint was handled.  
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Annual Report 

We adopt a full, open and transparent approach when 
reporting on our operational and fi nancial performance 
in our annual report.  The report is also our medium for 
informing the public on our performance, expenditure 
of public funds and of any signifi cant issues that occur.  
As only limited copies of the hard copy report are 
produced, an online version is available on our website.

In recognition of our high standard in annual reporting, 
we received a Gold Excellence Award for our 2013 
report at the Australasian Reporting Awards.  We also 
won ‘Best Online Report – Public Sector’ for the 2013 
report which recognised that our report is accessible 
in an engaging way and was a Finalist for Sustainability 
Reporting in the Public Sector.

Managing our Records

We continue to provide a regime of best practice 
recordkeeping which supports meeting the legislative 
requirements of the State Records Act 2000. Our current 
Recordkeeping Plan (RKP) was approved in 2010 and 
is valid until October 2015 and provides overarching 
guidance in recordkeeping practices, disposal, policies’ 
practices and processes in line with the changing needs 
of an evolving workforce and how we do business.

Our services

We have adopted Australian Standards AS ISO 15489 – 
Records Management best practice recordkeeping and 
implemented the principles and standards established by 
the State Records Commission. This approach, balanced 
against the Public Sector Accountability, Integrity and 
Ethical Framework provides a solid foundation for 
e�  cient and e� ective service delivery to our customers.

In February 2014, sta�  across Main Roads were invited 
to undertake a satisfaction survey focusing on various 
corporate services o� ered throughout the organisation. 

An overall rating of 90% was achieved by the 
Information Services branch (responsible for library and 
recordkeeping services), indicating that their approach 
to managing our records continues to be adopted and 
supported by the organisation.

Our response to future trends

System appropriateness and reliability is important to 
the e� ectiveness of the business and in addressing 
future directions. To ensure that we continue to operate 
according to best practice recordkeeping and meet 
the demands of a changing business and technological 
landscape we have developed a number of strategies 
alongside our ICT Plan 2013-2020 and 2020 Strategic 
Plan that support the evolution of our practices 
and provision of exemplary service. Some of the 
considerations and actions include:

∞ Upgraded primary recordkeeping system TRIM to 
the most recent version 

∞ Investigation of alternative interfaces to act as a 
‘user friendly’ front end for TRIM

∞ Continued review and evaluation of other products 
to ensure our needs are best met by current 
systems

∞ Development of a strategy to enable better data 
and knowledge sharing through enterprise level 
workfl ows across business units and information 
systems

∞ Establishment of policies and data classifi cation to 
address future technological advances and their 
impact on recordkeeping e.g. cloud based services 

∞ A realigned Information Services section that 
brings together various support areas and 
teams to provide a holistic service to better suit 
organisational needs

∞ Retention and Disposal strategies that provide a 
planned approach to address the existing backlog

∞ Two, three-year work programs detailing 
corporate and service delivery projects to improve 
recordkeeping across the organisation

Our Training program

Cultivating and consolidating our employees’ knowledge 
on best practice recordkeeping is paramount in 
preserving our corporate memory. 

To achieve this we o� er a number of training services 
and opportunities including:

∞ Training for all new inductees that addresses record 
keeping responsibilities and compliance with our 
recordkeeping plan as well as Recordkeeping 
Awareness and TRIM Online courses. 

∞ New one hour intensive courses covering a range 
of recordkeeping topics run throughout most 
metro and regional o�  ces and o� ered through 
teleconference sessions

∞ Full day hands-on TRIM training, also o� ered on 
a one on one basis including provision of remote 
online assistance.

∞ Regularly updated policies, procedures, quick 
reference guides, fact sheets, FAQs, news items, 
service provision, availability and contact points 
made available to our employees through our 
intranet site.

An overview of the participation in various recordkeeping 
training is detailed below:

Training Participants

Full Day TRIM training 196

TRIM’n’Win short course 186

Recordkeeping induction 153

Online – Recordkeeping Awareness 134

Online – TRIM Systems training 88

Annual Records Seminar 24

TRIM one on one 5

Regional and Metropolitan Buddying 3

Tailored Business Specifi c TRIM training 2

Work experience 1
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Freedom of Information

Certain documents can be obtained under the Freedom 
of Information Act 1992 (the Act).  An information 
statement, which has been produced in accordance 
with the requirements of the Act, is available on our 
website.  The statement provides a guide on how 
to obtain documents from us under the Act as well 
as information or documents available without a 
formal application.  During the year, we received 40 
applications.

Our Freedom of Information Coordinator can be 
contacted on 138 138.  

Public Interest Disclosures

We are committed to the aims and objectives of the 
Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003.  We recognise 
the value and importance of contributions by sta�  to 
enhance administrative and management practices 
and strongly support disclosures being made by sta�  
regarding improper conduct.  

The Public Interest Disclosure Guidelines are available 
on line to all sta� , and have been incorporated into 
ongoing Fraud and Awareness training being rolled out 
to all areas of Main Roads through 2014.

Principal 9: Risk Management
Our Policy

Our Risk Management Policy states that we “manage all 
risks so that our business outcomes are achieved and 
our reputation is protected”.  We achieve this through 
the following principles: 

∞ Making risk management everyone’s responsibility 
∞ Integrating risk management with business planning
∞ Capturing lessons learnt and implementing 

continuous improvement
∞ Establishing on-going control and accountability
∞ Taking the broadest approach possible, and 

identifying all risks. 

Risk Management Process

We have established a systematic approach to enterprise 
wide risk management that brings various corporate risk 
management procedures and processes from across the 
organisation under one central process.  

All employees have a responsibility to mitigate risk 
through the management and identifi cation of risks 
that are a part of the work we undertake.  We align 
our process to the Australian Standard AS/NZS ISO 
31000:2009 – Risk Management.  In addition, major 
capital works projects incorporate risk management 
processes to ensure project and operational risks are 
identifi ed and managed where necessary.

Corporate Risk Management Reporting

As part of the ongoing Corporate Risk Management 
process, workshops are held across Main Roads to 
identify key operational and strategic risks facing 
individual directorates and business units, as well as the 
organisation as a whole.  These workshops focus on the 
strategic and longer term impacts to our business.  

Mitigating actions to address these risks have been 
incorporated within Directorate and Branch Business 
Plans and form part of the quarterly reporting and 
evaluation regime to Corporate Executive and across  
the organisation.
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Performance 
Measures and

Financial
StatementsStatement of Certifi cation

Key Performance Indicators

We hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and 
appropriate for assisting users to assess the Commissioner of Main Roads performance and fairly 
represent the performance of the Commissioner of Main Roads for the fi nancial year ended 30 June 
2014.

Financial Statements

The accompanying fi nancial statements of the Commissioner of Main Roads have been prepared in 
compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and 
records to present fairly the fi nancial transactions for the fi nancial year ending 30 June 2014 and the 
fi nancial position as at 30 June 2014. 

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars 
included in the fi nancial statements misleading or inaccurate. 

Peter Woronzow
CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

22 August 2014

Steve Troughton Reece Waldock
MANAGING DIRECTOR OF MAIN ROADS COMMISSIONER OF MAIN ROADS

22 August 2014 22 August 2014
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Independent
Auditor’s Report
To the Parliament of Western Australia

COMMISSIONER OF MAIN ROADS
Report on the Financial Statements

I have audited the accounts and fi nancial statements of 
the Commissioner of Main Roads.

The fi nancial statements comprise the Statement of 
Financial Position as at 30 June 2014, the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in 
Equity and Statement of Cash Flows for the year then 
ended, and Notes comprising a summary of signifi cant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Commissioner’s Responsibility for the Financial 
Statements

The Commissioner is responsible for keeping proper 
accounts, and the preparation and fair presentation of 
the fi nancial statements in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions, 
and for such internal control as the Commissioner 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of fi nancial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the fi nancial 
statements based on my audit. The audit was conducted 
in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those 
Standards require compliance with relevant ethical 
requirements relating to audit engagements and that the 
audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the fi nancial statements are 
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
fi nancial statements. The procedures selected depend 
on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the fi nancial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 
control relevant to the Main Roads’ preparation and 
fair presentation of the fi nancial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of the accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
the Commissioner, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the fi nancial statements.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is su�  cient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion

In my opinion, the fi nancial statements are based 
on proper accounts and present fairly, in all material 
respects, the fi nancial position of the Commissioner 
of Main Roads at 30 June 2014 and its fi nancial 
performance and cash fl ows for the year then ended. 
They are in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions.
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Report on Controls

I have audited the controls exercised by the 
Commissioner of Main Roads during the year ended 30 
June 2014.

Controls exercised by the Commissioner of Main Roads 
are those policies and procedures established by the 
Commissioner to ensure that the receipt, expenditure 
and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal 
of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in 
accordance with legislative provisions.

Commissioner’s Responsibility for Controls

The Commissioner is responsible for maintaining an 
adequate system of internal control to ensure that the 
receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the 
acquisition and disposal of public and other property, 
and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with 
the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions, and other relevant written law.

Auditor’s Responsibility

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the controls 
exercised by the Commissioner of Main Roads based 
on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing and Assurance Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the adequacy of controls to ensure that 
the Main Roads complies with the legislative provisions. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement and include an evaluation of the design and 
implementation of relevant controls.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is su�  cient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion

In my opinion, the controls exercised by the 
Commissioner of Main Roads are su�  ciently adequate 
to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, 
expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition 
and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities 
have been in accordance with legislative provisions 
during the year ended 30 June 2014.

Report on the Key Performance Indicators

I have audited the key performance indicators of the 
Commissioner of Main Roads for the year ended 30 
June 2014.

The key performance indicators are the key e� ectiveness 
indicators and the key e�  ciency indicators that provide 
information on outcome achievement and service 
provision.

Commissioner’s Responsibility for the Key Performance 
Indicators

The Commissioner is responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of the key performance indicators 
in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 
and the Treasurer’s Instructions and for such controls as 
the Commissioner determines necessary to ensure that 
the key performance indicators fairly represent indicated 
performance.

Auditor’s Responsibility

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the key 
performance indicators based on my audit conducted 
in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance 
Standards.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the key performance indicators. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the key performance indicators. In 
making these risk assessments the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the Commissioner’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the key performance 
indicators in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes 
evaluating the relevance and appropriateness of the 
key performance indicators for measuring the extent of 
outcome achievement and service provision.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is su�  cient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion

In my opinion, the key performance indicators of 
the Commissioner of Main Roads are relevant and 
appropriate to assist users to assess the Main Roads’ 
performance and fairly represent indicated performance 
for the year ended 30 June 2014.

Independence

In conducting this audit, I have complied with the 
independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 
2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards, 
and other relevant ethical requirements.

Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the 
Audited Financial Statements and Key Performance 
Indicators

This auditor’s report relates to the fi nancial statements 
and key performance indicators of the Commissioner 
of Main Roads for the year ended 30 June 2014 
included on the Main Roads’ website. The Main Roads’ 
management is responsible for the integrity of the Main 
Roads’ website. This audit does not provide assurance 
on the integrity of the Main Roads’ website. The auditor’s 
report refers only to the fi nancial statements and key 
performance indicators described above. It does not 
provide an opinion on any other information which 
may have been hyperlinked to/from these fi nancial 
statements or key performance indicators. If users of 
the fi nancial statements and key performance indicators 
are concerned with the inherent risks arising from 
publication on a website, they are advised to refer to 
the hard copy of the audited fi nancial statements and 
key performance indicators to confi rm the information 
contained in this website version of the fi nancial 
statements and key performance indicators.

COLIN MURPHY 
AUDITOR GENERAL 
FOR WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
Perth, Western Australia 
22 August 2014
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Key
Performance 

Measures

Our performance measures support managerial decision 
making by providing useful information regarding 
how e�  cient and e� ective our core processes are, if 
improvements are necessary, to identify potential risk 
areas, determine if our customers and stakeholders 
are satisfi ed and if we are meeting our own and the 
Government’s goals.  

We have a well-established outcome based performance 
measurement framework that seeks to measure the 
organisation’s success in terms of delivering on agreed 
Government goals and outcomes. 

Our performance measures are integrated within the 
monthly performance evaluation process undertaken by 
the Corporate Executive Leadership team.

Alignment with Government Goals

The Western Australian Government has identifi ed 
the following goals that we will contribute to in 
delivering its stated goals. 

We achieve the delivery of the Government goals through 
an outcome based Program Management approach. 

There are seven programs, or services, that drive outcome 
based decision making to achieve agreed business 
outcomes.  The following table shows the alignment of 
each Program against the Government’s goals.

Main Roads Government

Service (Program) Outcome Goal

Road Safety A safe road environment Outcome Based Service Delivery

O�  ce of Road Safety
Improved coordination and community 
awareness of road safety

Road Management Reliable and e�  cient movement of people and 
goodsRoad E�  ciency 

State Development Facilitate economic and regional development State Building – Major Projects

Maintenance A well maintained road network Stronger focus on the Regions

Community Access
Improved community access and roadside 
amenity

Social and Environmental Responsibility

Main Roads uses performance measurement to gain insight 
into, and make judgements about, the e� ectiveness and 
e�  ciency of its programs, processes and people. We measure 
our progress in meeting strategic goals and outcomes, gather 
and analyse performance data and then use that data to drive 
improvements and successfully measure the deployment of 
actions into outcomes.
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Changes since the last report

The only change since the last period is the removal of 
the measures on availability of tra�  c signals, emergency 
phones and street lighting as part of our o�  cial 
Outcome Based reporting.  Approval for this change was 
granted by the Under Treasurer in January 2014. 

Future review of measures

The Government has requested that Main Roads, 
along with several other larger general government 
agencies, undertake a review of their outcome Based 
Management reporting in consultation with the 
Department of Treasury.  The aim of the review is to 
seek greater transparency and alignment with individual 
programs and areas of activity.  We are due to report 
through our Minister by November 2014 with a view 
to agreed changes being refl ected in the 2015-16 State 
Government Budget Statements.

Understanding Community Perception Measures

Four of the measures are derived from an annual 
Community Perceptions Survey that seeks to refl ect the 
satisfaction levels of customers in both metropolitan and 
rural areas of the State. These results are used to ensure 
that Main Roads’ projects and customer service initiatives 
are targeted at the areas of greatest need.

Through the use of an external research company, the 
data was collected by way of telephone interview using 
a developed structured questionnaire. The results are 
based upon a random and representative sample of 
1 102 people (199 persons in the Metropolitan area and 
903 persons in rural areas – approximately 100 from 
each Region). 

When extending these results to estimate the 
percentage of satisfi ed Western Australians, the margin 
of error is approximately 2.9% at the 95% confi dence 
level and is also weighted to refl ect the actual 
population distribution based on ABS statistics.  The full 
survey is available on the Main Roads website.  

The four measures are Community Satisfaction with 
Main Roads, road safety, maintenance and provision of 
cycleway and pedestrian facilities.

Understanding On Time and On Cost Measures

The delivery of infrastructure in a State that is as 
climatically and geologically diverse as Western Australia 
provides many challenges.  Ten of our e�  ciency 
measures are based on reporting against the delivery of 
our contracts in terms of time and cost.  To recognise 
the complexity in achieving this, and consistent with 
approaches taken in other road agencies, all reporting 
against these measures includes a 10% margin when 
calculating the fi nal outcome.

Structure 

The following provides a summary of Main Roads’ 
program outcomes and measures for each indicator 
showing the trend over time as well as providing a status 
report as to how the results for 2013-14 compared 
against the targets agreed with Government.  The 
remainder of this chapter provides commentary on the 
e�  ciency and e� ectiveness indicators grouped around 
the seven outcome based programs.
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Summary of key performance measures and outcomes

2011 2012 2013 2014 
Target

2014 
Actual

Road Safety Program

% Community Satisfaction of road safety 95 92 94 90 95

Black Spot location indicator 11.2 10.7 10.3 10 10.0

% of contracts completed on time 61 67 70 90 100

% of contracts completed on budget 88 95 95 90 94

O�  ce of Road Safety Program

% E� ectiveness of road safety awareness 
campaigns

79 60 83 65 0

% of ORS Projects completed on time 90 87 78 90 83

% of ORS Projects completed on budget 88 97 100 90 95

Road E�  ciency and Road System Management Programs

% Community Satisfaction 97 95 94 90 94

Road network 
permitted for use by 
heavy vehicles

B Double -27.5m % 96 96 97 96 97

Double RT -27.5m % 96 96 97 96 97

Double RT-36.5m % 78 78 79 78 79

Triple RT-53.5m % 44 44 44 44 45

% Network 
confi guration 

Roads 89 89 89 89 90

Bridges
Strength n/a 87 88 87 89

Width 94 95 95 94 94

% of contracts completed on time 57 55 86 90 89

% of contracts completed on budget 86 82 100 90 84

Average $ cost of network management per 
million vehicle km travelled

3,509 3,567 4,006 4,256 4,983

2011 2012 2013 2014 
Target

2014 
Actual

State Development Program

Average return on construction expenditure 2.7 2.1 3.1 3.3 5.4

% of contracts completed on time 71 33 100 90 75

% of contracts completed on budget 100 100 100 90 100

Road Maintenance Program

% Smooth Travel Exposure 98 n/a 97 n/a n/a

% Community Satisfaction road maintenance 94 90 84 90 90

% Preventative maintenance indicator 88 86 87 84 86

Average $ cost of network maintenance per 
lane kilometre of road network

6,126 7,907 8,231 7,900 8,125

Community Access Program

% of the year that 100% of the Main Roads’ 
State road network is available

85 90 94 85 96

% Community satisfaction with cycleways and 
pedestrian facilities 

90 76 83 90 85

% of contracts completed on time 50 80 80 90 75

% of contracts completed on budget 100 100 80 90 50
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Road Safety
Outcome: Providing a Safe Road Environment

This program seeks to reduce the State’s road fatality 
rate to the lowest in Australia by minimising road factors 
contributing to road trauma and reducing the serious crash 
injury rate.  We demonstrate this through the following 
measures:

E� ectiveness Indicators 

Community Satisfaction with Road Safety

This indicator represents how satisfi ed the community is 
with Main Roads’ overall performance in the area of road 
safety. The survey results show that Main Roads’ high 
performance on road safety remains strong rising a further 
point since last year to achieve 95% of survey participants 
rating it as okay or better exceeding the target of 90%.  The 
survey showed that the greatest areas of improvement 
were in the Gascoyne and South West Regions

Black Spot Location Indicator

The indicator gives a measure of the number of locations 
on the road network that meet State Black Spot criteria 
based on an analysis of crash history. The measure uses 
a sliding window to determine whether the number of 
locations eligible for funding is increasing or decreasing, 
taking into account the amount of travel in the State.  The 
four year trend (shown right) continues to shows a gradual 
decline in the number of eligible black spot locations 
with the current result being the lowest recorded since 
the implementation of the Black Spot program in 2001, 
coming in below the estimated target. 

E�  ciency Indicators 

Percentage of Contracts 
Completed on Time 

This indicator represents the 
percentage of contracts that 
were delivered on time in the 
Road Safety Program.  The 
result achieved was 100% of 
contracts being delivered on 
time.

Percentage of Contracts Completed on Budget

This indicator represents the percentage of contracts 
that were delivered on budget in the Road Safety 
Program. The result achieved was 94% of contracts 
delivered on cost which exceeds the target of 90%.  

Of the three contracts that were over budget one was 
due to the works taking longer than anticipated, the 
second is currently being reviewed by the contract 
manager for approval to vary however, at the time of 
preparing the report it remains over budget, whilst the 
third contract is over budget due to a change in the 
scope of works and asphalt specifi cation. 

O�  ce of Road Safety
Outcome: Improved Coordination and Community 
Awareness of Road Safety 

This program represents the outcomes sought from the 
O�  ce of Road Safety and their role in supporting the 
Minister for Road Safety and the Road Safety Council in 
coordinating and raising community awareness of the road 
safety e� ort for Western Australia.  We demonstrate this 
through the following measures:

E� ectiveness Indicators 

E� ectiveness of Road Safety Awareness Campaigns

This indicator represents the portion of Western Australian 
drivers who remember seeing major road safety 
community education campaigns with a mass media 
expenditure of more than $500 000 conducted by the 
O�  ce of Road Safety.  Community education expenditure 
was reduced due to the Government’s mass media 
review of road safety campaigns. During the year the 
following three road safety priority areas had mass media 
expenditure, drink driving, speed and safe vehicles.  Despite 
this none of these individual campaigns were above 
$500,000, hence the zero result for this year.

95%

2014 95%

2013 94%

2012 92%

2011 95%

2 4 6 8 10 12 14

2011
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E�  ciency Indicators 

Percentage of Projects 
Completed on Time 

This indicator represents 
the percentage of projects 
approved by the Road Safety 
Council and the Minister 
for Road Safety that were 
delivered on time by the O�  ce 
of Road Safety, it excludes 
external bodies grant funded 

projects.  The current year’s result shows that 83% of all 
projects were delivered on time which is only slightly 
below the target of 90% but refl ects an improvement on 
last year’s result.  

Percentage of Projects Completed on Budget

This indicator represents the percentage of projects 
approved by the Road Safety Council and the Minister for 
Road Safety that were delivered on budget by the O�  ce of 
Road Safety.  The current year’s result shows that 95% of all 
projects were delivered on cost ahead of the target of 90%. 

E�  ciency and Road System 
Management
Outcome: Safe and E�  cient Movement of People and 
Goods

The E�  ciency Program seeks to improve the e�  ciency, 
capacity and utilisation of the existing road network 
whilst the Road System Management Program seeks to 
optimise real-time management of the network, provide 
traveller information, asset management planning and 
to support service delivery throughout the organisation. 
Together these programs contribute to achieving the 
outcome.  We demonstrate this through the following 
measures:

E� ectiveness Indicators 

Community Satisfaction

This indicator represents how satisfi ed the community 
is with Main Roads’ overall performance in the 
management and operation of the State road network.  
The survey results show that Main Roads overall 
performance remains high with 94% of respondents 
rating Main Roads’ performance as okay or better 
exceeding the target of 90%.  The survey showed 
that the greatest area of improvement was in the 
Gascoyne Region.

Road Network Permitted for use by Heavy Freight 

Vehicles

This indicator relates to the e�  cient movement of 
goods within Western Australia and the percentage of 
available State roads accessed by B-Doubles, Double 
road trains and Triple road trains. The use of larger 
vehicles with greater payloads can increase the overall 
e�  ciency of freight transport operations, resulting in 
lower transport costs. However, to maintain road safety 
and guard against infrastructure damage, restrictions are 
placed on some trucks. Because of the relatively high 
e�  ciency of these vehicles, the proportion of roads 
accessible to them is an important factor in the overall 
e�  ciency of freight transport in this State. Over the past 
four years the trend has remained relatively consistent 
with most minor fl uctuations in results attributed to 
changes in ownership of roads between State and Local 
Government and very minor variations with access 
categorisation

Type of Vehicle 2011 2012 2013 Target 2014

B Double - 27.5m 96 96 97 96 97

Double RT 27.5m 96 96 97 96 97

Double RT - 36.5m 78 78 79 78 79

Triple RT - 53.5m 44 44 44 44 45

Network Confi guration-Roads
This indicator shows the percentage of travel undertaken 
on roads meeting specifi c criteria for seal width, 
carriageway width and curve rating. The indicator gives 
a measure of the ability of Main Roads to plan for and 
maintain roads to desirable standards.  In 2014, 90.4% of 
travel was undertaken on roads meeting the seal width, 
carriageway width and curve rating criteria which is in 
line with the target of 89%. The results over the four-year 
period are relatively consistent and demonstrate that 
Main Roads continues to plan and program works to 
address roads that are below the criteria. 

Network Confi guration - Bridges

Similar to the roads measure, bridges are assessed for 
strength and width using agreed investigatory criteria. 
The monitoring of bridge strength and width needs 
to ensure a safe and e�  cient road network relating 
to improved access and transport e�  ciencies.  These 
measures are indicators for the number of bridges that 
meet, or are above, the investigatory criteria, recorded 
as a percentage of the total number of bridges on main 
roads and highways.  Therefore, the percentage of 
bridges meeting these network confi guration criteria 
should continue to rise but only slightly in future years.  
All bridges that do not meet the investigatory criteria for 
strength or width are considered in assessing, scoping 
and prioritising works, as part of the ten year bridge 
strategy. During the year four new bridges were added 
to the State’s bridge stock and these additional assets all 
met width and strength criteria.

Strength - The results of this indicator show that 89% of 
the bridges meet the agreed criteria for strength against 
a target of 87%.  

Width - In relation to width 94% of bridges meet the 
criteria against a target of 94% which is consistent with 
previous years.

94%

2014 94%

2013 94%

2012 95%

2011 97%

83%
OnTime
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E�  ciency Indicators 

Percentage of Contracts Completed on Time 

This indicator represents the percentage of contracts 
that were delivered on time in the Road E�  ciency 
Program. Whilst the target was established at 90%, 
89% of contracts were delivered on time which is a 
consistent with last year.  Of the two contracts that were 

late only one exceeded the 
target date by more than 
10 days, in that instance the 
delays were due to drilling 
and ground conditions 
associated with bores, 
an extension of time was 
issued however, it remained 
insu�  cient to complete the 
works on time.  

Percentage of Contracts 
Completed on Budget

This indicator represents the percentage of contracts 
that were delivered on budget in the Road E�  ciency 
Program.  Whilst the target was established at 90%, the 
result of 84% is below the target.  Of the three contracts 
over budget one was due to a burst Water Corporation 
well, the second arose as a result of the design costs 
being higher than originally estimated and the third was 
due to an increase in the scope of works to include a 
bus shelter and related works.

Average Cost of Network Management

This indicator measures the fi nancial e�  ciency of the 
Road System Management program in terms of cost 
per million vehicle kilometres travelled to manage 
the road system. In order to compare current fi gures 
with previous years all fi gures have been adjusted and 
reported in terms of current year’s dollars.  

The overall four year trend is inconsistent as this 
program includes occasional one-o�  development 
costs that can a� ect the overall results.  In respect of 
the current year the result of $4, 983 per million vehicle 
kilometres travelled exceeds the target.  

The trend for this measure is showing a gradual increase 
which refl ects an increase in the provision of non-
infrastructure services including heavy vehicle services 
and increased focus on addressing congestion.

State Development
Outcome: Facilitating Economic and Regional 
Development

This program expands the road network in accordance 
with State and Commonwealth transport and land use 
strategies that will facilitate the economic and regional 
development of the State.  We demonstrate this through 
the following measures:

E� ectiveness Indicators 

Return on Construction Expenditure

New road and bridge construction add to the capacity of 
the road network. Return on Construction Expenditure is 
based on Benefi t Cost Ratio (BCR) estimates of a set of 
projects undertaken each year. It indicates the extent to 
which road and bridge construction expenditure will deliver 
future economic benefi ts to the community. This indicator 
represents the expenditure weighted BCR for the State 
Development Program and Road E�  ciency program for 
which a BCR has been calculated.  

The result of 5.4 greatly exceeds the target of 3.3, this is 
largely attributed to the large BCR generated by projects 
on the Graham Farmer Freeway that were not originally 
included in the target when it was established, although 
was highlighted during the development of the 2013-14 
State Budget Papers.

E�  ciency Indicators 

Percentage of Contracts Completed on Time 

This indicator represents the percentage of contracts 
that were delivered on time in the State Development 
Program. The result achieved was 75% of contracts 
being delivered against a target of 90%.  The result 
actually refl ects only one contract being delivered 
late and work on this contract is still underway.  The 
contract relates to the Bunbury Port Access Project 

and this specifi c piece 
of work only represents 
one element of a range 
of contracts currently 
underway on these works.  

Percentage of Contracts 
Completed on Budget

This indicator represents 
the percentage of contracts 
delivered on budget against 

a target of 90% in the State 
Development Program. The result achieved was 100% of 
contracts being delivered on budget which is consistent 
with last year’s result. 

89%
OnTime

75%
OnTime
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Road Maintenance 
Outcome: Providing a Well Maintained Road Network

This program seeks to maintain the existing road and 
bridge network by maximising asset life and minimising 
whole of life costs.  We demonstrate this through the 
following measures:

E� ectiveness Indicators 

Community Satisfaction of Road Maintenance

This indicator represents how satisfi ed the community is 
with Main Roads overall performance in the maintenance 
of the State road network. The survey results show 
that Main Roads rating has improved since last year 
achieving 90% of survey participants rating it as okay or 
better coming in on target.  The survey showed that the 
greatest areas of improvement were in the Gascoyne and 
Wheatbelt North Regions.

Preventative Maintenance Indicator

The Preventative Maintenance Indicator provides a 
measure of the proportion of sealed state road network 
which has a surfacing age younger than its optimal 
target age. The indicator provides a measure of proactive 
maintenance undertaken on the network on an annual 
basis. Sections of the network with a surfacing age younger 
than target age are classifi ed as ‘Good’.  In 2014, the 
proportion of the network with a surfacing age considered 
‘Good’ is 85.8% which is above the target value of 84%. 

In reviewing the methodology an error was discovered in 
the calculation of the target age resulting in the percentage 
of pavement being rated as good being overstated by 
between one and two per cent over the last four years.  
Based on these di� erences the error was assessed as not 
being signifi cant, however, we have revised the fi gures to 
show the revised results.  

Overall the results for the four-year period remain 
consistent and the current year’s results are in accordance 
with the target.

Smooth Travel Exposure 

This indicator is based on the percentage of travel 
undertaken on the State road network meeting specifi c 
roughness criteria.  In 2011 a decision was made to only 
capture the information used in reporting this data on 
a biennial basis.   The period 2013-14 is a non-reporting 
period, the next result will be reported in 2014-15.

E�  ciency Indicators 

Average Cost of Network Maintenance per Lane 
Kilometre of Road Network

This indicator identifi es the fi nancial e�  ciency of road 
and roadside maintenance works by showing the 
cost per lane kilometre to maintain acceptable travel 
conditions on the State roads.  In determining the 
cost basis expenditure on structures and infrastructure 
depreciation has been excluded.  

In order to compare current fi gures with previous 
years all fi gures have been adjusted and reported in 
terms of current year’s dollars which can infl uence 
the trend result. The overall trend for this measure 
remains inconsistent with the current result indicating 
that the measure came in above target by $225.  
The reason for the inconsistency continues to be a 
largely as a result of high levels of expenditure arising 
from a variety of declared Natural Disasters that have 
occurred since 2012.  
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2011 94%

7570 80 85 90 95 100

2011

2012

2013

2014

Target

Results

PREVENTATIVE MAINTENANCE INDICATOR

ANNUAL REPORT

2014
101M A I N  R O A D S  W E S T E R N  A U S T R A L I A

MainRoads2014-AnnualReport-FINAL.indd   101 16/09/2014   11:03:57 AM



Community Access
Outcome: Improving Community Access and 
Roadside Amenity

This program seeks to provide infrastructure that will 
increase personal mobility and community access.  We 
demonstrate this through the following measures:

E� ectiveness Indicators 

Unplanned Road Closure on the State Road Network

Generally 100% of Main Roads sealed network is 
available to all road users; however, there are unplanned 
road closures due to a number of reasons including 
fl ooding, cyclones, major bushfi res and major road 
accidents, which may vary in duration. The availability 
of the sealed road network is measured as a percentage 
of calendar days that the whole network is available to 
the road user. Closure is determined by measuring the 
number of whole days (24 hours commencing from the 
time the road is closed) that any section of the sealed 
road network is closed. This year the road network was 
available 96% of the year which exceeds the 85% target 
which was increased last year.  All closures were due to 
fl ooding and rainfall events.

Community Satisfaction with Cycleways and Pedestrian 
Facilities

This indicator represents how satisfi ed the community 
is with Main Roads’ performance in the construction, 
maintenance and management of cycleways and 
pedestrian facilities.  The survey result shows that Main 
Roads rating has improved since last year achieving 85% 
against the target of 90%.  The survey showed that the 
greatest areas of improvement were in the Gascoyne, 
Wheatbelt South and Goldfi elds/Esperance Regions.

E�  ciency Indicators 

Percentage of Contracts Completed on Time 

This indicator represents 
the percentage of contracts 
that were delivered on time 
in the Community Access 
Program. Whilst the target 
was established at 90%, 75% 
of contracts were delivered 
on time. Only one contract 
was late which was due to 
unexpected issues related to 
the structural integrity of an 

existing river wall.  Approval 
has been sought for an extension of time however, at 
the time of preparing this report the matter was still 
under consideration.  

Percentage of Contracts Completed on Budget

This indicator represents the percentage of contracts 
delivered on budget against a target of 90%, the result 
of 50% refl ects that two contracts were over budget.  In 
one case the design costs were higher than estimated 
and in the second instance unsuitable material was 
found during construction and had to be removed and 
replaced.

85%

2014 85%

2013 83%

2012 76%

2011 90%
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
for the year ended 30 June 2014

Note 
2014
$000

2013
$000

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses 

Employee benefi ts expense 6             69,394             64,614 

Supplies and services 7           496,794           473,546 

Depreciation expense of infrastructure assets 8           251,682           247,437 

Depreciation and amortisation expense of other assets 9               4,246               4,788 

Finance costs 10                  618                  900 

Grants and subsidies 11           311,161           222,850 

Non-current assets retired/replaced 12             19,456             36,890 

Total cost of services        1,153,351        1,051,025 

Income

Revenue

Regulatory fi nes 13             80,037             84,725 

Sale of goods and services 14               9,854               5,901 

Commonwealth grants and contributions 15           266,419           351,494 

Contributions to roadworks 16             77,020             95,014 

Grants from other bodies 17             75,246             63,537 

Interest revenue 18               2,437               2,498 

Other revenue 19             40,674             13,028 

Total Revenue           551,687           616,197 

Gains

Gain on disposal of non-current assets 20               3,191                  634 

Total gains               3,191                  634 

Total income other than income from State Government           554,878           616,831 

NET COST OF SERVICES           598,473           434,194 

Income from State Government 21

Service appropriations           816,275           712,979 

Natural disaster funds             35,577             90,584 

Services received free of charge               1,814               1,375 

Royalties for Regions Fund               1,410               1,407 

Total income from State Government           855,076           806,345 

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD           256,603           372,151 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items not reclassifi ed subsequently to profi t or loss

Changes in asset revaluation surplus 36        1,401,667         (334,380)

Total other comprehensive income        1,401,667         (334,380)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD        1,658,270             37,771 

See also note 50 'Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service'.

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Note 
2014
$000

2013
$000

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 37             95,393           196,112 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 22             73,054             66,497 

Receivables 23             53,601             60,974 

Amounts receivable for services 24             47,553             46,907 

Inventories 25               2,994               4,027 

Prepayments 26             29,515             15,847 

Non-current assets classifi ed as held for sale 27                  638               5,346 

Total Current Assets           302,748           395,710 

Non-Current Assets

Receivables 23                  115                  138 

Amounts receivable for services 24        1,544,651        1,373,652 

Inventories 25               1,304               1,360 

Prepayments 26               3,242               1,200 

Property, plant and equipment 28           529,695           482,091 

Infrastructure 29      41,206,446      39,163,464 

Intangible assets 31             18,074             16,376 

Total Non-Current Assets      43,303,527      41,038,281 

TOTAL ASSETS      43,606,275      41,433,991 

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Payables 33           298,119           232,142 

Borrowings 34               5,000               5,000 

Provisions 35             33,787             36,862 

Total Current Liabilities           336,906           274,004 

Non-Current Liabilities

Borrowings 34               5,766             10,766 

Provisions 35               4,148               4,239 

Total Non-Current Liabilities               9,914             15,005 

TOTAL LIABILITIES           346,820           289,009 

NET ASSETS      43,259,455      41,144,982 

EQUITY 36

Contributed equity        3,759,621        3,303,418 

Reserves      27,454,606      26,052,939 

Accumulated surplus/(defi cit)      12,045,228      11,788,625 

TOTAL EQUITY      43,259,455      41,144,982 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 30 June 2014
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 30 June 2014

Note Contributed 
Equity

$000

Reserves
$000

Accumulated 
surplus/(defi cit)

$000

Total Equity
$000

Balance at 1 July 2012 36           3,122,196       26,387,319         11,416,474     40,925,989 

Changes in accounting policy or correction of prior period errors                        -                       -                          -                      -   

Restated balance at 1 July 2012           3,122,196       26,387,319         11,416,474     40,925,989 

- Surplus/(defi cit)                        -                       -                372,151          372,151 

- Other comprehensive income                        -            (334,380)                        -           (334,380)

Total comprehensive income for the period                        -            (334,380)              372,151            37,771 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

- Capital appropriations              200,348                     -                          -            200,348 

- Other contributions by owners                13,114                     -                          -              13,114 

- Distributions to owners               (32,240)                     -                          -             (32,240)

Total               181,222                     -                          -            181,222 

Balance at 30 June 2013           3,303,418       26,052,939         11,788,625     41,144,982 

Balance at 1 July 2013           3,303,418       26,052,939         11,788,625     41,144,982 

- Surplus/(defi cit)                        -                       -                256,603          256,603 

- Other comprehensive income                        -           1,401,667                        -         1,401,667 

Total comprehensive income for the period                        -           1,401,667              256,603       1,658,270 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

- Capital appropriations              443,592                     -                          -            443,592 

- Other contributions by owners                61,232                     -                          -              61,232 

- Distributions to owners               (48,621)                     -                          -             (48,621)

Total               456,203                     -                          -            456,203 

Balance at 30 June 2014           3,759,621       27,454,606         12,045,228     43,259,455 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Note 
2014
$000

2013
$000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Service appropriations           597,723           537,185 

Capital appropriations           443,592           200,348 

Holding account drawdowns             46,907             46,907 

Natural disaster funding             35,577             90,584 

Royalties for Regions Fund             32,113             10,562 

Net cash provided by State Government        1,155,912           885,586 

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Employee benefi ts           (73,858)           (64,310)

Supplies and services         (480,287)         (472,803)

Grants and subsidies         (196,478)         (218,147)

GST payments on purchases         (149,714)         (128,888)

Finance costs                (678)             (1,008)

Receipts

Sale of goods and services           112,072             74,967 

Commonwealth grants and contributions           266,419           351,494 

Regulatory fi nes             80,037             84,725 

Interest received               2,496               2,288 

GST receipts on sales             12,552               9,264 

GST receipts from taxation authority           134,160           120,637 

Other receipts             14,239             10,124 

Rent received               4,036               3,884 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 37         (275,004)         (227,773)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Purchase of non-current physical assets           (24,342)           (22,167)

Purchase of infrastructure assets         (958,875)         (806,909)

Receipts

Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets             13,147               9,142 

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities         (970,070)         (819,934)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Repayment of borrowings             (5,000)             (5,000)

Net cash provided by/(used in) fi nancing activities             (5,000)             (5,000)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents           (94,162)         (167,121)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period           262,609           429,730 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 37           168,447           262,609 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 30 June 2014
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
as at 30 june 2014

1. Australian Accounting Standards. 
General
The Commissioner of Main Roads’ (Main Roads) fi nancial statements for the year ended 
30 June 2014 have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. 
The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ includes Standards and Interpretations 
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).  

Main Roads has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian Accounting 
Standards from their operative dates.

Early adoption of standards
Main Roads cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifi cally 
permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other 
Pronouncements. There has been no early adoption of Australian Accounting Standards 
that have been issued or amended (but not operative) by Main Roads for the annual 
reporting period ended 30 June 2014.  

2. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies 

(a) General statement
Main Roads is a not-for-profi t reporting entity that prepares general purpose fi nancial 
statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, 
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the 
AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s Instructions. Several of these are modifi ed by the 
Treasurer’s Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions impose legislative 
provisions that govern the preparation of fi nancial statements and take precedence over 
Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts 
and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modifi cation is required and has had a material or signifi cant fi nancial e� ect 
upon the reported results, details of that modifi cation and the resulting fi nancial e� ect 
are disclosed in the notes to the fi nancial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation   
The fi nancial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using 
the historical cost convention, except for land, buildings and infrastructure which have 
been measured at fair value.  

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the fi nancial statements have 
been consistently applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

The fi nancial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to 
the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses 
judgements that have been made in the process of applying the Main Roads’ 
accounting policies resulting in the most signifi cant e� ect on amounts recognised in 
the fi nancial statements.

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made 
concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 
the reporting period, that have a signifi cant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next fi nancial year.

(c) Reporting entity   
The reporting entity comprises the Commissioner of Main Roads.

(d) Contributed equity   
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public 
Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than 
as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the 
Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) 
before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations 
have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners 
made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly to 
Contributed equity.

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure 
of administrative arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the 
transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.

(e) Income   
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or 
receivable. Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

Sale of goods    
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when 
the signifi cant risks and rewards of ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be 
measured reliably.

Provision of services    
Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.
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Interest 
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

Service appropriations
Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which 
Main Roads gains control of the appropriated funds. Main Roads gains control of 
appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited to the bank account or 
credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury.

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Revenue is recognised at fair value when Main Roads obtains control over the assets 
comprising the contributions, usually when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised 
at their fair value. Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be 
reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not donated.

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in 
which Main Roads obtains control over the funds. Main Roads obtains control of the 
funds at the time the funds are deposited into Main Roads bank account.

Gains
Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains 
arising on the disposal of non-current assets and some revaluations of non-current 
assets.

(f) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs for qualifying assets are capitalised net of any investment income 
earned on the unexpended portion of the borrowings. Other borrowing costs are 
expensed when incurred. 

(g) Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure

Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing $5,000 or more are 
recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their 
useful lives. Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing less than 
$5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
(other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are signifi cant in 
total).

Initial recognition and measurement    
Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure are initially recognised at cost.

For items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure acquired at no cost or for 
nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement 
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the 
measurement of land, buildings and infrastructure and historical cost for all other 
property, plant and equipment. Land, buildings and infrastructure are carried at 
fair value less accumulated depreciation (buildings and infrastructure only) and 
accumulated impairment losses. All other items of property, plant and equipment 
are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is 
determined on the basis of current market buying values determined by reference to 
recent market transactions. When buildings are revalued by reference to recent market 
transactions, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying 
amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount.

In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of land and buildings is determined 
on the basis of existing use. This normally applies where buildings are specialised 
or where land use is restricted. Fair value for existing use buildings is determined by 
reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefi ts embodied 
in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair value of buildings 
is determined on the depreciated replacement cost basis, the gross carrying amount 
and the accumulated depreciation are restated proportionately. Fair value for restricted 
use land is determined by comparison with market evidence for land with similar 
approximate utility (high restricted use land) or market value of comparable unrestricted 
land (low restricted use land).

Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land 
Information Authority (Valuation Services) and recognised annually to ensure that the 
carrying amount does not di� er materially from the asset’s fair value at the end of the 
reporting period.

Fair value of infrastructure, other than land under roads, has been determined by 
reference to the depreciated replacement cost (existing use basis) as the assets are 
specialised and no market-based evidence of value is available.  The replacement 
cost is determined by Main Roads every three years by reference to the cost of a new 
asset and adjusted in the intervening years by reference to a cost index (ABS Road and 
Bridge Construction Cost Index or rates obtained by professional estimators specialising 
in road infrastructure works) to ensure asset values do not materially di� er from fair 
value.  The value of roads and principal shared paths (earthworks, drainage, pavements 
and seals), bridges and road furniture at 30 June 2014 is based on the depreciated 
replacement cost determined at 30 June 2014 calculated using construction unit rates 
determined by a professional quantity surveying fi rm and multiplying these by the units 
that form the infrastructure asset.  A cost index (ABS Road and Bridge Construction Cost 
Index) has been applied to principal shared paths and certain road furniture assets to 
ensure asset values do not materially di� er from fair value.

When infrastructure is revalued, the accumulated depreciation is restated 
proportionately with the change in the gross carrying amount of the asset so that the 
carrying amount of the asset after revaluation equals its revalued amount.

Work in Progress is recognised at cost.
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The fair value of land under roads (i.e. land under roadways, and road reserves, including 
land under footpaths, nature strips and median strips) is based on the market value 
of the land adjoining the road reserve.  The land values are provided by geographic 
location on an annual basis by the Western Australian Land Information Authority 
(Valuation Services) as follows: 

• Metropolitan area – median value for single residential land for each Local 
Government Area.   Land parcels up to 899 square metres are assumed to have a 
single residential zoning.

• South West Region - nominal unimproved valuation rates covering the south west of 
the State from Geraldton to Esperance.    

• Balance of State - nominal unimproved valuation rates based on leasehold rates for 
Crown land.     

The most signifi cant assumptions and judgements in estimating fair value are made in 
assessing whether to apply the existing use basis to assets and in determining estimated 
economic life. Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence 
does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and existing use assets.

Land acquired for road reserves is initially reported as ‘land acquired for roadworks’ 
under ‘property, plant and equipment’ until the land is required for road construction.  It 
is then transferred to ‘land under roads’ and reported as part of infrastructure assets. 

Land determined to be surplus to the requirements of the road reserve is available 
for disposal and is transferred to ‘surplus land’ or ‘non-current assets held for sale’ 
depending on the timetable for disposal. 

Wherever possible, the properties are rented or leased until required for roadworks.  
Income from these properties is recognised as revenue in the fi nancial year it is earned.

Derecognition
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment and 
infrastructure, any revaluation surplus relating to that asset is retained in the asset 
revaluation surplus.

Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on 
the revaluation of non-current assets as described in note 28 ‘Property, plant and 
equipment’and note 29 ‘Infrastructure’.

Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over 
their estimated useful lives in a manner that refl ects the consumption of their future 
economic benefi ts.

Road earthworks do not generally have a fi nite life.  Physical deterioration and 
commercial obsolescence are not signifi cant factors.  The small percentage of 
earthworks that are depreciated have been assessed to be substandard in terms 
of horizontal alignment and therefore impacted by technical obsolescence.  An 
engineering review is completed annually to identify these segments of the network.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are 
reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are:

Road Infrastructure:

Earthworks Up to 173 years

Pavement, drainage and seals:

Metropolitan asphalt roads 40 years

Sealed rural roads 50 years

Gravel roads 12 years

Bridges 60 to 100 years

Road furniture 25 to 40 years

Property, Plant & Equipment:

Buildings 10 to 40 years

Plant and vehicles 5 to 10 years

Equipment and furniture 5 to 13 years

Computer hardware and software(a)         3 to 13 years

(a)Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware

Land is not depreciated.

(h) Intangible assets   

Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated 
intangible assets costing $50,000 or more are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets 
is expensed (amortised) over their useful lives. Costs incurred below these thresholds 
are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for 
nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition. 

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried 
at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with fi nite useful lives is calculated for the period of 
the expected benefi t (estimated useful life which is reviewed annually) on the straight 
line basis. All intangible assets controlled by Main Roads, except drainage easements, 
have a fi nite useful life and zero residual value.
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The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:

 Computer software(a)  and licences 3 to 10 years
 (a)Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware

Computer software and licences
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as property, 
plant and equipment.  Software that is not an integral part of the related hardware is 
recognised as an intangible asset.  Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the 
year of acquisition.

Drainage easements
Easements secured over properties for the purpose of road drainage have an indefi nite 
useful life.

(i) Impairment of assets
Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and intangible assets are tested for 
any indication of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Where there is an 
indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable 
amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is 
written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. Where 
an asset measured at cost is written down to recoverable amount, an impairment 
loss is recognised in profi t or loss.  Where a previously revalued asset is written down 
to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement in other 
comprehensive income.  As Main Roads is a not-for-profi t entity, unless a specialised 
asset has been identifi ed as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.  

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s 
depreciation is materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where 
there is a signifi cant change in useful life. The exception is road earthworks when the 
alignment of a section of road may be assessed to be defi cient and the useful life 
of the asset is revised from infi nite to fi nite. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed 
annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation refl ects the level of 
consumption or expiration of asset’s future economic benefi ts and to evaluate any 
impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indefi nite useful life and intangible assets not yet available 
for use are tested for impairment at the end of each reporting period irrespective of 
whether there is any indication of impairment. 

The recoverable amount of assets identifi ed as surplus assets is the higher of fair value 
less costs to sell and the present value of future cash fl ows expected to be derived from 
the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where 
fair value is determined by reference to market-based evidence. Where fair value is 
determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of 
impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested 
for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period.

(j) Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classifi ed as held for sale
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale are recognised at the lower of 
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, and are disclosed separately from 
other assets in the Statement of Financial Position. Assets classifi ed as held for sale are 
not depreciated or amortised. 

(k) Leases
Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this 
represents the pattern of benefi ts derived from the leased properties.

(l) Financial instruments
In addition to cash, Main Roads has two categories of fi nancial instrument:

∞ Loans and receivables; and 
∞ Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:

∞ Financial Assets
› Cash and cash equivalents
› Restricted cash and cash equivalents
› Receivables
› Amounts receivable for services

∞ Financial Liabilities
› Payables
› WATC Loan

Initial recognition and measurement of fi nancial instruments is at fair value which 
normally equates to the transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent measurement is 
at amortised cost using the e� ective interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face 
value because there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not 
required as the e� ect of discounting is not material.

(m) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and 
restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term 
deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a 
known amount of cash and which are subject to insignifi cant risk of changes in value.

(n) Accrued salaries
Accrued salaries (see note 33 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due to sta�  but unpaid 
at the end of the fi nancial year. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the 
fi nancial year end. Main Roads considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be 
equivalent to its fair value.
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(o) Amounts receivable for services (holding account) 
Main Roads receives income from the State Government partly in cash and partly as an 
asset (holding account receivable). The holding account receivable balance, resulting 
from service appropriation funding, is accessible on the emergence of the cash funding 
requirement to cover asset replacement. 

(p)  Inventories
Inventories held for distribution (for roadworks) are measured at cost, adjusted when 
applicable for any loss of service potential. Costs are assigned on a standard, average or 
last known cost basis.

Inventories held for resale are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. See 
note 25 ‘Inventories’. 

(q) Receivables 
Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any 
uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on 
an ongoing basis and any receivables identifi ed as uncollectible are written-o�  against 
the allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is 
raised when there is objective evidence that Main Roads will not be able to collect the 
debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 
30 days.

(r) Payables  
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when Main Roads becomes obliged 
to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying 
amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days.

(s) Borrowings 
All loans payable are initially recognised at the fair value, being the net proceeds received. 
Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the e� ective interest method.

(t) Provisions  
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there 
is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the 
outfl ow of resources embodying economic benefi ts is probable and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of 
each reporting period.

Provisions - employee benefi ts
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services 
up to the end of the reporting period.

Annual leave
Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of 
reporting period and is therefore considered to be ‘other long-term employee benefi ts’. 
The annual leave liability is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected 
to apply at the time of settlement

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected 
future wage and salary levels including non-salary components such as employer 

superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and 
periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at 
the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity 
that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outfl ows.

The provision for annual leave is classifi ed as a current liability as Main Roads does not 
have an unconditional right to the defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months 
after the end of the reporting period.

Long service leave
Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end 
of the reporting period is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected 
to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected 
future wage and salary levels including non-salary components such as employer 
superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and 
periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at 
the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity 
that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outfl ows

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classifi ed as current liabilities as Main 
Roads does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at 
least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Pre-conditional and conditional 
long service leave provisions are classifi ed as non-current liabilities because Main Roads 
has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has 
completed the requisite years of service.

Sick leave
Liabilities for sick leave are recognised when it is probable that sick leave paid in the 
future will be greater than the entitlement that will accrue in the future.

Past history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each reporting period is 
less than the entitlement accrued. This is expected to continue in future periods. 
Accordingly, it is unlikely that existing accumulated entitlements will be used by 
employees and no liability for unused sick leave entitlements is recognised. As sick 
leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income for this leave as it is taken.

Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB)  and other funds providers 
administer public sector superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in 
accordance with legislative requirements. 

Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes for public sector employees vary 
according to commencement and implementation dates.
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Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defi ned benefi t pension 
scheme closed to new members since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme 
(GSS), a defi ned benefi t lump sum scheme closed to new members since 1995.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members 
of either the Pension Scheme or the GSS became non-contributory members of the 
West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on 
or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From 
30 March 2012, existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees have 
been able to choose their preferred superannuation fund provider. Main Roads makes 
contributions to GESB or other fund providers on behalf of employees in compliance 
with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 
1992. Contributions to these accumulation schemes extinguish Main Roads’ liability for 
superannuation charges in respect of employees who are not members of the Pension 
Scheme or GSS.

The GSS is a defi ned benefi t scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-
government reporting. However, it is a defi ned contribution plan for agency purposes 
because the concurrent contributions (defi ned contributions) made by Main Roads to 
GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the related superannuation liability.

Main Roads has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for the 
unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefi ts attributable to members 
who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS 
obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by Main Roads to the GESB.

The GESB makes all benefi t payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is 
recouped from the Treasurer for the employer’s share.

Provisions – other
Employment on-costs
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee 
benefi ts and are recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment 
to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other 
expenses’ and are not included as part of Main Roads’ ‘Employee benefi ts expense’. The 
related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’

(u) Superannuation expense
The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises 
employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), WSS, the GESBS, or 
other superannuation fund.

(v) Assets and services  received free of charge or for nominal cost
Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost, that Main Roads would 
otherwise purchase if not donated, are recognised as income at the fair value of the 
assets or services where they can be reliably measured. 

A corresponding expense is recognised for services received.  Receipts of assets are 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.

Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed 
under Income from State Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(w) Comparative fi gures
Comparative fi gures are, where appropriate, reclassifi ed to be comparable with the 
fi gures presented in the current fi nancial year.

(x) Insurance
Main Roads regularly reviews its insurance arrangements including areas where self-
insurance is deemed to be economically justifi ed.  Self insurance covers the risks of 
natural disasters causing damage to infrastructure assets. Currently, these self-insurance 
areas are:

• roads, bridges and road furniture

(y) Property liabilities and commitments
A liability has been recognised in respect of properties for which a Notice of 
Resumption under the Land Administration Act 1997 has been issued and formal 
possession has taken place but where settlement has not been achieved at the end of 
the reporting period.  Liabilities in such circumstances have been based on valuations 
and include costs of acquisition. This liability is included in Payables. See note 33 
‘Payables’.

3. Judgements made by management in applying 
accounting policies
The preparation of fi nancial statements requires management to make judgements 
about the application of accounting policies that have a signifi cant e� ect on the 
amounts recognised in the fi nancial statements. Main Roads evaluates these 
judgements regularly.

Fair Value Measurement
In determining the fair value of land, buildings and infrastructure, Main Roads adopts the 
valuation techniques applied by professional valuers and quantity surveying fi rms.  Refer 
to note 2(g) for further details.

4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical 
experience and various other factors that have a signifi cant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next fi nancial year.

Long Service Leave
The liability for long service leave is measured at the present value of amounts expected 
to be paid when the liabilities are settled.  The assessment of future payments is based 
on estimated retention rates and remuneration levels and discounted using current 
market yields on national government bonds with maturity dates that match the 
estimated future cash outfl ows.
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Depreciated replacement cost of infrastructure assets
Infrastructure assets, other than land under roads, are measured at depreciated 
replacement cost by reference to the cost of new assets.  The replacement cost is 
reviewed every three years on the basis of actual contract construction rates and 
adjusted in the intervening years by applying the Road and Bridge Construction Index 
published by the Australian Bureau of Statistics.

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates
Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
Main Roads has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards e� ective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2013 that impacted on Main Roads.

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement
This Standard defi nes fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair 
value and requires additional disclosures for fair value measurements for 
non-fi nancial assets and liabilities. There is no fi nancial impact.

AASB 119 Employee Benefi ts
This Standard supersedes AASB 119 (October 2010), making changes to the 
recognition, presentation and disclosure requirements.
Main Roads assessed employee leave patterns to determine whether annual 
leave is a short-term or other long-term employee benefi t. The resultant 
discounting of annual leave liabilities that were previously measured at the 
undiscounted amounts is not material.

AASB 1048 Interpretation of Standards
This Standard supersedes AASB 1048 (June 2012), enabling references to the 
Interpretations in all other Standards to be updated by reissuing the service 
Standard. There is no fi nancial impact.

AASB 2011-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13 [AASB 
1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 101, 102, 108, 110, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 
121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 1004, 1023 & 1038 and Int 
2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 19, 131 & 132]
This Standard replaces the existing defi nition and fair value guidance in other 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as the result of issuing 
AASB 13 in September 2011. There is no fi nancial impact.

AASB 2011-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119 
(September 2011) [AASB 1, 8, 101, 124, 134, 1049 & 2011-8 and Int 14]
This Standard makes amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 119 in September 2011. The 
resultant discounting of annual leave liabilities that were previously measured 
at the undiscounted amounts is not material.

AASB 2012-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures – O� setting 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities [AASB 7 & 132]
This Standard amends the required disclosures in AASB 7 to include 
information that will enable users of an entity’s fi nancial statements to 
evaluate the e� ect or potential e� ect of netting arrangements, including 
rights of set-o�  associated with the entity’s recognised fi nancial assets and 
recognised fi nancial liabilities, on the entity’s fi nancial position. There is no 
fi nancial impact.

AASB 2012-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual 
Improvements 2009-11 Cycle [AASB 1, 101, 116, 132 & 134 and Int 2]
This Standard makes amendments to the Australian Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations as a consequence of the annual improvements process. 
There is no fi nancial impact.

AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Mandatory E� ective Date 
of AASB 9 and Transition Disclosures [AASB 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 2011-7 & 
2011-8]
This Standard amends the mandatory e� ective date of AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments to 1 January 2015 (instead of 1 January 2013). Further 
amendments are also made to numerous consequential amendments arising 
from AASB 9 that will now apply from 1 January 2015. There is no fi nancial 
impact.

AASB 2012-9 Amendment to AASB 1048 arising from the Withdrawal of Australian Int 1039
The withdrawal of Int 1039 Substantive Enactment of Major Tax Bills in 
Australia has no fi nancial impact for Main Roads during the reporting period 
and at balance date. Measurement of tax assets and liabilities continues to 
be measured in accordance with enacted or substantively enacted tax law 
pursuant to AASB 112.46-47.

AASB 2012-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transition Guidance and 
Other Amendments [AASB 1, 5, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 119, 
127, 128, 132, 133, 134, 137, 1023, 1038, 1039, 1049 & 2011-7 and Int 12]
The Standard introduces a number of editorial alterations and amends 
the mandatory application date of Standards for not-for-profi t entities 
accounting for interests in other entities. There is no fi nancial impact.

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, 
Materiality and Financial Instruments.
Part A of this omnibus Standard makes amendments to other Standards 
arising from revisions to the Australian Accounting Conceptual Framework 
for periods ending on or after 20 December 2013. Other Parts of this 
Standard become operative in later periods. There is no fi nancial impact for 
Part A of the Standard.
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Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
Main Roads cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifi cally 
permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other 
Pronouncements. Consequently, Main Roads has not applied early any of the following 
Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact Main Roads. 
Where applicable, Main Roads plans to apply these Australian Accounting Standards 
from their application date.

Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning 
on/after

Int 21 Levies

This Interpretation clarifi es the circumstances under which 
a liability to pay a government levy imposed should be 
recognised. There is no fi nancial impact for Main Roads at 
reporting date.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement, introducing a number of 
changes to accounting treatments.
The mandatory application date of this Standard was 
amended to 1 January 2018 by AASB 2014-1 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards. Main Roads has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 127 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and Int 
112 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, introducing a 
number of changes to accounting treatments.
Mandatory application was deferred by one year for 
not-for-profi t entities by AASB 2012-10 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards – Transition Guidance and 
Other Amendments. The adoption of the new Standard 
has no fi nancial impact for Main Roads as it doesn’t impact 
accounting for related bodies and Main Roads has no 
interests in other entities.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 11 Joint Arrangements

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 131 
Interests in Joint Ventures, introduces new principles for 
determining the type of joint arrangement that exists, which 
are more aligned to the actual rights and obligations of the 
parties to the arrangement.
Mandatory application of the Standard was deferred by one 
year for not-for-profi t entities by AASB 2012-10. There is 
no fi nancial impact for Main Roads as the new standard 
will continue to require proportional consolidation of Main 
Road’s rights to assets

1 Jan 2014

AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes disclosure 
requirements under AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements, AASB 128 Investments in Associates 
and AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures. 
Mandatory application was deferred by one year for not-for-
profi t entities by AASB 2012-10. There is no fi nancial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements

This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 127 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements removing 
the consolidation requirements of the earlier standard whilst 
retaining accounting and disclosure requirements for the 
preparation of separate fi nancial statements. Mandatory 
application was deferred for not-for-profi t entities by AASB 
2012-10. There is no fi nancial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

This Standard supersedes AASB 128 Investments in 
Associates, introducing a number of clarifi cations for the 
accounting treatments of changed ownership interest.
Mandatory application was deferred by one year for not-
for-profi t entities by AASB 2012-10. The adoption of the 
new Standard has no fi nancial impact for Main Roads as it 
doesn’t hold investments in associates or and the accounting 
treatments for joint operations is consistent with current 
practice.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 1031 Materiality

This Standard supersedes AASB 1031 (February 2010), 
removing Australian guidance on materiality not available in 
IFRSs and refers to guidance on materiality in other Australian 
pronouncements. There is no fi nancial impact.

1 Jan 2014
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AASB 1055 Budgetary Reporting

This Standard requires specifi c budgetary disclosures in 
the general purpose fi nancial statements of not-for-profi t 
entities within the General Government Sector. Main Roads 
will be required to disclose additional budgetary information 
and explanations of major variances between actual and 
budgeted amounts, though there is no fi nancial impact.

1 Jul 2014

AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 
128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 10 & 12]

[modifi ed by AASB 2010-7]

1 Jan 2015

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 
108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 
& 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a 
result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010.
AASB 2012-6 amended the mandatory application date of 
this Standard to 1 January 2015. Main Roads has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard.

1 Jan 2015

AASB 2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards [AASB 
1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 101, 107, 112, 118, 121, 124, 132, 133, 
136, 138, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 5, 9, 16 & 17]

This Standard gives e� ect to consequential changes arising 
from the issuance of AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 127 Separate 
Financial Statements and AASB 128 Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures. Main Roads has undertaken an analysis of 
the suite of Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards 
and determined that there is no fi nancial impact arising from 
adoption of the various Standards.

1 Jan 2013

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
O� setting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities [AASB 132]

This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 to 
address inconsistencies identifi ed in applying some of 
the o� setting criteria, including clarifying the meaning of 
“currently has a legally enforceable right of set-o� ” and 
that some gross settlement systems may be considered 
equivalent to net settlement. There is no fi nancial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 2013-3 Amendments to AASB 136 – Recoverable Amount 
Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets.

This Standard introduces editorial and disclosure changes. 
There is no fi nancial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 2013-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Novation 
of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting [AASB 
139]

This Standard permits the continuation of hedge accounting 
in circumstances where a derivative, which has been 
designated as a hedging instrument, is novated from one 
counterparty to a central counterparty as a consequence of 
laws or regulations. Main Roads does not routinely enter into 
derivatives or hedges, therefore there is no fi nancial impact.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 2013-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Australian 
Implementation Guidance for Not-for-Profi t Entities – 
Control and Structured Entities [AASB 10, 12 & 1049].

The amendments, issued in October 2013, provide signifi cant 
guidance to clarify whether determine whether a not-for-
profi t entity controls another entity when fi nancial returns 
aren’t a key attribute of the investor’s relationship. The 
Standard has no fi nancial impact in its own right, rather the 
impact results from the adoption of the amended AASB 10.

1 Jan 2014

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial 
Instruments.

This omnibus Standard makes amendments to other 
Standards arising from the deletion of references to AASB 
1031 in other Standards for periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2014 (Part B), and, defers the application of 
AASB 9 to 1 January 2017 (Part C). Main Roads has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of AASB 9, 
otherwise there is no fi nancial impact for Part B.

1 Jan 2014
1 Jan 2017

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards

Main Roads has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jul 2014
1 Jan 2015
1 Jan 2016
1 Jan 2018
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6. Employee benefi ts expense

2014
$000

2013
$000

Wages and salaries             54,346             50,353 

Annual leave               5,008               4,968 

Long service leave               2,619               2,537 

Fringe benefi ts tax               1,186               1,118 

            63,159             58,976 

Superannuation - defi ned contribution plans (a)               6,235               5,638 

            69,394             64,614 

(a)Defi ned contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESBS and other eligible 
funds.

7. Supplies and services

Contractors and Consultants           440,426           427,146 

Materials               5,956                  788 

Plant hire charges               4,439               8,978 

Postage, stationery and reprographics               1,005               1,017 

Telecommunications               4,936               4,292 

Building maintenance and equipment               4,606               3,577 

Electricity, gas and water             15,324               8,632 

Contributions                  112                    34 

Legal costs                  689                  379 

Advertising               1,671               6,879 

Rates and taxes                  290                  401 

Insurance               4,383               4,088 

Other             12,957               7,335 

          496,794           473,546 

8. Depreciation expense of infrastructure assets

2014
$000

2013
$000

Roads – earthworks                  852                  840 

Roads – earthworks (adjustment)                (651)                    -   

Roads – pavements, drainage and seal           181,015           179,923 

Bridges             52,143             49,525 

Road furniture             18,323             17,149 

 251,682  247,437 

9. Depreciation and amortisation expense of other assets

Depreciation

Plant, equipment and vehicles               3,031               3,057 

Buildings               5,446               5,730 

Total depreciation               8,477               8,787 

Amortisation

Intangible assets               1,654               1,733 

Total amortisation               1,654               1,733 

Total depreciation and amortisation             10,131             10,520 

Less: depreciation capitalised to infrastructure             (5,885)             (5,732)

              4,246               4,788 
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10. Finance costs

2014
$000

2013
$000

Interest expense                  618                  900 

11. Grants and subsidies

Grants and subsidies to local government and other bodies           202,966           221,414 

Grants of non-current assets to other bodies           108,195               1,436 

          311,161           222,850 

12. Non-current assets retired/replaced

Buildings                  323                    -   

Land acquired for roadworks                  375                    -   

Earthworks and pavements             16,990             33,624 

Bridges               1,484                    21 

Road furniture                  152               3,156 

Infrastructure work in progress                  132                    89 

            19,456             36,890 

Non-current assets replaced or retired during the year have been expensed at their carrying 
amount.

13. Regulatory fi nes

2014
$000

2013
$000

Regulatory fi nes  80,037  84,725 

This revenue represents all moneys from photographic based vehicle infringement notices 
collected via Department of Transport and Department of the Attorney General. The 
collections are credited to the Road Trauma Trust Account and administered by the O�  ce of 
Road Safety in accordance with the Road Safety Council Act 2002.

14. Sale of goods and services
Sale of goods and services  9,854  5,901 

This amount represents works undertaken for other public and private bodies and includes the 
recovery of expenditure from the Commonwealth Department of Infrastructure and Transport, 
Local Government and Regional Development under service delivery arrangements with the 
Shires of Christmas Island and Cocos (Keeling) Island.  The amounts expended or set aside for 
expenditure during 2013-14 are summarised at note 49 ‘Indian Ocean Territories’.

15. Commonwealth grants and contributions

Nation Building Program  263,444  341,881 

Jobs Fund - Infrastructure Employment Projects  -    6,500 

Interstate Road Transport Act 1985  2,975  3,113 

 266,419  351,494 
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Nation Building Program
Grants are received from the Commonwealth Government through the Nation Building 
Program (National Land Transport) Act 2009. The objective of this Act is to assist national 
and regional economic and social development by improving the performance of land 
transport infrastructure. Programs funded under this arrangement include the Heavy 
Vehicle Safety and Productivity and the Black Spot Program along with funding for the 
Local Road and National Road Projects.  

Jobs Fund – Infrastructure Employment Projects
Grants are received from the Commonwealth Government through the Jobs Fund. This 
is an Australian Government initiative to support and create jobs and skill development 
through projects that build infrastructure and social capital in local communities. This 
funding is used to deliver the Fitzgerald River National Park Road Upgrade and Walk Trail 
Project.

Interstate Road Transport Act 1985
A charge is levied under the Act on interstate commercial vehicles that are exempt from 
State charges and the revenue raised is distributed in accordance with the damage 
attributed to interstate vehicles in each State.

At 30 June 2014, $6.659 million of the Nation Building Program (National Land 
Transport) Act 2009 grants recognised as revenue remained unspent on approved 
projects (at 30 June 2013 the amount was $20.125 million).  Refer to note 2(e) ‘Income’.

16. Contributions to roadworks

2014
$000

2013
$000

Contributions to roadworks  77,020  95,014 

This revenue represents contributions by both public and private bodies towards the cost of 
works performed on highways and main roads.  See note 2(e) ‘Income’.

17. Grants from other bodies
2014
$000

2013
$000

Grants from local government authorities and       
other bodies
Transferred infrastructure assets at fair value  295  1,830 

Local Government contribution to tra�  c signal 
construction

 283  612 

Developers contribution to roadworks  74,668  61,095 

 75,246  63,537 

Transferred infrastructure assets at fair value are transfers from Local Government and other bodies 
to State Government based on formal proclamation.  The following assets were transferred during 
2013-14:  Intersection improvement (Albany Highway & Gosnells Rd).

The developers contribution to roadworks relate to construction costs met by private developers 
on roads owned by Main Roads.  Roadworks include Intersection improvements (Coolgardie-
Esperance Highway), Bridge over Onslow Salt Ponds, Munjina Rd realignment (Western Turner 
Syncline), Munjina Rd Improvements (Restricted Access Vehicles), Marble Bar Rd realignment, and 
North West Coastal Highway Grade Separation (Cape Lambert Expansion).

18. Interest revenue

Road Trauma Trust Account interest revenue  2,378  2,442 

Other interest revenue  59  56 

 2,437  2,498 

19. Other revenue
Rental income  4,125  3,929 

Return of previous year grants  2,127  73 

Other contributions(a)  3,738  4,850 

Assets not previously recognised  25,526  -   

Other  5,158  4,176 

 40,674  13,028 

(a) Contributions to the O�  ce of Road Safety by other bodies for road related safety projects

ANNUAL REPORT

2014
120 M A I N  R O A D S  W E S T E R N  A U S T R A L I A

MainRoads2014-AnnualReport-FINAL.indd   120 16/09/2014   11:04:02 AM



20. Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non current assets

2014
$000

2013
$000

Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets

Land acquired for roadworks             12,442               3,913 

Land and buildings                  778               5,123 

Plant, equipment and vehicles                    41                  168 

            13,261               9,204 

Costs of disposal of non-current assets

Land acquired for roadworks               9,313               5,544 

Land and buildings                  745               2,665 

Plant, equipment and vehicles                    12                  361 

            10,070               8,570 

Net gain/(loss)               3,191                  634 

21. Income from State Government

Service appropriations

Motor vehicle licence fees           551,305           528,185 

Untied funds           257,357           176,373 

Motor vehicle permit fees               7,234               8,054 

Salaries and Allowances Act 1975                  379                  367 

          816,275           712,979 

Other funds received from State Government

Natural disaster funds             35,577             90,584 

Services received free of charge from other State 
government agencies during the period:

Land Information Authority (Landgate)                  928                  765 
Department of the Attorney General (State 
Solicitor's O�  ce)

                 886                  610 

              1,814               1,375 

Royalties for Regions Fund

Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Account               1,410               1,407 

          855,076           806,345 

Service appropriations
Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue 
comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) 
comprises the budgeted depreciation expense for the year.

Motor vehicle licence fees
Motor vehicle licence fees for cars and light vehicles are raised under the Road Tra�  c 
Act 1974. The total licence fees collected in 2013-14 was $686.986 million (2012-13: 
$616.462 million). An amount of $551.305 million (2012-13: $528.185 million) was 
received as a service appropriation and the balance of $135.681 million (2012-13: 
$88.277 million) appropriated as a capital contribution by owners and included under 
‘Contributed Equity’ in the Statement of Financial Position.  

Untied funds 
Untied funds are appropriations from the Consolidated Fund. The total appropriation 
from the Consolidated Fund in 2013-14 was $565.268 million (2012-13: $288.444 million).  
This includes a service appropriation of $257.357 million (2012-13: $176.373 million) 
and a capital contribution of $307.911 million (2012-13: $112.071 million). The service 
appropriation includes a cash component of $38.805 million (2012-13: $0.579 million) and 
a $218.552 million (2012-13: $175.794 million) non cash component. 

Motor vehicle permit fees
The vehicle standards for dimensions and mass are prescribed under the Road Tra�  c 
(Vehicle Standards) Regulations 2002.  Under the regulations, a permit is required 
to access certain parts of the WA road network for vehicles that do not meet the 
standards.  Main Roads charges a fee to issue the permits in accordance with Road 
Tra�  c (Charges and Fees) Regulations 2006.

Other funds received from State Government
Natural disaster funds
Funds provided by the Department of Fire and Emergency Services for the re-opening 
and re-instatement of roads damaged by declared natural disasters.

Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Account
This is a sub-fund within the over-arching ‘Royalties for Regions Fund’. The recurrent 
funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas.
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22. Restricted cash and cash equivalents

2014
$000

2013
$000

Current

Contractor's deposits  740  1,980 

Road Trauma Trust Account  72,309  64,517 

Commonwealth Paid Parental Leave Scheme  5  -   

 73,054  66,497 

Contractor’s deposits
Amounts withheld from contractors payments pending satisfactory completion of 
works.   

Road Trauma Trust Account
Cash held in this Account is to be used only for the purposes as prescribed in note 47 
‘Special purpose accounts’.

Commonwealth Paid Parental Leave Scheme   

Funds held in this account are to be used for purposes of meeting payments to eligible 
working parents with 18 weeks of Parental Leave Pay.    

23. Receivables
Current

Trade debtors               9,546             20,536 

Other debtors               2,481               3,514 

Allowance for impairment of receivables             (2,077)             (1,815)

Trade debtors – unbilled receivables             12,232             14,347 

GST receivable             31,090             24,114 

Accrued revenue                  329                  278 

Total current             53,601             60,974 

Non-current

Trade debtors                  115                  138 

Total non-current                  115                  138 

Total receivables             53,716             61,112 

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables:

Balance at start of year               1,815               2,110 

Doubtful debts expense                  292                      2 

Amounts written o�  during the year                  (30)                (236)

Impairment losses reversed during the period                    -                    (61)

Balance at end of year               2,077               1,815 

Main Roads does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for 
receivables.

24. Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)

2014
$000

2013
$000

Current  47,553  46,907 

Non-current  1,544,651  1,373,652 

 1,592,204  1,420,559 

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can 
only be used for asset replacement.    

25. Inventories

Current

Inventories held for distribution:

- Construction and maintenance materials               2,994               4,027 

Total current               2,994               4,027 

Non-current

Inventories held for distribution:

- Construction and maintenance materials               1,304               1,360 

Total non-current               1,304               1,360 

26. Prepayments

Current

Prepayments             29,515             15,847 

Total current             29,515             15,847 

Non-current

Prepayments               3,242               1,200 

Total non-current               3,242               1,200 
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27. Non-current assets classifi ed as held for sale

2014
$000

2013
$000

Freehold land and buildings

Opening balance               5,346               4,906 

Assets reclassifi ed as held for sale               9,613             10,826 

Assets removed from current disposal program             (3,785)             (1,912)

Assets sold           (10,037)             (8,200)

Write-down of assets from carrying value to fair value 
less selling costs

               (499)                (274)

Closing balance                  638               5,346 

Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 30.

Main Roads disposes freehold land and buildings where it is no longer required for road 
construction, outside the defi ned road planning requirement or no longer required for 
operational purposes.  If the freehold land and buildings are not required by Government, then 
they are sold at public auction or tender in the fi rst instance and thereafter by private treaty.  
Non-current assets classifi ed as held for sale are expected to settle within 12 months. 

28. Property, plant and equipment

Land

At fair value(a)           104,019           109,951 

          104,019           109,951 

Buildings

At fair value (a)           101,666             97,331 

Accumulated depreciation                  (56)                (232)

          101,610             97,099 

Buildings under construction

Construction costs               6,238               7,067 

              6,238               7,067 

Plant, equipment and vehicles

At cost             28,761             28,385 

Accumulated depreciation           (20,430)           (19,682)

              8,331               8,703 

Surplus assets

At fair value (a)             96,403             84,011 

            96,403             84,011 

Land acquired for roadworks 

At fair value (a)           213,094           175,260 

          213,094           175,260 

Total property, plant and equipment           529,695           482,091 

(a)  Land, buildings, surplus assets and land acquired for roadworks were revalued as at 1 July 
2013 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) in conjunction 
with estimations by Main Roads’ management. The valuations were performed during the year 
ended 30 June 2014 and recognised at 30 June 2014.

The estimations have been made in relation to the value of certain Metro and Rural properties 
where the values were not available at the end of the reporting period from information 
provided by Valuation Services for the period 1 July 2012 to 1 July 2013. These properties 
have been valued based on the average percentage increase for the Metro and Rural areas 
respectively over the period 1 July 2012 to 1 July 2013. The average percentage increases have 
been determined by calculating the movement in the value of Main Roads’ Metro and Rural 
properties where Valuation Services have provided a value. The e� ective date of the valuations 
is 1 July 2013. In undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market 
values of Freehold land $104.019 million (2012-13: $109.951 million) and Buildings $101.610 
million (2012-13: $97.099 million). 

To ensure the valuations provided by Valuation Services were compliant at 30 June 2014 with 
the fair value requirements under AASB 116, Valuation Services provided the Department of 
Treasury (TSY) with information that tracked the general movement of the market value of land 
and building construction costs from the 1 July 2013 (date of valuation) to 31 March 2014. TSY 
reviewed the information and determined that the change in fair values from 1 July 2013 (date 
of valuation) to 31 March 2014 were not likely to have a material impact on the fair values of 
these assets as recognised at 30 June 2014.

Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 30.
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Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out in the table below.

2014
Land
$000

Buildings
$000

Buildings 
under 

construction
$000

Plant, 
equipment 

and vehicles
$000

Surplus assets
$000

Land acquired 
for roadworks

$000
Total
$000

Carrying amount at start of year         109,951          97,099             7,067            8,703           84,011         175,260        482,091 

Additions             1,424                    -               8,427            2,692             5,552            3,320           21,415 

Disposals                    -                 (343)                    -                   (12)                    -                 (375)               (730)

Classifi ed as held for sale           (1,535)              (388)                    -                      -            (3,943)           (3,747)           (9,613)

Held for sale removed from disposal program                    -                      -                      -                      -               1,838             1,947             3,785 

Transfers                150             9,106          (9,256)                    -                      -                      -                      -   

Transfer (to) / from infrastructure               (378)                    -                      -                      -              4,948               930            5,500 

Equity contribution / (distribution)                571                    -                      -                  (21)              (480)            4,667             4,737 

Revaluation increments / (decrements)          (6,346)             1,582                    -                      -              2,204           11,622            9,062 

Assets not previously recognised                182                    -                      -                      -               2,273           19,470           21,925 

Depreciation                    -            (5,446)                    -             (3,031)                    -                      -             (8,477)

Carrying amount at end of year         104,019         101,610            6,238             8,331          96,403        213,094        529,695 

2013
Land
$000

Buildings
$000

Buildings 
under 

construction
$000

Plant, 
equipment 

and vehicles
$000

Surplus assets
$000

Land acquired 
for roadworks

$000
Total
$000

Carrying amount at start of year  108,529  101,754  1,729  9,796  95,060  192,295  509,163 

Additions  3,605  4,261  9,892  2,325  568  2,358  23,009 

Disposals  -    (9)  -    (361)  -    (362)  (732)

Classifi ed as held for sale  (380)  (608)  -    -    (7,456)  (2,382)  (10,826)

Held for sale removed from disposal program  303  -    -    -    493  1,116  1,912 

Transfers  (3,289)  -    (4,554)  -    -    (407)  (8,250)

Transfer (to) / from infrastructure  -    -    -    -    (887)  (1,198)  (2,085)

Revaluation increments / (decrements)  1,183  (2,569)  -    -    (3,767)  (16,160)  (21,313)

Depreciation  -    (5,730)  -    (3,057)  -    -    (8,787)

Carrying amount at end of year  109,951  97,099  7,067  8,703  84,011  175,260  482,091 
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29. Infrastructure
2014
$000

2013
$000

Roads and principal shared paths

Earthworks at fair value      12,881,443      12,867,661 

Accumulated depreciation      (3,087,162)      (3,081,181)

       9,794,281        9,786,480 

Pavement, drainage and seal at fair value        9,344,385        8,963,550 

Accumulated depreciation      (5,385,692)      (5,035,127)

       3,958,693        3,928,423 

Land under roads

At fair value      22,342,031      20,946,079 

     22,342,031      20,946,079 

Bridges

At fair value        5,200,774        4,857,698 

Accumulated depreciation      (1,472,589)      (1,356,003)

       3,728,185        3,501,695 

Road furniture

At fair value           420,085           454,939 

Accumulated depreciation         (161,375)         (166,562)

          258,710           288,377 

Infrastructure work in progress

At cost        1,124,546           712,410 

       1,124,546           712,410 

Total Infrastructure      41,206,446      39,163,464 

The value of roads and principal shared paths (earthworks, drainage, pavements and seals), 
bridges and road furniture at 30 June 2014 is based on the depreciated replacement cost 
determined at 30 June 2014 by Main Roads.  A comprehensive revaluation has been applied as 
at 30 June 2014 using construction unit rates obtained from professional quantity surveying 
fi rms which represent the fair value to replace the assets, and applying these against the units 
for each infrastructure category.

For principal shared paths, the value at 30 June 2014 has been determined by applying a cost 
index (ABS Road and Bridge Construction cost index) on the depreciated replacement cost to 
ensure the asset value does not materially di� er from fair value.

Land under roads was revalued at 30 June 2014 using 1 July 2013 values supplied by the 
Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services).

Infrastructure work in progress comprises capital project expenditure at cost, which is 
capitalised following the completion of projects.
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Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of infrastructure at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out in the table below.

2014

Roads and 
principal 

shared paths
$000

Land under 
roads
$000

Bridges
$000

Road furniture
$000

Work in 
progress

$000
Total
$000

Carrying amount at start of year  13,714,902   20,946,080     3,501,695     288,377         712,410   39,163,464 

Additions            390,387                  13,745         133,547        42,675         397,641         977,995 

Retirements           (16,990)                            -              (1,484)                    (152)               (132)         (18,758)

Transfer (to) / from land acquired for roadworks  -           (5,745)                    -                     -   245  (5,500)

Revaluation increments / (decrements)  (73,965)     1,391,699         131,436           (56,066)                    -       1,393,104 

Highways and main roads reclassifi ed as local roads           (99,400)  (3,677)            (5,118)                    -                      -         (108,195)

Local roads classifi ed as highways and main roads              58,242   109           16,414            407                   74           75,246 

Equity contribution / (distribution)  (38,986)         (180)             3,838   1,792           10,707         (22,829)

Assets not previously recognised      -   -                      -    -               3,601             3,601 

Depreciation    (181,216)      -           (52,143) (18,323)                    -         (251,682)

Carrying amount at end of year        13,752,974 22,342,031     3,728,185  258,710     1,124,546   41,206,446 

2013

Roads and 
principal 

shared paths
$000

Land under 
roads
$000

Bridges
$000

Road furniture
$000

Work in 
progress

$000
Total
$000

Carrying amount at start of year 12,805,810 21,748,698     3,369,885   244,197         733,641   38,902,231 

Additions    598,990   93,912           66,421       87,198         (24,842)         821,679 

Retirements     (33,624)             -                   (21)   (3,156)                 (89)         (36,890)

Transfer (to) / from land acquired for roadworks    -       2,085                    -          -                      -               2,085 

Revaluation increments / (decrements)    488,181 (898,620)           90,949      6,697                    -         (312,793)

Highways and main roads reclassifi ed as local roads        (1,074)  -                      -        -                      -              (1,074)

Local roads classifi ed as highways and main roads  34,874         5           23,986     2,045             2,627           63,537 

Equity contribution / (distribution)  2,508     -                      -           (31,455)             1,073         (27,874)

Depreciation     (180,763) -           (49,525)   (17,149)                    -         (247,437)

Carrying amount at end of year   13,714,902 20,946,080     3,501,695      288,377         712,410   39,163,464 

Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 30.
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30. Fair value measurements

Assets measured at fair 
value:

Level 1
$000

Level 2
$000

Level 3
$000

Fair value 
at end of 

period
$0002014

Non-current assets classifi ed 
as held for sale (Note 27)

   -   573    65 638 

Land (Note 28)         -   98,550 5,469 104,019 

Buildings (Note 28)                    -             87,159           14,451         101,610 

Surplus assets (Note 28)                    -   58,470           37,933 96,403 

Land acquired for roadworks  
(Note 28)

                   -   162,064 51,030 213,094 

Infrastructure (Note 29)                    -                      -     40,081,900   40,081,900 

                   -   406,816   40,190,848   40,597,664 

Fair value measurements using signifi cant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

Non-current asset 
held for sale Land Buildings Surplus assets

Land acquired for 
roadworks Infrastructure

2014 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Fair value at start of period                1,357                4,262             14,827             36,329             51,730      38,451,054 

Additions                      -                     571                      -                  3,234                8,673           669,421 

Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Profi t or Loss                      -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -   
Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income

                     -                       50                   243              (2,617)                4,447        1,393,103 

Transfers (from/(to) Level 2)              (1,292)                   719                      -                  1,020            (13,820)                      -   

Disposals                      -                   (133)                    (22)                      -                        -            (179,996)

Depreciation expense                      -                        -                   (597)                    (33)                      -            (251,682)

Fair value at end of period                     65                5,469             14,451             37,933             51,030      40,081,900 

Total gains or losses for the period included in profi t or loss, under ‘Other 
Gains’

                     -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -   

Change in unrealised gains or losses for the period included in profi t or 
loss for assets held at the end of the reporting period

                     -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -   

Valuation techniques to derive Level 2 fair values

Level 2 fair values of Non-current assets held for sale, Land, Buildings, Surplus assets and Land acquired for roadwords are derived using the market approach. Market evidence of sales prices of compa-
rable land and buildings in close proximity is used to determine price per square metre.

Non-current assets held for sale have been written down to fair value less costs to sell. Fair value has been determined by reference to market evidence of sales prices of comparable assets.
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Valuation processes

There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period.

Transfers in and out of a fair value level are recognised on the date of the event or 
change in circumstances that caused the transfer. Transfers are generally limited to 
assets newly classifi ed as non-current assets held for sale as Treasurer’s Instructions 
require valuations of land, buildings and infrastructure to be categorised within Level 3 
where the valuations will utilise signifi cant Level 3 inputs on a recurring basis.

Fair value for infrastructure assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing 
the remaining future economic benefi ts embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated 
replacement cost. Depreciated replacement cost is the current replacement cost of an 
asset less accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis of such cost to refl ect the 
already consumed or expired economic benefi t, or obsolescence, and optimisation 
(where applicable) of the asset. Current replacement cost is determined every three 
years by reference to the cost of a new asset and adjusted in the intervening years 
by reference to a cost index (ABS Road and Bridge Construction Cost Index or rates 
obtained by professional estimators specialising in road infrastructure works) to ensure 
asset values do not materially di� er from fair value.

Fair value of restricted use land is based on market value, by either using market 
evidence of sales of comparable land that is unrestricted less restoration costs to return 
the site to a vacant and marketable condition (low restricted use land) or, comparison 
with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted use land)

Signifi cant Level 3 inputs used by Main Roads are derived and evaluated as follows:

Selection of land with restricted utility
Fair value for restricted use land is determined by comparison with market evidence 
for land with low level utility.  Relevant comparators of land with low level utility are 
selected by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services)

Historical cost per square metre fl oor area (m2)
The cost of constructing specialised buildings with similar utility area extracted from 
fi nancial reports of Main Roads, then indexed by movements in CPI.

Consumed economic benefi t/obsolescence of asset
These are estimated by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation 
Services)

Historical cost per cubic metre (m3)
The fair value of road infrastructure comprising of earthworks, pavements (including 
drainage and seals), bridges and road furniture is calculated using construction unit rates 
determined by a professional quantity surveying fi rm and multiplying these by the units 
that form the infrastructure asset.

Historical cost per cubic metre (m3)
The fair value of road infrastructure comprising of principal shared paths and certain 
road furniture are extracted from fi nancial records of Main Roads and indexed by 
movements in the ABS Road and Bridge Construction cost index.

Selection of land adjoining road reserve
The fair value of road infrastructure comprising of land under roads is determined by 
comparison with the unimproved land values for land tax purposes maintained by the 
Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services).

Information about signifi cant unobservable inputs (Level 3) in fair value 
measurements.

Description 
and fair value 
as at 30 June 

2014

Valuation 
technique(s)

Unobservable 
inputs

Range of 
unobservable 

inputs 
(weighted 

average)

Relationship of 
unobservable 
inputs to fair 

value

Land, Surplus 
asset and Land 
acquired for 
roadworks

Market 
approach

Selection of 
land with similar 
approximate 
utility

$0.02 - 
$1089.22 per 
m2 ($5.06 per 

m2)

Higher value 
of similar land 
increases 
estimated fair 
value

Buildings Depreciated 
replacement 
cost

Historical cost 
per square 
metre fl oor area 
(m2)

$196 - $4,159 
per m2 ($2,047 

per m2)

Higher historical 
cost per m2 
increases fair 
value

Consumed 
economic 
benfi t/
obsolescence 
of asset

1.35% - 11.14% 
per year (5.18% 

per year)

Greater 
consumption 
of economic 
benefi t or 
increased 
obsolescence 
lowers fair value

Infrastructure 
(Earthworks)

Depreciated 
replacement 
cost

Historical cost 
per cubic metre 
(m3)

$20 - $49 per 
m3

Higher historical 
cost per m3 
increases fair 
value

Infrastructure 
(Pavements 
including 
drainage and 
seals)

Depreciated 
replacement 
cost

Historical cost 
per cubic metre 
(m3)

$52 - $401 per 
m3

Higher historical 
cost per m3 
increases fair 
value

Infrastructure 
(Structures)

Depreciated 
replacement 
cost

Historical cost 
per cubic metre 
(m3)

$3,660 - $8,452 
per m3

Higher historical 
cost per m3 
increases fair 
value

Infrastructure 
(Land under 
roads)

Market 
approach

Selection of 
land adjoining 
road reserve

$0.75 - $2,780 
per m2

Higher value 
of adjoining 
land increases 
estimated fair 
value

Reconciliations of the opening and closing balances are provided in Notes 28 and 29.
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Basis of Valuation

In the absence of market-based evidence, due to the specialised nature of some 
non-fi nancial assets, these assets are valued at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy on an 
existing use basis. The existing use basis recognises that restrictions or limitations have 
been placed on their use and disposal when they are not determined to be surplus 
to requirements. These restrictions are imposed by virtue of the assets being held to 
deliver a specifi c community service and Main Roads’ enabling legislation.

31. Intangible assets
2014
$000

2013
$000

Computer software and licences

At cost             24,783             21,440 

Accumulated amortisation             (6,718)             (5,073)

            18,065             16,367 

Drainage easements

At cost                      9                      9 

                     9                      9 

Total intangible assets             18,074             16,376 

Reconciliations:

Computer software and licences

Carrying amount at start of year             16,367               9,745 

Additions               3,352               8,355 

Disposals                    -                      -   

Transfers                    -                      -   

Amortisation expense             (1,654)             (1,733)

Carrying amount at end of year             18,065             16,367 

32. Impairment of assets
There were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment, 
infrastructure or intangible assets at 30 June 2014.

Main Roads held no goodwill during the reporting period.  At the end of the reporting 
period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use. 

33. Payables

2014
$000

2013
$000

Current

Trade creditors             18,111             13,631 

Major contracts and services           194,821           146,856 

Property acquisitions             57,821             57,268 

Contractors retention                  740               1,978 

Funds in advance             23,389               9,660 

Performance bonds / surety                    -                      29 

Accrued salaries               3,237               2,720 

Total current           298,119           232,142 

34. Borrowings

Current

WA Treasury Corporation borrowings               5,000               5,000 

Total current               5,000               5,000 

Non-current

WA Treasury Corporation borrowings               5,766             10,766 

Total non-current               5,766             10,766 
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35. Provisions

2014
$000

2013
$000

Current

Employee benefi ts provisions

Annual leave             13,393             13,947 

Long service leave             20,066             22,704 

            33,459             36,651 

Other provisions

Employment on-costs                  328                  211 

            33,787             36,862 

Non-current

Employee benefi ts provisions

Long service leave               4,108               4,215 

              4,108               4,215 

Other provisions

Employment on-costs                    40                    24 

              4,148               4,239 

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classifi ed as current as there is no unconditional 
right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 
Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as 
follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  9,101  9,025 

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period

 4,292 4,922 

 13,393  13,397 

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classifi ed as current where there is no 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is 
expected to occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  5,066  3,567 

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period

 19,108  23,352 

 24,174  26,919 

(c) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of 
employment on-costs including workers’ compensation insurance. The provision is the 
present value of expected future payments.

The associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (fi nance cost), is 
disclosed in note 7 ‘Supplies and services’. 

Movements in other provisions

Movements in each class of provisions during the fi nancial year, other than employee 
benefi ts, are set out below.    

2014
$000

2013
$000

Employment on-cost provision

Carrying amount at start of period                  235                  126 

Additional provisions recognised                  133                  109 

Payments/other sacrifi ces of economic benefi ts                    -                      -   

Unwinding of the discount                    -                      -   

Carrying amount at end of period                  368                  235 
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36. Equity
The Western Australian Government holds the equity interest in Main Roads on behalf 
of the community. Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of Main 
Roads. The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity resulting from the 
revaluation of non-current assets.

2014
$000

2013
$000

Contributed equity

Balance at start of period        3,303,418        3,122,196 

Contributions by owners

Capital contributions           443,592           200,348 

Other contributions by owners

Royalties for Regions Fund - Regional Infrastructure 
and Headwork Account

            29,328               9,155 

Royalties for Regions Fund - Regional Community 
Services Account

              1,375                    -   

Transfer of net assets from other agencies

Public Transport Authority               2,417               3,250 

Western Australian Planning Commission               6,237                  331 

Department of Regional Development and Lands                    -                    225 

Department of Lands                  778                    -   

Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority               4,470                  153 

Forest Products Commission                  570                    -   

Department of Parks & Wildlife               4,580                    -   

Department of Health             11,477                    -   

Total contributions by owners           504,824           213,462 

2014
$000

2013
$000

Distributions to owners

Transfer of net assets to other agencies

Public Transport Authority                    -             (31,962)

Department of Environment and Conservation                  (22)                (278)

Department of Parks & Wildlife             (1,170)                    -   

Department of Lands           (45,126)                    -   

Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority                (492)                    -   

Esperance Port Sea & Land             (1,811)                    -   

Total distributions to owners           (48,621)           (32,240)

Balance at end of period        3,759,621        3,303,418 

Reserves

Asset revaluation surplus

Balance at start of period      26,052,939      26,387,319 

Net revaluation increments/(decrements)

Earthworks, Drainage, Pavements and Seals           (73,965)           488,181 

Bridges           131,436             90,949 

Land under roads        1,391,699         (898,620)

Road Furniture           (56,066)               6,697 

Land and Buildings               8,563           (21,587)

Balance at end of period      27,454,606      26,052,939 

Accumulated surplus/(defi cit)

Balance at start of period      11,788,625      11,416,474 

Result for the period           256,603           372,151 

Income and expense recognised directly in equity                    -                      -   

Balance at end of period      12,045,228      11,788,625 

Total Equity at end of period      43,259,455      41,144,982 
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37. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the fi nancial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is 
reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

2014
$000

2013
$000

Cash and cash equivalents             95,393           196,112 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents             73,054             66,497 

          168,447           262,609 

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash fl ows provided by/(used in) operating 
activities

Net cost of services         (598,473)         (433,915)

Non-cash items:

Depreciation expense - infrastructure           251,682           247,437 

Depreciation and amortisation expense - other 
fi xed assets

              4,246               4,788 

Grants to other bodies           108,195               1,436 

Grants received from other bodies           (75,246)           (63,537)

Services received free of charge               1,814               1,375 

Infrastructure assets retired/replaced             19,456             36,890 

Assets not previously recognised           (25,526)                    -   

Adjustment for other non-cash items                    -                      -   

Net (gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and 
equipment

            (3,191)                (634)

(Increase)/decrease in assets:

Receivables (a)             14,486           (27,253)

Inventories               1,089             (3,861)

Prepayments           (15,710)               2,548 

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

Payables (a)             52,316               6,597 

Employee benefi ts             (3,166)               1,561 

Net GST receipts/(payments) (b)           134,160           128,701 

Change in GST in receivables/payables (c)         (141,136)         (129,906)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities         (275,004)         (227,773)

(a) Note that the Australian Taxation O�  ce (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the 
receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in 
these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.
(b) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions.
(c) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.

38. Services provided free of charge
During the year the following services were provided to other agencies free of charge 
for functions outside the normal operations of Main Roads:

2014
$000

2013
$000

Department of Transport - accomodation costs and 
provision of tra�  c modelling services

                     9                    29 

Police Department - tra�  c forecasts                      1                    -   

Department of Planning - provision of tra�  c modelling 
services

                     1                    15 

Public Transport Authority - provision of professional 
services

                   27                    11 

Department of Parks and Wildlife - design work review                    15                    -   

Services provided free of charge to other agencies                      2                    -   

                   55                    55 
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39. Commitments
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:

2014
$000

2013
$000

Within 1 year               4,498               4,624 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years               5,627               7,649 

Later than 5 years                    10                      4 

            10,135             12,277 

The commitments below are inclusive of GST.

Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to 
the amounts reported in the fi nancial statements, are payable as follows:

Within 1 year           500,629           366,292 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years           373,417             28,876 

Later than 5 years               2,702                    -   

          876,748           395,168 

Other expenditure commitments
Other expenditure commitments predominantly comprise maintenance commitments 
for road infrastructure assets contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not 
recognised as liabilities, are payable as follows:

Within 1 year           443,850           423,958 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years           112,238           524,416 

Later than 5 years                    -                      -   

          556,088           948,374 

 

40. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Contingent liabilities

The following contingent liabilities are additional to the liabilities included in the fi nancial 
statements:

2014
$000

2013
$000

Contract claims in dispute               8,639               2,095 

Resumption claims in dispute           246,992           268,249 

          255,631           270,344 

Contract claims in dispute
Claims have been submitted by contractors in relation to services provided under 
roadwork contracts.  The contingent liability is the di� erence between the amount 
of the claim and the liability estimated and recognised by Main Roads based on legal 
advice.

Resumption claims in dispute
Claims have been lodged by owners of property acquired for road construction 
purposes.  The contingent liability is the di� erence between the owner’s claim and the 
estimated settlement price determined and recognised by Main Roads in accordance 
with an independent valuation. 

Contaminated sites
Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, Main Roads is required to report known and 
suspected contaminated sites to the Department of Environment and Conservation 
(DEC). In accordance with the Act, DEC classifi es these sites on the basis of the risk to 
human health, the environment and environmental values. Where sites are classifi ed as 
contaminated – remediation required or possibly contaminated – investigation required, 
Main Roads may have a liability in respect of investigation or remediation expenses.

During the year, Main Roads reported eight suspected contaminated sites to DEC.  
Three were classifi ed as possibly contaminated - investigation required, one was 
classifi ed as contaminated - remediation required, three were sites a� ected from 
adjacent sites and one is awaiting classifi cation. Main Roads is unable to assess the likely 
outcome of the classifi cation process, and accordingly, it is not practicable to estimate 
the potential fi nancial e� ect or to identify the uncertainties relating to the amount or 
timing of any outfl ows. Whilst there is no possibility of reimbursement of any future 
expenses that may be incurred in the remediation of these sites, Main Roads may apply 
for funding from the Contaminated Sites Management Account to undertake further 
investigative work or to meet remediation costs that may be required.
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Contingent assets
The following contingent assets are additional to the assets included in the fi nancial 
statements:

2014
$000

2013
$000

Contract in dispute  2,219  1,400 

 2,219  1,400 

Contracts in dispute (dispute resolution in progress)
The amount shown relates to claims against various contractors for defi cient works, 
which are currently proceeding through dispute resolution processes. The potential 
fi nancial e� ect of the success of the claims is based on best estimates available.

41. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period
There were no events occurring after the end of the reporting period that have any 
fi nancial e� ect on the results reported on these fi nancial statements.

42. Explanatory statements
Signifi cant variations between estimates and actual results for 2014 and between the 
actual results for 2013 and 2014 are shown below. Signifi cant variations are considered 
to be those greater than 10% and $5 million. 

Signifi cant variances between estimated and actual result for 2014

2014
Estimate

$000

2014
Actual
$000

Variation
$000

Income

Regulatory fi nes 92,625 80,037 12,588 

Commonwealth grants and contributions 351,549 266,419 85,130 

Grants from other bodies 135,300 75,246 60,054 

Other revenue 24,627 40,674 (16,047)

Regulatory fi nes
The Regulatory Fines were lower than anticipated during 2013/14 due to over estimate 
of revenue.    Without any operational changes to the enforcement, the e� ectiveness of 
the Red light and Speed Cameras was higher than previously anticipated.

Commonwealth grants and contributions
The variation is due to a change in claiming methodology for Commonwealth funded 
projects not provided in the current year estimates.

Grants from other bodies
The delay is due to timing di� erences in the transfer of roads from private companies to 
Main Roads.

Other revenue
The variance is due to the recognition of notional revenue relating to assets not 
previously recognised in the Statement of Financial Position but not included in the 
current year estimates.

Signifi cant variances between actual result for 2013 and 2014

2014
$000

2013
$000

Variation
$000

Expenses

Grants and subsidies 311,161 222,850 88,311 

Non-current assets retired/replaced 19,456 36,890 (17,434)

Income

Commonwealth grants and contributions 266,419 351,494 (85,075)

Contributions to roadworks 77,020 95,014 (17,994)

Grants from other bodies 75,246 63,537 11,709 

Other revenue 40,674 13,028 27,646 

Grants and subsidies
The increase relates to deproclaimed roads transferred to Local Government having higher value 
compared with the previous year.  This includes Cervantes Road and Jurien Road transferred to 
Shire of Dandaragan and Dampier Highway transferred to Shire of Roebourne.

Non-current assets retired/replaced
The decrease is a result of greater levels of road reconstruction works in the previous year

Commonwealth grants and contributions
The variation is due to a change in claiming methodology for Commonwealth funded projects.

Contributions to roadworks
Large projects undertaken during the year on behalf of various local authorities include Carnarvon 
Flood Levees, Wallwork Road Bridge and Victoria Park Drive Upgrade. Variations in contributions 
align with the construction timelines of these major projects.   

Grants from other bodies
The variance is due to road infrastructure transfers to Main Roads during the year including North 
West Coast Highway Grade Separation from Rio Tinto, Marble Bar Road Realignment from Roy 
Hill Mining, Nanutarra-Munjina Realignment from Hamersley Iron and Heavy Vehicle Access 
Improvements on Nanutarra-Munjina Road from Fortesque Mining Group.

Other revenue
The variance is due to the recognition of notional revenue relating to assets not previously 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.
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43. Financial instruments
a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

Financial instruments held by Main Roads are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash 
and cash equivalents, loans and receivables, payables, and WATC borrowings. Main 
Roads has limited exposure to fi nancial risks. Main Roads’ overall risk management 
program focuses on managing the risks identifi ed below.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of Main Roads’ receivables defaulting on 
their contractual obligations resulting in fi nancial loss to Main Roads.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to 
each class of recognised fi nancial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets 
inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown in the table at note 43(c) ‘Financial 
instrument disclosures’ and note 23 ‘Receivables’.

Credit risk associated with Main Roads’ fi nancial assets is minimal because the main 
receivable is the amounts receivable for services (holding account). For receivables 
other than government, Main Roads trades only with recognised, creditworthy third 
parties. Main Roads has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services 
are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable 
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that Main Roads’ exposure 
to bad debts is minimal. At the end of the reporting period there were no signifi cant 
concentrations of credit risk.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when Main Roads is unable to meet its fi nancial obligations as they 
fall due.

Main Roads is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of 
business.

Main Roads has appropriate procedures to manage cash fl ows including drawdowns 
of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash fl ows to ensure that su�  cient funds are 
available to meet its commitments.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and 
interest rates will a� ect Main Roads’ income or the value of its holdings of fi nancial 
instruments. Main Roads does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially 
exposed to other price risks. Main Roads’ exposure to market risk for changes in interest 
rates relates primarily to the long-term debt obligations.

All borrowings are due to the Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC) and are 
repayable at fi xed rates with varying maturities. Other than as detailed in the interest rate 
sensitivity analysis table at note 43(c), Main Roads is not exposed to interest rate risk 
because the majority of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest 

bearing and it has no borrowings other than the WATC borrowings.

b) Categories of fi nancial instruments

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of fi nancial assets and fi nancial 
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are:

2014
$000

2013
$000

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents             95,393           196,122 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents             73,054             66,497 

Loans and receivables (a)        1,614,830        1,457,557 

Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost           308,885           247,908 

(a) The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory 
receivable).
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c) Financial instrument disclosures

Credit risk
The following table discloses Main Roads’ maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of fi nancial assets. Main Roads’ maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the 
reporting period is the carrying amount of fi nancial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of fi nancial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired fi nancial assets. 
The table is based on information provided to senior management of Main Roads.

Main Roads does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement relating to the fi nancial assets it holds. 

Ageing analysis of fi nancial assets

Past due but not impaired

Carrying 
Amount

Not past 
due and not 

impaired
Up to 1 
month

1-3
months

3 months
to 1 year 1-5 years

More than
5 years

Impaired 
fi nancial 

assets 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2014

Cash and cash equivalents         95,393         95,393                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  - 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents         73,054         73,054                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  - 

Receivables (a)         22,626         19,484              824                79              125                37                  -           2,077 

Amounts receivable for services    1,592,204    1,592,204                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  - 

   1,783,277    1,780,135              824                79              125                37                  -           2,077 

2013

Cash and cash equivalents       196,112       196,112                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  - 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents         66,497         66,497                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  - 

Receivables (a)         36,998         34,330           2,080                96              383                82                  -                27 

Amounts receivable for services    1,420,559    1,420,559                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  - 

   1,720,166    1,717,498           2,080                96              383                82                  -                27 

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure
The following table details Main Roads’ interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities. The maturity analysis section includes 
interest and principal cash fl ows.  The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.

Interest rate exposures and maturity analysis of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities

Interest rate exposure Maturity date

Weighted 
Average 

E� ective 
Interest 

Rate
Carrying 
Amount

Fixed 
interest 

rate

Variable 
interest 

rate

Non-
interest 
bearing

Nominal 
Amount

Up to 1 
month

1-3 
months

3 months 
to 1 year 1-5 years

More than 
5 years

% $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2014

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents -       95,393                 -                 -       95,393       95,393       95,393                 -                 -                 -                 - 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2.84       73,054                 -       73,054                 -       73,054       73,054                 -                 -                 -                 - 

Receivables(a) -       22,626                 -                 -       22,626       22,626       22,626                 -                 -                 -                 - 

Amounts receivable for services -  1,592,204                 -                 -  1,592,204  1,592,204         8,400         8,600       30,553     162,610  1,382,041 

 1,783,277                 -       73,054  1,710,223  1,783,277     199,473         8,600       30,553     162,610  1,382,041 

Financial Liabilities

Payables -     298,119                 -                 -     298,119     298,119     298,119                 -                 -                 -                 - 

WATC Loan 5.45       10,766       10,766                 -                 -       11,444         5,052                 -         1,274         5,118                 - 

    308,885       10,766                 -     298,119     309,563     303,171                 -         1,274         5,118                 - 

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Interest rate exposures and maturity analysis of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities

Interest rate exposure Maturity date

Weighted 
Average 

E� ective 
Interest 

Rate
Carrying 
Amount

Fixed 
interest 

rate

Variable 
interest 

rate

Non-
interest 
bearing

Nominal 
Amount

Up to 1 
month

1-3 
months

3 months 
to 1 year 1-5 years

More than 
5 years

% $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2013

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  -  196,112  -  -  196,112  196,112  196,112  -  -  -  - 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3.40  66,497  -  66,497  -  66,497  66,497  -  -  -  - 

Receivables (a) -  36,998  -  -  36,998  36,998  36,998  -  -  -  - 

Amounts receivable for services -  1,420,559  -  -  1,420,559  1,420,559  4,000  14,000  28,907  154,648  1,219,004 

 1,720,166  -  66,497  1,653,669  1,720,166  303,607  14,000  28,907  154,648  1,219,004 

Financial Liabilities

Payables -  232,142  -  -  232,142  232,142  232,142  -  -  -  - 

WATC Loan 5.39  15,766  15,766  -  -  17,079  5,045  -  2,453  9,581  - 

 247,908  15,766  -  232,142  249,221  237,187  -  2,453  9,581  - 

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of Main Roads’ 
fi nancial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the surplus for the 
period and equity for a 0.25% change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in 
interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.

-25 basis points +25 basis points

Carrying 
amount

Surplus Equity Surplus Equity

2014 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Financial Assets  

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents

73,054 (183) (183) 183 183 

Total Increase/(Decrease) (183) (183) 183 183 

-25 basis points +25 basis points

Carrying 
amount

Surplus Equity Surplus Equity

2013 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Financial Assets  

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents

66,497 (166) (166) 166 166 

Total Increase/(Decrease) (166) (166) 166 166 

Fair values
All fi nancial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, 
whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent 
a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.

44. Remuneration of members of the accountable authority 
and senior o�  cers
Remuneration of members of the accountable authority
The number of members of the accountable authority, whose total of fees, salaries, 
superannuation, non-monetary benefi ts and other benefi ts for the fi nancial year, fall 
within the following bands are:

$ 2014 2013

0 – 10,000 1 1 

 $000  $000 

Base remuneration and superannuation                    -                      -   

Annual leave and long service leave accruals                    -                      -   

Other benefi ts                    -                      -   

The total remuneration of members of the
accountable authority

                   -                      -   

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by Main Roads in 
respect of members of the accountable authority.    

The remuneration of the incumbent Commissioner of Main Roads is met by the 
Department of Transport.

Remuneration of senior o�  cers
The number of senior o�  cers, other than senior o�  cers reported as members of 
the accountable authority, whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary 
benefi ts and other benefi ts for the fi nancial year fall within the following bands are:

$ 2014 2013

80,001 – 90,000  -  1 

130,001 – 140,000  -  1 

160,001 – 170,000  1  - 

180,001 – 190,000  1  1 

190,001 – 200,000  -  1 

200,001 – 210,000  -  1 

210,001 – 220,000  4  3 

230,001 – 240,000  1  1 

350,001 – 360,000  -  1 

360,001 – 370,000  1  - 

 $000  $000 

Base remuneration and superannuation  1,882  2,020 

Annual leave and long service leave accruals  (139)  (32)

Other benefi ts  74  45 

The total remuneration of senior o�  cers  1,817  2,033 

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by Main Roads 
in respect of senior o�  cers other than senior o�  cers reported as members of the 
accountable authority.  Base remuneration includes accumulated leave and termination 
payments received by senior o�  cers.
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45. Remuneration of auditor
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the 
current fi nancial year is as follows:

2014 2013

Auditing the accounts, fi nancial statements and key 
performance indicators

                 190                  175 

Other audits                    25                    21 

                 215                  196 

46. A�  liated bodies
WA Pavement Asset Research Centre (WAPARC) is a government a�  liated body that 
received a grant of $0.422 million (2012-13: $0.533 million) from Main Roads. The 
WAPARC is not subject to operational control by Main Roads.

47. Special purpose accounts
Special Purpose Account(a)

Road Trauma Trust Account
In accordance with section 12 of the Road Safety Council Act 2002, the purpose of 
the Account is to receive and hold funds from parliamentary appropriations, all moneys 
from photographic based vehicle infringement (via Department of Transport and 
Department of the Attorney General) and any money lawfully received for the purpose 
of the Act.

2014 2013

Balance at the start of the fi nancial year  64,517  43,463 

Receipts  88,996  93,685 

Payments  (81,204)  (72,631)

Balance at the end of the fi nancial year  72,309  64,517 

(a) Established under section 16(1)(b) of FMA

48. Supplementary fi nancial information

2014
$000

2013
$000

Write-o� s

Bad debts – damage to roads, bridges and road 
furniture

                   30                  236 

Fixed asset stocktake discrepancies                    -                      -   

Damage to public property                  144                    -   

Inventory – stocktake discrepancies and obsolete/
contaminated materials

                   -                      21 

                 174                  257 

Gifts of public property

Gifts of public property provided by Main Roads                      4                      7 

                     4                      7 

Restricted Access Vehicle permits (a)

Regulatory fees               7,138               7,998 

Transfer payments               7,109               8,045 

Cash held in lieu of transfer                    38                      9 

(a) Main Roads collects the Restricted Access Vehicle permits fees in accordance with Road 
Tra�  c (Charges and Fees) Regulations 2006.  The receipts are paid into the Consolidated Fund 
and is subsequently appropriated to Main Roads.

49. Indian Ocean Territories
Main Roads provides road management services to Indian Ocean Territories under service 
delivery arrangements with the Shires of Christmas Island and Cocos (Keeling) Islands.  The 
amounts expended or set aside for expenditure during 2013-14 are summarised below:

2014
$000

2013
$000

Amount brought forward for recovery                  (30)                  (12)

Amount received during the year                  (37)                  (43)

                 (67)                  (55)

Expenditure during the year                    22                    25 

Amount carried forward for recovery                  (45)                  (30)
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50. Schedule of income and expenses by service

Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service for
2012-13 and 2013-14
(All amounts in $'000)

ROAD SAFETY
ROAD SYSTEM 
MANAGEMENT

ROAD EFFICIENCY 
IMPROVEMENTS

INFRASTRUCTURE 
FOR COMMUNITY 

ACCESS

ROAD NETWORK 
MAINTENANCE

INFRASTRUCTURE 
FOR STATE 

DEVELOPMENT

OFFICE OF ROAD 
SAFETY

Roadworks 
Capitalised/ 

Expenses not 
allocated to 

Outputs

 TOTAL 

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses 

Employee benefi ts expense 3,588 3,881 55,823 50,809 13,597 10,327 1,767 1,748 10,581 10,627 6,101 6,863 2,411 2,318 (24,474) (21,959) 69,394 64,614

Supplies and services 136,004 131,806 57,769 52,896 459,491 363,378 49,098 47,392 434,288 386,786 295,704 272,747 3,058 10,430 (938,618) (791,889) 496,794 473,546

Depreciation of infrastructure assets - - - - - - - - 251,682 247,437 - - - - - - 251,682 247,437

Depreciation and amortisation of other non-current assets 267 492 335 381 1,353 1,313 137 171 1,383 1,559 771 872 - - - - 4,246 4,788

Finance costs 39 92 49 72 197 247 20 32 201 293 112 164 - - - - 618 900

Grants and subsidies (58,427) 24,277 9,354 4,142 109,180 53,365 5,964 6,479 179,981 107,456 7,309 5,595 72,461 29,666 (14,661) (8,130) 311,161 222,850

Infrastructure assets retired / replaced - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 19,456 36,890 19,456 36,890

Total cost of services 81,471 160,269 123,330 108,300 583,818 428,630 56,986 55,822 878,116 754,158 309,997 286,241 77,930 42,414 (958,297) (785,088) 1,153,351 1,051,025

Income

Revenue

Regulatory fi nes - - - - - - - - - - - - 80,037 84,725 - - 80,037 84,725

Sale of goods and services 5 - 2,375 1,101 67 1,090 35 28 7,315 3,640 57 42 - - - - 9,854 5,901

Commonwealth grants and contributions 12,831 11,530 1,723 2,459 201,733 152,470 - 6,500 40,248 61,883 9,884 116,652 - - - - 266,419 351,494

Contributions to roadworks 1,187 70 (737) 2,497 7,089 25,552 34,285 31,547 31,825 16,938 3,371 18,410 - - - - 77,020 95,014

Grants from other bodies 3,014 5,678 4,563 3,837 21,601 15,185 2,108 1,978 32,490 26,718 11,470 10,141 - - - - 75,246 63,537

Interest revenue 2 223 4 151 17 596 2 78 25 1,051 9 399 2,378 - - - 2,437 2,498

Other revenue 1,393 1,164 2,110 787 9,990 3,114 975 405 15,027 5,479 5,305 2,079 5,874 - - - 40,674 13,028

Total revenue 18,432 18,665 10,038 10,832 240,497 198,007 37,405 40,536 126,930 115,709 30,096 147,723 88,289 84,725               -               - 551,687 616,197

Gains

Gain on disposal of non-current assets 128 57 193 39 915 147 89 20 1,380 269 486 102 - - - - 3,191 634

Gain on disposal of other assets

Other Gains

Total gains 128 57 193 39 915 147 89 20 1,380 269 486 102               -               -               -               - 3,191 634

Total income other than income from State Government 18,560 18,722 10,231 10,871 241,412 198,154 37,494 40,556 128,310 115,978 30,582 147,825 88,289 84,725               -               - 554,878 616,831

NET COST OF SERVICES 62,911 141,547 113,099 97,429 342,406 230,476 19,492 15,266 749,806 638,180 279,415 138,416 (10,359) (42,311) (958,297) (785,088) 598,473 434,194

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Service appropriation 50,409 53,668 123,993 98,678 47,509 126,008 4,394 11,677 549,598 418,502 40,372 3,138 - 1,308 - - 816,275 712,979

Natural disaster funds - - - - - - - - 35,577 90,584 - - - - - - 35,577 90,584

Royalties for Region - - 1,410 1,052 - 355 - - - - - - - - - - 1,410 1,407

Capital contribution 60,298 28,494 1,593 541 219,076 80,646 11,735 6,327 6,250 4,335 144,489 60,878 - - (443,441) (181,221)               -               - 

Resources received free of charge 73 124 110 83 521 329 51 43 782 577 277 219 - - - - 1,814 1,375

Total income from State Government 110,780 82,286 127,106 100,354 267,106 207,338 16,180 18,047 592,207 513,998 185,138 64,235               - 1,308 (443,441) (181,221) 855,076 806,345

SURPLUS/DEFICIT FOR THE PERIOD 47,869 (59,261) 14,007 2,925 (75,300) (23,138) (3,312) 2,781 (157,599) (124,182) (94,277) (74,181) 10,359 43,619 514,856 603,867 256,603 372,151
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Appendices

Kwinana Freeway
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Road Industry Fact Summary Sheet

Road Industry Fact Summary WA Australia WA (%)

Area (square km) 2 529 875 7 692 024 32.9

Population 2 517 165 23 130 931 10.9

Licensed drivers and riders1 1 705 859 N/A

Vehicles on register including motor 
cycles 2 048 388 17 180 596 11.9

Annual vehicle kilometres travelled (100 
million VKT)2 281.5 2 360.8 11.8

Road length excluding DPaW roads 
(kilometres) 150 639 N/A

Fatalities (for calendar year 2013) 162 1 194 13.6

Fatalities/100 million VKT 0.6 0.5

Fatalities /100 000 persons 6.4 5.2

Fatalities/10 000 vehicles 0.8 0.7

Serious injuries (for calendar year 2013) 2 344 N/A

Serious injuries/100 million VKT 8.3 N/A

Serious injuries /100 000 persons 93.1 N/A

Serious injuries/10 000 vehicles 11.4 N/A

1 : Active licences only        2 : Main Roads Estimates        N/A : Not available        DPaW : 
Department of Park and Wildlife

Sources  
Area ABS 2012 Year Book Australia (Cat. No. 1301.0)
Population ABS Australian Demographic Statistics  (Cat. No. 3101.0 June 2013
Licensed Drivers Drivers and Vehicle Services, Department of Transport - 30 June 

2013
Vehicles on Register ABS Motor Vehicle Census (Cat. No. 9309.0) - 31 January 2013
Road Length Main Roads Corporate System (IRIS) - 30 June 2014
Fatalities Main Roads Crash System and BITRE Road Deaths Australia - 31 

December 2013
Serious Injuries Main Roads Crash System - 31 December 2013

Road Classifi cation (as at June 
2014)

Sealed (km) Unsealed 
(km)

Total (km) Sealed (%)

National Land Transport Routes 5 111 0 5 111 100

Highways 5 736 137 5 873 98

Main Roads 6 773 844 7 617 89

Sub-Total 17 620 981 18 601 95

Local Roads regularly maintained 38 020 90 262 128 282 30

Local Roads not regularly 
maintained 58 2 480 2 538 2

Sub-Total 38 078 92 742 130 820 29

Roads managed by DPaW 358 36 503 36 861 1

Privately maintained Roads 97 1 121 1 218 8

Sub-Total 455 37 624 38 079 1

Total WA Road Network 56 153 131 347 187 500 30

Corporate and Local Extracts as at 20 June 2014 from Main Roads Corporate 
System (IRIS)
Department of Park and Wildlife

Note: Local road lengths are reported information received from Local Governments. 
Local roads with cross section type “unconstructed” have been excluded.
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Land Acquired for Environmental O� sets

Project Name Street 
Address

Suburb Status Date 
Finalised

Acquisition 
Area (Ha)

Agreed Price

Environmental 
O� set Lands
 
 

Loppolo Chittering Funded 06/11/2013 982.9 1,250,000

Lowlands Mardella Funded 18/11/2013 1,326 10,804,000

Riverdale Cookernup Funded 08/04/2014 98.3 440,000

Totals 2,407 12,494,000

Great Northern 
Hwy - Bindi 
Bindi to Lyons 
East Road

GREAT 
NORTHERN

Bindi Bindi Acquired 02/12/2013 5.3 11,500

Totals 5.35 11,500

Great Southern 
Hwy - Highbury
 
 
 
 
 

GREAT 
SOUTHERN

Narrogin Acquired 28/04/2014 1 3,194

GREAT 
SOUTHERN

Narrogin Acquired 28/04/2014 3.2 10,306

GREAT 
SOUTHERN

Narrogin Acquired 19/05/2014 1.1 3,857

GREAT 
SOUTHERN

Narrogin Acquired 19/05/2014 2.5 8,990

GREAT 
SOUTHERN

Narrogin Acquired 19/05/2014 1.4 5,153

GREAT 
SOUTHERN

Narrogin Acquired 02/05/2014 1.7 4,750

Totals 11 36,250

Total land acquired for environmental o� sets 2,423.6 12,541,750

Statement of Expenditure Section 175Ze of the                   
Electoral Act 1907
In accordance with Section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, Main Roads Western Australia 
incurred $2,450,400 during 2013-14 in advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and 
media advertising.  Expenditure was incurred in the following areas:

Advertising Agencies $

21cc Broadcast Productions 7,100.00

303 Lowe Group Pty Ltd 128,900.00

Adcorp Australia 167,400.00

Albany Chamber Of Comm 6,800.00

A-Team Printing 5,100.00

Austel Australia Pty Ltd 200.00

City Of Busselton 200.00

Colourbox Digital 2,200.00

Curtin University 1,000.00

Daniels Printing Craftsmen 5,800.00

Expo Document 400.00

GP Wholesale 1,800.00

Imagesource 4,900.00

Imatec Digital 200.00

Linkletters 5,600.00

Marketforce 16,000.00

Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority 67,300.00

Mitchell and Partners Australia Pty Ltd 133,700.00

Optimum Media Decisions (WA) Limited 1,787,000.00

Picasso Print And Design 1,700.00

Premiere Events 4,300.00

Quality Press WA 3,300.00

Shire Of Collie 300.00

Southern Cross Austereo 6,300.00

State Law Publisher 3,600.00

The Longtail Communications Company 24,600.00

The Royal Agricultural 3,100.00

Utilibiz 3,400.00

Advertising Agencies Total 2,392,200.00
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Statement of Expenditure Section 175Ze of the                   
Electoral Act 1907 (Cont.)

Market Research Organisations Nil

Polling Organisations Nil

Direct Mail Organisations $

Lasermail Pty Ltd 4,600.00

Direct Mail Organisations Total 4,600.00

Media Advertising Organisations

Albany Advertiser 100.00

Angry Chicken Publishing Pty Ltd 7,200.00

Hits Radio Pty Ltd 300.00

Impact Communications 8,600.00

Kalgoorlie Boulder Racing Club 1,500.00

Media Highway 300.00

Rural Press Regional Media (WA) Pty Ltd 1,400.00

Southern Cross Austereo 26,500.00

The West Australian 7,700.00

Media Advertising Organisations Total 53,600.00

Board and Committee Remuneration

Position Period of Membership Gross/Actual remuneration

Chairman, Road Safety Council 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2014 $60,938

Local Government 
Representative

1 July 2013 to 30 June 2014 $1,670

Publications List as at June 2014

*Annual Report Free

*Customer Service Charter 2011 Free

Distance Book ed. 13 ( Electronic version free) POA

*Engineering Road Notes

*No. 1 Bitumen Absorption by Sealing Aggregate 2003 Free

*No. 3 Surface “Blistering” and Soil “Flu�  ng” 2003 Free

*No 6  Guide to the Design of Bridge Approach Embankments Subject to Inundation - 
2003

Free

*No. 7 Bitumen Scrap Rubber Seals 2003 Free

*No. 8 Statistically Based Quality Control for Density in Road Construction. (Includes 
Asphalt Surfacing) 2008

Free

*No. 9 Procedure for the Design of Road Pavements 2013 Free

*A Guide to Roadside Amenities and Rest Areas on Highways in Western Australia 2009 Free

*Guidelines for Assessing Level of Service for Cycling. Revised 2006 Free

*Public Environment Reports 2003-2008 Free

*Sharing the Road with Trucks: A Guide to Assist all Road Users to Drive Safely 2012 Free

*Tra�  c Controllers Handbook. 6th edition 2010 Free

*Tra�  c Management for Events 2011 Free

*Tra�  c Management for Works on Roads - Code of Practice 2013 Free

*Utility Providers’ Code of Practice for Western Australia 2010 Free

Vital Link: A History of Main Roads Western Australia 1926-1996, by Leigh Edmonds POA

Vital Link: The Transition Years of Main Roads Western Australia 1996-2006, by Leigh 
Edmonds

Free

*Available full text on Main Roads internet home page
http://www.mainroads.wa.gov.au
All prices GST inclusive.
Note: Main Roads Standards and Specifi cations are also available as full text on Main Roads 
internet home page.
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Aboriginal 59, 70, 

Advisory Groups 66 

Auditor General 48, 85, 87, 88, 92-94, 141 

Bicycle 44-46

Biodiversity 18, 59

Black Spot 12, 28, 30, 97, 98, 120

Bridges 12, 34, 35, 39, 51, 54, 61, 62, 97, 99, 100, 111 

Bunbury Port Access 34, 56, 100

Canning Highway 11, 36, 55

Capital Works 16, 87, 90

Carbon Reduction 18, 60

Climate change 18, 60

Community Access 13, 27, 39, 44, 83, 95, 97, 102 

Complaints Handling 65, 88

Compliance 2, 3, 53, 54, 59, 60, 79, 85, 87, 88, 91, 92, 114

Confl icts of Interest 84, 85

Congestion 5, 10, 16, 17, 19, 20-25, 31, 35, 36, 55, 64-67, 100 

Contractors 22, 59, 74-76, 86, 118, 122, 130, 134

Corporate Business Plan 79, 81, 83, 84

Corporate Development 72, 80, 81

Corporate Executive 27, 70, 79, 80, 84, 85, 87, 88, 90, 95

Corporate Governance 2, 25, 78, 79, 81

Corruption Prevention 84

Customer Feedback 43, 65, 81

Customer Information Centre (CIC) 64, 149

Customer Service 7, 23, 25, 63, 65, 66, 96

Cycleway 13, 44, 96, 97, 102

Delegation of Authority 79

Department of Transport 20, 45, 50, 59, 69, 71, 133, 140, 146

Developing Capabilities 15, 68-72, 86

Development Employee 70, 71, 81, 88

Disability Advisory Group 66 

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) 66, Acronyms

Diversity 15, 69, 70, 86

Enhancing Relationships 7, 63-67

Environmental Management 22, 58-62, 84

Equal Employment Opportunity 69, 86

Equity 20, 83, 84, 86, 92, 106-109, 125-132, 140

Esperance Port Access 4, 21, 38, 39

Fatal Crash Investigations 52

Freedom of Information 90

Freight 4, 7, 16, 20-23, 33-35, 38, 39, 53-56, 99

Fuel Usage 60

Gateway WA 20, 22, 33, 35, 61, 70, 77

Gas Usage 58

Gascoyne 6, 15, 21, 23, 29, 33, 42, 45, 98, 99, 101, 102, 149

Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) 2, 81

Goldfi elds-Esperance 6, 29, 42, 49, 102, 149

Grain Freight 34

Great Eastern Highway 22, 30, 33, 83, 149

Great Northern Highway 30, 34, 38, 40, 45

Great Southern 6, 15, 29, 33, 41, 147, 149

Heavy Vehicle 12, 33, 34, 40, 45, 52-54, 69, 97, 100, 120, 136, 149

Incident Management 53, 64

Injury Management 74, 76

Innovation 19, 21, 22, 25, 30, 55, 68, 71, 77, 81

Integrated Management System 81, 84

Integrated Services Arrangements (ISA) 42

Index
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Intelligent Transport Systems (ITS) 19, 40, 52

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 12, 74, 88, 91-94, 141

Kimberley 6, 15, 42, 45, 149

Kwinana Freeway 11, 31, 36, 38, 46, 55, 56

Legislation 48, 50, 53, 54, 60, 79, 87, 130

Local Government 6, 16, 48, 66, 82, 99, 111, 119, 120, 135, 146

Lost Time Injury (LTI) 73, 75

Maintenance 13, 24, 27, 41-43, 46, 54, 56, 60, 64, 66, 83, 86, 
95-97, 101, 102, 118, 123, 134, 142

Metropolitan 5, 6, 10, 16, 20, 25, 29, 33, 36, 38, 42, 46, 49, 52, 
55, 70, 72, 96, 111, 147, 149

Mid-West 6, 15, 23, 29, 33, 42, 45, 49, 149

Ministerial Directives 79

Mitchell Freeway 11, 29, 38, 55, 71, 83

MMIS 41

Northbridge Tunnel 11, 52-55

NorthLink 4, 20, 33, 55, 61

O�  ce of Road Safety (ORS) 12, 24, 27, 30, 47-50, 79, 80, 95, 97-99, 110, 120, 
140

Organisational Structure 78, 79

Over-Size, Over-Mass (OSOM) 53

Pedestrian 11, 13, 39, 44-46, 48, 55, 64, 66, 96, 97, 102

Pilbara 6, 15, 30, 34, 36, 38, 42, 49

Point Lewis Roundabout 4, 11, 22, 31

Principal Shared Paths (PSP) 56, 46, 110, 126, 127

Procurement 24, 81, 84-86

Public Sector Standards 87

Record Keeping 89

Reid Highway 29, 34, 55

Restricted Access Vehicle System (RAVS) 53, 56, Acronyms

Right Move Perth 5, 20, 65, 67

Risk Management 78, 83-85, 87, 90, 136

Road E�  ciency 12, 27, 32-34, 39, 95, 97, 100, 140

Road Industry Fact Summary 146

Road Management 27, 43, 51-56, 71, 96, 142

Road Safety 12, 24, 27-31, 48, 51, 64, 84, 95-99, 140

ROADS Foundation 70, 86

Road Train Assembly Area (RTAA) 35, 56

Roe Highway 11, 33, 38, 56, 83

Safety, Health and Wellbeing (SHW) 72-77, 80, 82, 84

South West 6, 15, 30, 34, 38, 42, 49, 98, 111, 149

Stakeholders 2, 7, 19, 24, 31, 55, 57, 63-66, 71, 75, 79, 83, 84, 88, 96

State Development 13, 27, 37-39, 95, 97, 100, 140

Strategic Plan (2020) 19. 66, 69-71, 79, 81, 83, 84, 88, 89

Sustainability 2, 7, 19, 21, 59, 61, 70, 73, 79, 81, 82, 85, 89

Tonkin Highway 22, 33, 34, 55

Towards Zero 17, 47, 48, 53

Tra�  c Congestion Management Program 
(TCMP)

5, 10, 17, 23, 36, 66

Tra�  c Management 25, 31, 52, 53, 63, 66

TRIM 89

Women 68, 69, 86

Wheatbelt North 6, 15, 23, 30, 34, 101, 149

Wheatbelt South 6, 15, 30, 64, 102, 149

Workers’ Compensation 76, 114, 131

WorkSafe 54, 75, 82

Index (Cont.)
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Word Defi nition 

Audible Edge Lines Low bumps, buttons, bars, grooves or strips closely spaced across 
or immediately adjacent to a street or path that draw attention 
to a feature or hazard, and can have a vibratory and/or audible 
e� ect when travelled over. They are often used as supplementary 
treatments, as part of a suite of risk reduction measures, e.g. in 
combination with warning and regulatory signs, entry statements, 
shared zones and other LATM treatments. 

Bypass An alternative route that enables through-tra�  c to avoid urban 
areas.

Carriageway The portion of a road or bridge devoted particularly to the use of 
vehicles, inclusive of shoulders and auxiliary lanes.

Community Engagement Involving communities in the prioritisation and development of 
services in their own area. Community Engagement includes 
Community Consultation, but also goes beyond this, to include the 
more active processes in which communities play a greater role in 
actually formulating plans or infl uencing local developments.

Corporate Governance The way Main Roads balances compliance against risk-taking 
as it directs, controls and is held accountable for its business 
performance.

Culvert One or more adjacent pipes or enclosed channels for conveying a 
stream below formation level and carrying water under a roadway.

Development Employee Any graduate, associate, cadet, trainee and scholarship student is 
considered to be a development employee. 

Drainage The removal of water by fl ow from the ground or from its surface.

Floodway A longitudinal section or road designed at, or just above, ground 
level specially constructed to allow the passage of fl oodwater 
across it without damage.

Freeway A divided highway for through-tra�  c with no access for 
tra�  c between interchanges and with grade separation at all 
intersections.

Global Reporting Initiative Global Reporting Strategy

Highway Highways provide connection between capital cities. They are also 
principal routes between a city and the major producing regions 
of the State. Highways also service major transport terminals or 
signifi cant commercial and industrial centres.

Individual Development 
Plan

Supports the ongoing learning and development of employees and 
provides a framework for performance management.

Integrated Service 
Agreement

The new form of contract in which Main Roads will be working 
alongside the contractor for road maintenance and rehabilitation. 

Main Road A principal road in the road system.

Maintenance The work carried out on an existing road and infrastructure to 
maintain its e�  ciency or quality.

Overlay The addition of one or more courses of pavement material to an 
existing road surface, generally to increase strength, and/or to 
improve ride quality.

Overtaking/Passing Lane An auxiliary lane provided for slower vehicles to allow them to be 
overtaken.

Pavement That portion of a carriageway placed above the levelled surface or 
earth or rock for the support of, and to form a running surface for, 
vehicular tra�  c.

Performance Indicator A simple measure that allows objective comparisons to be made. 
An example is road maintenance costs per kilometre in a region. 
This can then be compared to other regions and monitored over 
time.

Principal Shared Paths Paths covering access all throughout the network for use by 
pedestrians and cyclists. 

Realignment A change in the geometric form of the original centre-line of a 
carriageway with respect to the vertical and horizontal axes.

Reconstruction Rebuilding of a road. Reconstruction is normally undertaken when 
a pavement has reached the end of its economic life and where 
the alignment, or formation height, or width is substandard.

Seal A thin surface layer of sprayed bitumen.

Stakeholder A person or group of people with a direct interest, involvement, or 
investment in something.

Strategy This is how a broad objective will be approached. An example is 
Main Roads’ contracting strategy. It specifi es the mix of contract 
types that will deliver the best outcome for the community.

Sustainability The long-term balance of social, environmental and economic 
factors into an organisation’s activities, decision-making and 
investment processes.

Variable Message Signs Displays information messages to alert drivers of on-road 
incidences on the road ahead. They are also used to warn road 
users about weather conditions and other important information. 

Glossary
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BCR Benefi t Cost Ratio

CCTV Closed Circuit Television Cameras

CIC Customer Information Centre

CoR Chain of Responsibility

CPS Community Perception Survey

CWG Community Working Group

DAIP Disability Access and Inclusion Plan

EV Electric Vehicle

FTE Full-Time Equivalent

GEH Great Eastern Highway

GRI Global Reporting Initiative

HVS Heavy Vehicle Services

IPA Individual Performance Agreement

IRIS Integrated Road Inventory System

IRS Incident Response Service

IS Infrastructure Sustainability

ISA Integrated Services Arrangements

ITS Intelligent Transport System

KPIs Key Performance Indicators

LTI/D Lost Time Injury/Disease

MMIS Maintenance Management Information System

NFP Not for Profi t

NHVR National Heavy Vehicle Regulator

ORS O�  ce of Road Safety

OSH Occupational Safety and Health

OSOM Over-Size, Over-Mass

PSP Principal Shared Path

RACWA Royal Automobile Club of Western Australia

RAVS Restricted Access Vehicle System

RKP Record Keeping Plan

RSC Road Safety Council

RTAA Road Train Assembly Area

RTOs Registered Training Organisations

RTTA Road Trauma Trust Account

SHW Safety, Health and Wellbeing

TCIC Tra�  c Control Infrastructure Control

TCMP Tra�  c Congestion Management Program

TOC Tra�  c Operations Centre

UWA University of Western Australia

WA Western Australia

WABN Western Australian Bicycle Network

WiM Women in Management

Acronyms
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Metropolitan O�  ces: 

Head O�  ce and The O�  ce of Road Safety (ORS)
Don Aitken Centre, Waterloo Crescent, 
East Perth, WA 6004
PO Box 6202, East Perth, WA 6892
enquiries@mainroads.wa.gov.au

24 hr Public A� airs/Media
Enquiries: 0419 907 230

Materials Engineering
5-9 Colin Jamieson Drive, Welshpool, 6106
(08) 9350 1444

Heavy Vehicle Services
(Extra Mass or Oversize Loads)
525 Great Eastern Highway, Redcliff e, WA 6104
hvo@mainroads.wa.gov.au
HVS Helpdesk:  138486

Report Road Hazards
(24 hr free call except from mobile phones)
1800 800 009

Road Condition Reports
(24 hr free call except from mobile phones)
1800 013 314

Regional O�  ces: 

Goldfi elds-Esperance
83 Piesse Street, Boulder, 6432
(08) 9080 1400

Great Southern
2-6 Kelly Street, Albany, 6331
(08) 9892 0555

Kimberley
Wodehouse Street, Derby, 6728
(08) 9158 4333

Mid West- Gascoyne
Geraldton O�  ce
Eastward Road, Geraldton, 6531
(08) 9956 1200

Carnarvon O�  ce
470 Robinson Street, Carnarvon, 6701
(08) 9941 0777

Pilbara
Brand Street, South Hedland, 6722
(08) 9172 8877

South West
Robertson Drive, Bunbury, 6231
(08) 9724 5600

Wheatbelt 
Northam O�  ce
Peel Terrace, Northam, 6401
(08) 9622 4777

Narrogin O�  ce
Mokine Road, Narrogin, 6312
(08) 9881 0566

24 hr Customer Information Centre: 
138 138

Heavy Vehicles Operations Helpdesk: 
138 486

Website: www.mainroads.wa.gov.au

Hearing Impaired TTY: 133 677

Contact
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Don Aitken Centre, Waterloo Crescent,
East Perth, WA 6004
PO Box 6202, East Perth, WA 6892
enquiries@mainroads.wa.gov.au

24 hr Customer Information Centre:

138 138

Hearing Impaired TTY:

133 677

www.mainroads.wa.gov.au
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